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CONVENING ORDER



GENERAL COURT-MARTIAL 

AMENDMENT 1 
CONVENING ORDER NO. 01-21 

) 
) 
) 
) 
) 

COMMANDER 
COAST GUARD THIRTEENTH DISTRICT 
SEATTLE, WA 

DATE: 21 October 2021 

COMMANDER 
COAST GUARD THIRTEENTH DISTRICT 

I. The General Court-Martial convened by General Court-Martial Convening Order no. 01-
21 dated 17 June 2021 is hereby amended for the case of United States v. MK3 Mark J. 
Grijalva, USCG, only, and will be convened in Seattle, Washington. 

2. The following members detailed to General Court-Martial convened by order no. 01-21, 
dated 17 June 2021, are hereby relieved: 

CDR 
LCDR 
LTJG
BOSN2
LT 
YNC 
MSTCM
LT 
BOSN
LCDR
BOSN4
LT
LT 
MSTl
BMl
MKC
CSC

3. The following are hereby detailed as primary members of General Court-Martial convened 
by General Court-Martial Convening Order no. 01-21: 

CDR 
LCDR
MLES2
LCDR
CDR
EMl
BM2
YN2
SKI
ETC



MK2
OSC
GM 1
LT
LT
WEPS2 
LT
CDR
P A2 
OS 1

4. Should any officer in paragraph three (3) be properly excused prior to 
impanelment, that member will be replaced with an officer listed below, in the 
order listed: 

LT
LT
LCDR 
LT 
LT 
LCDR
LT 
ENG3 
LT 

5. Should any enlisted members in paragraph three (3) be properly excused prior to 
impanelrnent, that member will be replaced with an enlisted member below, in the 
order listed: 

SKC
MECS 
YNCM 
HS 1
YNl
MSTC
ETl
YNl
MEI 
GMC
CS 1
DCC
MSTI 
MK.CM 
CS 1
YNl
MK.I 
AMTC
SKI



ETl 
MST I
AMTC
EMI 
BM I 

6. After impanelment, if excess primary members remain, the military judge shall impanel up 
to one (1) primary member as an alternate pursuant to RCM 9 I 2A(a)(4). 

Melvin \. . Bouboulis 
Rear Admiral, U. S. Coast Guard 

Commander 
Coast Guard Thirteenth District 



CHARGE SHEET



CHARGE SHEET 

I. PERSONAL DATA 
1. NAME OF ACCUSED (Last, First, Ml) 2. EMPLID 3. GRADE OR RANK I 4. PAY GRADE 

Grijalva, Mark J. MK3 E-4 
5. UNIT OR ORGANIZATION 6. CURRENT SERVICE 

BASE SEATTLE a. INITIAL DATE I b. TERM 
26 Sept 2016 6 years 

7. PAY PER MONTH 8. NATURE OF RESTRAINT OF ACCUSED 9. DATE(S) IMPOSED 
a. BASIC b. SENFOREIGN DUTY c. TOTAL 

None N/A 
$2,713.50 $0.00 $2,713.50 

II. CHARGES AND SPECIFICATIONS 
10. 

See Continuation Sheet 

Ill. PREFERRAL 
11a. NA~/IF ACCUSER (Last, First, Middle Initial) I b. 

GRADE I C. ORGANIZATION OF ACCUSER 

LCDR USCG District Thirteen 
d I e. DATE (YYYYMMOD) 

20210716 

AFFIDA IT: Before me, the undersigned, authorized by law to administer oaths in cases of this character, personally appeared the above 
named accuser this sixteenth day of July 2021 , and signed the foregoing charges and specifications under oath that he is a person subject 
to the Uniform Code of Military Justice and that he either has personal knowledge of or has investigated the matters set forth therein and 
that the same are true to the best of his knowledge and belief. 

Katie E. Smith USCG District Thirteen 

Lieutenant Commander Commissioned Officer 
Official Capacity to Administer Oaths 

(See R.C.M. 307/b)- must be commissioned officer) 

DD FORM 458, MAY 2000 PREVIOUS EDITION IS OBSOLETE. 



12. 

On 16 July , 2021, the accused was informed of the charges against him and of the name(s) of the 
accuser(s) known to me (See R.C.M. 308(a)). (See R.C.M. 308 if notification cannot be made.) 

Typed Name of Immediate Commander Organization of Immediate cdmmander 

c-

RT-MARTIAL CONVENING AUTHORITY 

13. 

The charges were received at l"S 05S hours, - --'-16=-=Ju=l~y _____ , 2021 , at - ----'-T,_,_h~irt,,,,e_,,_e'-"nt,,_.,h'--'C,,_,o,,,a,.,,s'-'-t-"'G,..,,u""a,..,rd,_D=is"'-tr=>ict 

Summary Court-Martial Jurisdiction /See R.C.M. 403). 

M. W. Bouboulis 
Typed Name of Officer 

RADM, USCG 

Designation of Command or Officer exercising 

PGRTHE 
1 xxxxxxxxxxxxxxxx 

Commander, U.S. Coast Guard District Thirteen 
Official Capacity of Officer Signing 

FERRAL; SERVICE OF CHARGES 
14a. DESIGNATION OF COMMAND OF CONVENING AUTHORITY b. PLACE 

Thirteenth Coast Guard District Seattle, WA 

DATE (YYYYMMDD) 

20210716 

Referred for trial to the General court-martial convened by ___ C=o~nv~e=n"""in'"'"q"-"O'"'"r=de=r~N~o~. ~0~1~-2~1~-=D~a=te~d'----'-17~J=u~ne~2=0=2-'-1 _ 
subject to the following instructions: 2 

II/// I I Ill/// II I/ II I/ /II I Ill /I I/ II I/ II I /I /II By ///////////// ///////1/////////////////////// of I Ill I I/ I/ II/I I I/ I/ I/ I /I I/ II /I Ill/II/ Ill /I I/ II I/ I/ I//II//I II//I I II II/ II/ I /Ill /I I/ I/ Ill/ I I Ill /I 
Command or Order 

M. W. Bouboulis 
Typed Name of Officer 

15. 

Commander, U.S. Coast Guard District Thirteen 
Official Capacity of Officer Signing 

On - -~'~4f~ ___,,<[~kf~L,~------ , 2021, I caused to be served a copy hereof on the above named accused. 

J<A-T1 G r; SM JT!-/ i l />1e. uJCG-
Grade or Rank of Trial Counsel 

FOOTNOTES: 1 - When an appropriate commander signs personally, inapplicable words are stricken. 
2 - See R.C.M. 601 e concernin instructions. If none, so state. 

DD FORM 458, (BACK), MAY 2000 



DD Form 458 Cont. 
United States v. MK3 Mark Grijalva, USCG 

CHARGE I: Violation of the UCMJ, Article 107 

Specification: In that MK3 Mark Grijalva, U.S. Coast Guard, on active duty, did, on board Naval 
Base Kitsap Bangor, Washington, on or about 12 July 2019, make to a Coast Guard Investigative 
Service Special Agent an official statement, to wit: that his Apple Watch was located in his duty 
locker in Port Angeles, Washington, which statement was totally false, and was then known by 
the MK3 Grijalva to be so false. 

CHARGE II: Violation of the UCMJ, Article 131b 

IO t-l O" ?,O'Z-\ 
Specification n that MK3 Mark Grijalva, U.S. Coast Guard, on active duty, did, at or near 
Naval Base Kitsap Bangor, Washington, on or about 6 March 2019, wrongfully do a certain act, 
to wit: made false statements to Anaheim (California) Police Department Detective

with intent to influence the due administration of justice in the case of himself, against 
whom the accused had reason to believe that there were or would be criminal proceedings 
pending. 

Specification 2: In that MK3 Mark Grijalva, U.S. Coast Guard, on active dut \Dt,)o-J 

Naval Base Kitsap Bangor, Washington, on or.about 1 J ~z.9J a certain act, to 
wit: wrongfull y give multiple locations i,M 11ch contained images of
with intent to i1'!lP d 1'ti1: u.,o,..-a l.-, ministration of justice in the case of himself, against 
whom the aCCC!lil:::U-Jcttterreason to believe that there were or would be criminal proceedings 

CHARGE III: Violation of the UCMJ, Article 134 

Specification l: In that MK3 Mark Grijalva, U.S. Coast Guard, on active duty, did, at or near 
Naval Base Kitsap .Bangor, Washington, between on or about l February 2019 and on or about 
26 February 2019, unlawfully and without authority or pennission of  access the Snapchat 
account of and obtain digital images of an act which is of a nature to bring discredit 

1.01.--\ 

upon the armed forces. 
,z...\ 

t-)o"'ZP 
Specification 2: In that MK3 Mark Grijalva U.S. Coas · · ~~-~ \O 
Naval Base Kitsap Bangor, Washington ,,.,..,,,n,.n r a out 6 
March 201 · u ea profile 
usin \1 •~~ B:'.1~ge-M a, act which is of a nature to bring discredit upon the armed 

Specification 3: In that MK3 Mark Grijalva, U.S. Coast · · 
Naval Base Kitsap Bangor, Washington ~ ~]:?J~tl\ii!try'"2"CTT 9 or a ut 6 
March 2 19 un .C--.JK.L<·, _ • lllif~~~ !T'ffi11~ , e an KCupid dating 
r ~ ~ :aruHTl'nq~  an act which is of a nature to bring discredit upon the 



 .,...J'Z.t>Z .... \ 
1- ~ 

Specification/: In that MK3 Mark Grijalva, U.S. Coast Guard, on active duty, did, at Naval Base 
Kitsap Bangor, Washington, on divers occasion between on or about 1 February 2019 to on or 
about 31 March 2019, knowingly, wrongfully, and without the explicit consent of broadcast 
an intimate visual image of who is identifiable from the visual image or from infonnation 
displayed in connection with the visual image, when he knew or reasonably should have known 
that the visual image was made under circumstances in which  retained a reasonable 
expectation of privacy regarding any broadcast and when he knew or reasonably should have 
known that the broadcast of the visual image was likely to cause hann, harassment, or emotional 
distress for  or to hann substantially with respect to her safety, business, calling, 
career, reputation, or personal relationships, an act which is of a nature to bring discredit upon 
the armed forces. 

Specification 5: In that MK3 Mark Grijalva, U.S. Coast Guard, on active duty, did, at or 
Naval Base Kitsap Bangor, Washington, on divers occasion betw e nor a ~,",_,...- ... ebruary 
2019 to on or about 31 March 2019, violate Title 9A Wa 1 ·11.,._..=--- ·nal Code, Chapter 9A.86, 
Disclosing Intimate Images, by knowingly is ·m" ' · mate image of who is 
identifiable from the visual image~ \Ch WJ:1.>kro1amed under circumstances in which a 
reasonable person woul ~ erstand that the image was to remain private, which MK3 
Grijalva knew ~~1{11.(;l-l known that the depicted person, had not consented to the 
discl~ ' 3 Grijalva knew or reasonably should have known that the disclosure would 

am, to the depicted person,  an offense not capital. 

?  ,o~\J ie,2-\ 
Specificationfi: In that MK3 Mark Grijalva, U.S. Coast Guard, on active duty, did, at or near 
Naval Base Kitsap Bangor, Washington, between on or about 3 February 2019 and on or about 6 
March 2019, knowingly access without authorization a computer used in or affecting interstate or 
foreign commerce or communication, to wit: accessing without authorization the Snapchat 
application; that MK3 Grijalva did so with the intent to defraud; that access without 
authorization furthered the intended fraud; and that MK3 Grijalva obtained anything of value, to 
wit: images of from her Snapchat profile, in violation 18 U.S. Code Section 1030(a)(4), a 
crime or offense not capital. 

L\  O/l:l0v''2,D"2-\ 

Specification)( In that MK3 Mark Grijalva, U.S. Coast Guard, on active duty, did, at or near 
Naval Base Kitsap Bangor, Washington, between on or about 3 February 2019 and on or about 6 
March 2019, knowingly transfer, possess, or use without legal authority a means of identification 
of another person, to wit: name and image to create a social media dating application 
profile; that MK3 Grijalva knew that the means of identification belonged to a real person; and 
that MK3 Grijalva did so during and in relation to violation of 18 U.S. Code Section 1343, in 
violation of 18 U.S. Code Section 1028A, a crime or offense not capital. 

'5 0 µov,Z,c>'Z..\ 

SpecificationJ': In that MK3 Mark Grijalva, U.S. Coast Guard, on active duty, did, at or near 
Naval Base Kitsap Bangor, Washington, between on or about 3 February 2019 and on or about 6 
March 2019, knowingly devise a scheme or plan for obtaining money or property by means of 
false or fraudulent pretenses, representations, or promises; to wit: created a dating profile on the 
Tinder and OK Cupid application using name and image and offered to have sex with 
individuals for money; that MK3 Grijalva made material statements that had a natural tendency 
to influence, or were capable of influencing, a person to part with money or property; that MK3 
Grijalva did so with intent to defraud; and that MK3 Grijalva used an interstate wire 



communication to. carry out or attempt to carry out an essential part of the scheme in violation of 
18 U.S. Code Section 1343, a crime or offense not capital. 



2,713.50 0 2,713.50 

CHARGE SHEET 

I. PERSONAL DATA 
2. EMPLID 

 

N/A 

3. GRADE OR RANK 4. PAY GRADE 

MK3 E-4 
6. CURRENT SERVICE 
a. INITIAL DATE b. TERM 

09/26/201 6 
9. DATE(S) IMPOSED 

N/A 

6 ears 

11. CHARGES AND SPECIFICATIONS 
10. 

See attached continuation p 

Ill. PREFERRAL 
b. GRADE c. ORGANIZATION OF ACCUSER 

LCDR USCG District Thirteen 
e. DATE (YYYYMMDD) 

AFFIDAVIT: Before me, the undersigned, authorized by law to administer oaths in cases of this charact , personally appeared the above 
named accuser this fourth day of March, 2021, and signed the foregoing charges and specifications under ath that he is a person subject 
to the Uniform Code of Military Justice and that he either has personal knowledge of or has investigated th alters set forth therein and 
that the same are true to the best of his knowledge and belief. 

Matthew D. Pekoske 
Typed Name of Officer 

Lieutenant Commander / 0-4 

Si nature 

DD FORM 458, MAY 2000 

Commissioned Officer 
Official Capacity to Administer Oaths 

/See R.C.M. 307/b)- must be commissioned offic 

PREVIOUS EDITION IS OBSOLETE. 



13. 

J (o M J+ ((_ , 2021, the accused was informed of the charges against him and of the name of the 
ser known to me (See R.C.M. 308(a)). (See R.C.M. 308 if notification cannot be made.) 

Typed Name of lmmed,ale Commander 
USC4.. ]sA:=1€ >e11-1TU! 

Organiza/lon of Immediate Commander 

OURT-MARTIAL CONVENING AUTHORITY 

, 2021 at __ __.,_T.!.!h,,._irt,,e'-"e"-'n"'th.,_C=oa'"'s,,.,t_,G"'u,,.,a"'-r.,,_d_,,D'--'is:<,te..:ri""ct,._...,...,._ 
Designation of Command or Officer exercising 

Summary Court-Martial Jurisd,ctlon (See R 

A. J. Vogt 
Typed Name of Officer 

RADM, USCG 
Grade 

14a. 

Thirteenth Coast Guard District 

~ 1 xxxxxxxxxxxxxxx 

Commander, U.S. Coast Guard District Thirteen 
Official Capacity of Officer Signing 

DATE (YYYYMMDD) 

t,o-z. I OC- '7 

'V- c;..., ' 
~mm~er, .S. Coast Guard District Thirteen 

15, 

On __ "Z.._ 'L ____ "J'_ U_ 1'1 _ ___ _ , ~ I caused to be served a copy hereof on the above named accu 

[\I\ . t:) . 
Typed Name of Trial Counsel Grade or Rank of Trial Counsel 

 
FOOTNOTES: 1 - When an appropriate commander signs personally, inapplicable words are stricken. 

2 - See R.C.M. 601 e concernin instructions. If none, so state. 
DD FORM 458, (BACK), MAY 2000 



DD Form 458 Cont. ICO 
United States v. MK3 M.G., USCG 

Page 1 of ~ j 

E I: Violation of the UCMJ, Article 121 

n that · · C~ ~t Guard, on active duty, did, at or near 
·ngton, ebmi.~~-e~ or about 26 February 

ast Guard, on active duty, did, at or near 
me1 on, a ~1~.tird on or about 28 February 

20 19, steal, money, of a 

Breme1ton, Washington, betwe 

r 

st Guard, on active duty, did, at or near 
Ca~ on or about 3 March 2019, 

CHARGE ff-: Violation of the  

Specification 1: In that MK3 Ma s::... ~ uard, on active duty, did, at or near 
Bremerton, Washington, on or a  ~ fully do a ce1tain act, to wit: made 
false statements to Anaheim (California) Police ~ m~~ Detective with 
intent to influence the due administration of justice ll;!jhe\;~ of himself, against whom the 
accused had reason to believe that there were or woulc!J,e c ~ al proceedings pending. 

~ 

Specification 2: In that MK3 Mark Grijalva, U .S. Coast Guard, on tive duty, did, at or near 
Silverdale, Washington, on or about 12 July 2019, wrongfully do ace ain act, to wit: wrongfully 
give multiple locations of his Apple Watch which contained images of  with intent to 
impede and obstruct the due administration of justice in the case of himse against whom the 
accused had reason to believe that there were or would be criminal proceed1 s pending. 



Jr 
BARGE ~ Violation of the UCMJ, Article 134 

Sp ification 1: In that MK3 Mark Grijalva, U.S. Coast Guard, on active duty, did, at or near 
Brem on, Washington, between on or about I February 2019 and on or about 26 February 
2019, u lawfully and without autho1ity or pennission of access the Snapchat account of 

 and btained digital images of an act which is of a nature to bring discredit upon the 
anned fore . 

Specification 2: Int t MK3 Mark Grijalva, U.S. Coast Guard, on active duty, did, at or near 
Bremerton, Washingt 1, between on or about 3 February 2019 and on or about 6 March 2019, 
unlawfully and without thority or permission of  create a  profile using the name 
and image of an act hich is of a nature to bring discredit upon the armed forces. 

Specification 3: In that MK3 Mar Grijalva, U.S. Coast Guard, on active duty, did, at or near 
Bremerton, Washington, between on · a out 3 February 2019 and on or about 6 March 2019, 
unlawfully and without autho1 n of create an dating profile using 
the name and image of a fa nature to b1ing discredit upon the anned forces. 

 

 lJ •l 
 c_ N01.-.,o,,\ ~o.~ c. """~~ 

Specification 4: In that MK3 M .S~ ast Guard, on active duty, did, at or 1~i.if ~n.~~~ 
:Brofl'lertsA, Wasl~iBg,ton1 on one or more occasions, een on or about 1 February 2019 to on 
or about 3 1 March 2019, knowingly, wrongfully, an ~ out the explicit consent of
broadcast an intimate visual image of who is iden ble from the visual image or from 
information displayed in connection with the visual imag ~ hen he knew or reasonably shou ld \t;J-,$\Jt.a~ 
have known that the visual image was made under circums s in which retained a 
reasonable expectation of privacy regarding any broadcast an 1en he knew or reasonably 
should have known that the broadcast of the visual image was I to cause hmm, harassment, 
or emotional distress for or to haim substantially with spect to her safety, business, 
calling, career, reputation, or personal relationships, an act which is fa nature to bring discredit 
upon the anned forces. 

Specification 5: In that MK3 Mark Grijalva, U.S. Coast Guard, on active duty, id, at or near 
Bremerton, Washington, on one or more occasions, between on or about 1 Febru y 2019 to on 
or about 3 1 March 20 19, violate Title 9A Washington Criminal Code, Chapter 9A. 6, Disclosing 
Intimate Images, by knowingly disclosing an intimate image o who is identifia le from the 
visual image, which was obtained under circumstances in which a reasonable person w Id 
know or understand that the image was to remain private, which MK3 Grijalva knew ors uld 
have known that the depicted person, had not consented to the disclosure, and MK3 
G1ijalva knew or reasonably should have known that the disclosure would cause hann to the 
depicted person,  an offense not capital. 



ADDITIONAL CHARGE I: Violation of the UCMJ, Article 107 

Sp cification: In that MK3 Mark Grijalva, U.S. Coast Guard, on active duty, did, on board Naval 
Bas itsap Bangor, on or about 12 July 2019, make to a Coast Guard Investigative Service 
Specia Agent an official statement, to wit: that his Apple Watch was located in his duty locker 
in Port geles, Washington, which statement was totally false, and was then known by the 
MK3 Grija va to be so false. 

ADDITIONAL C RGE II: Violation of the UCMJ, Article 134 (Clause 3) 

Specification 1: In that K3 Mark Grijalva, U.S. Coast Guard, on active duty, did, at or near 
Silverdale, Washington, o tween on or about 3 February 2019 and on or about 6 March 2019, 
knowingly accessed withou uthorization a computer used in or affecting interstate or foreign 
commerce or communication, o wit: accessing without authorization the Snapchat application; 
that MK3  did so with the 1 tent to defraud; that access without authorization furthered the 
intended fraud; and that MK3 o ained anything of value, to wit: images of from her 
Snapchat profile, in violation 18 U. . ~ e Section I 030(a)( 4 ), a crime or offense not capital. 

Specification 2: In that MK3 t Guard, on active duty, did, at or near 
Silverdale, Washington, betwe y 2019 and on or about 6 March 2019, 
knowingly transfer, posses, or ty a means of identification of another 
person, to wit:  name an media dating application profile; that 
MK3 Grijalva knew that the m onged to a real person; and that MK3 
Grijalva did so during and in relation to violatio ~ b ~ ode Section 1343, in violation of 
18 U.S. Code Section 1028A, a crime or offense n~flir'-p 

- \L· ~ 
Specification 3: In that MK3 Mark Grijalva, U.S. Coast Gu: d, on ~ e duty, did, at or near 
Silverdale, Washington, between on or about 3 February 2019 and o or about 6 March 2019, 
knowingly devise a scheme or plan for obtaining money or property by eans of false or 
fraudulent pretenses, representations, or promises; to wit: created a datin rofile on the Tinder 
and OKCupid application using name and image and offered to have ex with individuals 
for money; that MK3 M.G. made material statements that had a natural tende y to influence, or 
were capable of influencing, a person to part with money or property; that MK3 did so with 
intent to defraud; and that MK3 used an interstate wire comrnw1ication to ca out or 
attempt to carry out an essential part of the scheme in violation of 18 U.S. Code Sect n 1343, a 
crime or offense not capital. 



TRIAL COURT MOTIONS & RESPONSES



UNITED STATES COAST GUARD TRIAL JUDICIARY 
GENERAL COURT-MARTIAL 

UNITED STATES 

v. 

MARK J. GRIJALVA 
MK3/E-4 
U.S. COAST GUARD 

MOTION 

DEFENSE MOTION FOR 
APPROPRIATE RELIEF 

(Bill of Particulars) 

28JUNE 2021 

Pursuant to the Fifth Amendment of the Constitution and R.C.M. 906(b)(6), the Defense 

moves for appropriate relief in the form of a Bill of Particulars as to the two Specifications under 

Charge II. As the moving party, the Defense bears the burden of proof by a preponderance of the 

evidence with regard to each factual issue necessary for resolution of this matter. R.C.M. 905(c). 

FACTS 

1. In Specification 1 of Charge I, the Government alleges that MK3 Grijalva obstructed justice 

in violation of Article 131b, Uniform Code of Military Justice (UCMJ), 10 U.S.C. § 931b 

(2019), when he, "on or about 6 March 2019 ... made false statements to Anaheim (California) 

Police Department Detective [ ]." (Charge Sheet at 3, Mar. 4, 2021.) 

2. The Specification does not identify any statements. 

3. In Specification 2 of Charge I, the Government alleges that MK3 Grijalva also obstructed 

justice in violation of Article 131 b, when he, "on or about 12 July 2019 ... wrongfully [gave] 

multiple locations of his Apple Watch." (Charge Sheet at 3.) 

4. The Specification does not identify to whom MK3 Grijalva gave the "multiple locations" or 

what those locations were. 
·•t••. ,. ,, ,,., .• ,,,1 '""':••,,, , • t11 · i'11 1 

•
1 I 

APPELLATE EXHIBIT V/11 
PAGE j__ OF\1_ PAGE (S) 



LAW 

The President provides that, where necessary, a military judge may order a bill of particulars. 

R.C.M. 906(b ). As the Manual provides, a bill may be necessary 

to inform the accused of the nature of the charge with sufficient precision to enable 
the accused to prepare for trial, to avoid or minimize the danger of surprise at the 
time of trial, and to enable the accused to plead the acquittal or conviction in bar of 
another prosecution for the same offense with the specification itself is too vague 
and indefinite for such purposes. 

Id., Discussion, Manual for Courts-Martial, United States (2019 ed.). 

ARGUMENT 

Here, every reason listed in the Manual supports the need for a Bill. First, Petty Officer 

Grijalva cannot prepare for a trial on the criminality of his statements when the charges do not 

even identify what the statements are. Second, a Specification alleging criminal speech that 

identifies no particular words creates an imminent danger of surprise at trial. Finally, these 

Specifications provides no protection against double jeopardy; rather, they invite re-prosecution. 

Regardless of outcome here, the Government could charge MK3 Grijalva at another proceeding 

with another UCMJ violation based on a separate "statement" not envisioned by these current 

Specifications. 

APPELLATE EXHIBIT V /// 
PAGE£._ OF .2.,_ PAGE (S) 



RELIEF·REQUESTED & ARGUMENT 

The Defense requests that the Government provide a Bill of Particulars identifying with 

sufficient precision the statements alleged in Specifications 1 and 2 of Charge I and the person(s) 

to whom the statements were directed in Specification 2. 

Unless the Government concedes the motion or this Court grants the relief on the basis of 

pleadings alone, the Defense requests oral argument on this matter. 

B.D.ADAMS 
LCDR, JAGC, USN 
Detailed Defense Counsel 

APPELLATE EXHIBIT \(I) J 
PAGE~ OF~ PAGE (S) 



GENERAL COURT-MARTIAL 
UNITED STATES COAST GUARD 

UNITED ST A TES 

v. 

MARK J. GRIJALVA 
Machinery Technician Third Class 
U.S. Coast Guard 

GOVERNMENT RESPONSE TO 
. DEFENSE MOTION FOR 

APPROPRIATE RELIEF 
(Bill of Particulars 28 JUNE 2021) 

25 August 2021 

On 28 June 2021, the Government received a motion directed at this court to compel the 

Government to provide Defense a bill of particulars. The Government does not oppose the 

Defense's motion. The Government will provide the Defense a bill of particulars by 30 August 

2021. 

Respectfully Submitted, 

Isl Case A. Colaw 
CASE A. COLAW 
Lieutenant, USCG 
Trial Counsel 

APPEUATEEXHIBIT JX 
PAGE j_ OF JL_ PAGE. (S) 



CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

I hereby certify that I electronically served copies of the above document on the military judge 

and defense counsel on 25 August 2021. 

CAPT Diane M. Croff, USCG 
Military Judge 

LCDR Benjamin Adams, USN, JAGC 
Detailed Defense Counsel 

CDR Justin Henderson, USN, JAGC 
Detailed Defense Counsel 

LCDR Terrence Thornburgh, USCG 
Special Victims Counsel 

LT Adam Jaffe, USCG 
Special Victims Counsel 

2 

Isl Case A. Colaw 
CASE A. COLAW 
Lieutenant, USCG 
Trial Counsel 
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UNITED STATES COAST GUARD TRIAL JUDICIARY 
GENERAL COURT-MARTIAL 

UNITED STATES 

v. 

MARKJ. GRIJALVA 
MK3/E-4 
U.S. COAST GUARD 

MOTION 

DEFENSE MOTION FOR 
APPROPRIATE RELIEF 

(Bill of Particulars) 

06JUL21 

Pursuant to the Fifth Amendment of the Constitution and R.C.M. 906(b )( 6), the Defense 

moves for appropriate relief in the form of a Bill of Particulars as to Specification 3 under 

Additional Charge IL As the moving party, the Defense bears the burden of proof by a 

preponderance of the evidence with regard to each factual issue necessary for resolution of this 

matter. R.C.M. 905(c). 

FACTS 

1. In Specification 3 of Additional Charge II, the Government alleges that MK3 Grijalva 

committed a violation of 18 USC § 1343, a crime or offense not capital, when he, as part of a 

"scheme or plan for obtaining money or property ... made material statements that had a natural 

tendency to influence, or were capable of influencing, a person to part with money or property." . 

(Charge Sheet at 4, June 22, 2021.) 

2 The Specification does not identify what material statements were made or to whom they were 

made. 

LAW 

The Preside~t provides that, where necessary, a military judge may order a bill of particulars. 

R.C.M. 906(b ). As the Manual provides, a bill may be necessary 
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to inform the accused of the nature of the charge with sufficient precision to enable 
the accused to prepare for trial, to avoid or minimize the danger of surprise at the 
time of trial, and to enable the accused to plead the acquittal or conviction in bar of 
another prosecution for the same offense with the specification itself is too vague 
and indefinite for such purposes. 

Id., Discussion, Manual for Courts-Martial, United States (2019 ed.). 

ARGUMENT 

a. A Bill of Particulars is needed to put the Defense on notice of what material statements 

were made, and to whom they were made, as part of MK3 Grijalva's alleged scheme to 

defraud. 

A wire fraud charge under the U.S. Code prosecuted in Federal civilian courts would 

ordinarily be preceded by an indictment or criminal complaint, laying out the scheme and 

material statements in detail, thus putting defendants on notice of the conduct of which they are 

accused. See, e.g., Hujfv. United States, 301 F.2d 760 (5th Cir. 1962) (holding that trial court 

did not abuse discretion in denying a Bill of Particulars because the "overt acts" contained in the 

indictment "specified considerable detail about times, places, telephone calls, persons and other 

actions."); United States v. Ojeikere, 299 F. Supp. 2d 254 (S.D.N.Y. 2004) (denying a demand 

for a Bill of Particulars because the "superseding indictment, the complaint, and the other 

information disclosed to the defendant explain the specific acts of which the defendant is accused 

in sufficient detail that he can prepare for trial, avoid surprise, and interpose a plea of double 

jeopardy if warranted."). Here, however, the Specification does not disclose any of those 

relevant details. Cf. United States v. Crisona, 271 F. Supp. 150, 156 (S.D.N.Y. 1967) (ordering a 

Bill of Particulars specifying, inter alia, "the names of any persons ... known to the Government 

as persons to whom false and fraudulent representations and promises were to be made, or were 

made, as part of the alleged scheme to defraud."). Here, the Government should be required at a 

minimum to specify which statements were allegedly made, and to whom they were made. This 
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serves all the reasons listed in the Manual as compelling the need for a Bill of Particulars: Petty 

Officer Grijalva cannot prepare for a trial on the criminality of his allegedly fraudulent and 

material statements when the Specification does not even identify which statements he made, a 

Specification alleging material misrepresentations that identifies no particular statements creates 

an imminent danger of suiprise at trial, and this Specification provides no protection against 

double jeopardy; rather, it invites re-prosecution. Regardless of outcome here, the Government 

could charge MK.3 Grijalva at another proceeding with another UCMJ violation, or in Federal 

court, with a violation of the U.S. Code, based on a separate set of statements made as part of an 

alleged scheme to defraud but not envisioned by the current Specification. 

RELIEF REQUESTED & ARGUMENT 

The Defense requests that the Government provide a Bill of Particulars identifying with 

sufficient precision the material statements allegedly made by MK3 Grijalva, and the persons wo 

whom those statements were made. Unless the Government concedes the motion or this Court 

grants the relief on the basis of pleadings alone, the Defense requests oral argument on this 

matter. 

B.D.ADAMS 
LCDR, JAGC, USN 
Detailed Defense Counsel 
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UNITED STATES COAST GUARD TRIAL JUDICIARY 
GENERAL COURT-MARTIAL 

UNITED STATES 

v. 

MARKJ. GRIJALVA 
MK3/E-4 
U.S. COAST GUARD 

MOTION 

DEFENSE MOTION TO DISMISS 
(Defective Referral of 

"Additional" Charges) 

23 JUN 21 

Pursuant to R.C.M. 905(b) and 907(b)(3)(A), the Defense moves to dismiss what the 

Government styles as "Additional Charges I and II," which were never sworn as Congress 

required in Article 30(a), Uniform Code of Military Justice (UCMJ), 10 U.S.C. § 830(a) (2018) 

and as the President prescribes in R.C.M. 307(b). 

BURDEN 

The Defense bears the burden of proof as to any factual issue necessary to resolve this 

motion, by a preponderance of the evidence. R.C.M. 905(c)(l). 

FACTS 

1. On March 4, 2021, LCDR  signed Block 11.a. of a DD Form 458 Charge Sheet, 

signifying that to the best of his knowledge and belief MK.2 Grijalva had committed offenses 

under the UCMJ-three Specifications under Charge I, Article 121; two Specifications under 

Charge II, Article 131 b; and five Specifications under Charge III, Article 134-all of which were 

listed on two 4~continuation" pages attached to the Form. (Encl. A.) 

2. Less than two weeks later, the Convening Authority directed a Preliminary Hearing under 

Article 32, UCMJ. (Encl. B.) 

, I 
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3. During and after the Preliminary Hearing, the Defense objected to Trial Counsel's request 

that the Preliminary Hearing Officer consider what Trial Counsel styled as '"Additional Charges" 

alleging violations of Article 107, UCMJ, and 18 U.S.C. §§ 1028A, 1030(a)(4), and 1343 (2018). 

(Encl. C.) 

4. Over the Defense's objection, the Preliminary Hearing Officer issued a report that addressed 

each "'Additional Charge," noting that each alleged an "uncharged offense.'· (Encl. D at 11-12, 

15-16.) 

5. The Convening Authority then referred each Specification of original Charges II and III to 

this court-martial (ren1:1ffibered as Charge I and II, respectively), and along with those Charges 

purported to refer two "Additional" Charges alleging one Specification of a violation under 

Article l 07 and three Specifications of a violation under Article 134, UCMJ-all of which were 

now listed on a third "continuation" page attached to the same DD Fonn 458 that LCDR 

signed. (Charge Sheet.) 

6. As of this writing, no person subject to the UCMJ has sworn to the Additional Charges 

before an officer authorized to administer oaths. 

LAW 

Congress directs that court-martial charges and specifications "may be preferred only by a 

person subject to the [UCMJ] ... and shall be preferred by presentment in writing, signed under 

oath before a commissioned officer of the anned forces who is authorized to administer oaths." 

Article 30(a), UCMJ (emphasis added). 

Implementing this provision, the President also requires that the person preferring the 

charges and specifications "must sign them under oath" in a writing which "'must state the signer 

has personal knowledge of, or has investigated, the matters set forth in the charges and 
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specifications; and the matters set forth in the charges and specifications are true to the best of 

the knowledge and belief of the signer." R.C.M. 307(b). 

It is settled law that "[n]o accused should be tried on unswom charges over his objection." 

United States v. Miller, 31 M.J. 798, 801 (A.F.C.M.R. 1990) (citing Frage v. Moriarty, 27 M.J. 

341 (C.M.A. 1988); United States v. Goodman, 31 C.M.R. 397 (N.B.R. 1961); United States v. 

Bolton, 3 C.M.R. 374 (A.B.R. 1951),pet. denied, 3 C.M.R. 150 (C.M.A. 1952)); cf. United 

States v. Hamilton, 41 M.J. 32, 36 (C.A.A.F. 1994) ("If a commander is coerced into preferring 

charges that he does not believe are true, the charges are treated as unsigned and unsworn."). 

Objections to this defect must be raised before entry of pleas. R.C.M. 905(b). "Failure to 

object at trial to defects in the preferral of charges constitutes waiver and permits trial on 

unswom charges." United States v. Beckermann, 35 M.J. 842, 846 (C.G.C.M.R. 1992) (citing 

United States v. May, 1 C.M.A. 174, 2 C.M.R. 80 ( 1952); United States v. Marcy, 1 C.M.A. 176, 

2 C.M.R. 82 (1952)). 

ARGUMENT 

Here, the Convening Authority here has attempted to refer four unswom Specifications of 

two "'Additional" Charges to this Court-none of which has been sworn to or preferred by any 

person subject to the Code. This effort goes against seven decades of law and practice under our 

Code. And because MK3 Grijalva objects, he may not be tried on these unswom charges. 

RELIEF REQUESTED 

This Court must dismiss the unswom Charges and Specifications. 

EVIDENCE & ORAL ARGUMENT 

The Defense attaches the following enclosures in support of this Motion: 
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A. Preferred Charge Sheet dated March 4, 2021 

B. Preliminary Hearing Order 

C. Defense R.C.M. 405(k) Objection to Consideration of "Additional Charges" 

D. Article 32 Preliminary Hearing Report 

Unless the Government concedes the Motion or this Court grants the relief on the basis of 

pleadings alone, the Defense requests oral argument on this matter. 

B.D.ADAMS 
LCDR, JAGC, USN 
Detailed Defense Counsel 

4 APPELLATE EXHIBIT \/,\/ 
PAGE::!_ OF !J__ PAGE (S) 



GENERAL COURT-MARTIAL 
UNITED STATES COAST GUARD 

UNITED ST A TES 

V. 

MARKJ.GRIJALVA 
Machinery Technician Third Class 
U.S. Coast Guard 

GOVERNMENT RESPONSE TO 
DEFENSE MOTION TO DISMISS 
(Defective Referral of" Additional" 

Charges): 

24 August 2021 

RELIEF SOUGHT 

Pursuant to RCM 907(b )(3)(A), the Government moves for this Court to DENY the 

defense motion to dismiss. 

HEARING 

The Government respectfully requests oral argument. 

SUMMARY 

The Government requested the Preliminary Hearing Officer (PHO) consider additional 

charges during the Article 32 hearing that were not preferred on the original charge sheet on 

March 4, 2021. The PHO considered the additional charges and the Convening Authority 

referred the additional unswom charges to this court-martial on June 17, 202 l. The Defense 

claims the unswom charges are defective. After considering the Defense motion, the Convening 

Authority withdrew all charges and specifications. New charges were properly sworn, 

preferred, and referred to this court-martial on July 16, 2021. The Defense motion is now moot. 

BURDEN OF PROOF 
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As the moving party, the Defense bears the burden of proof as to any factua l issue 

necessary to reso lve this motion, by a preponderance of the evidence. R. C.M. 905(c)(l). 

FACTS 

I. On March 4, 202 1, LCDR signed Block I I.a. of a DD Form 458 Charge Sheet 

[hereinafter "Original Charge Sheet"]. 

2. A preliminary hearing pursuant to Article 32, UCMJ was held on May 5, 202 1. 

3. During the preliminary hearing, the Government requested the Preliminary Hearing Officer to 

consider '·Add itional Charges" pursuant to R.C.M. 405(e)(2) alleging violations of Artic le I 07, 

UCMJ, and 18 U.S.C. §§ I 028A, I 030(a)(4), and 1343(20 18). 

4. On June 17, 2021, the Convening Authority referred each Specification of Original Charge 

Sheet charges II and Ill to this cou11-ma11ial (renumbered as Charge I and II. respectively), along 

with the "Add itional Charges" alleging one Specification of a violation under A11icle I 07 and 

three Specifications of a violation under Article 134, UCMJ. 

5. The Accused ·was arraigned on July 7. 202 1. The Defense filed a Motion to Dismiss for 

Defective Referral of the "Additional Charges" on the basis they were unsworn at the 

arraignment. 

6. On July 16, 202 1 the Convening Authority withdrew all charges referred on 17 June 202 1. 

7. Later on July 16, 2021, LCDR  a person with personal knowledge of the matters set 

forth in a New Charge Sheet, swore under oath that the matters set forth in the charges and 

specifications on the New Charge Sheet were true to the best of his knowledge and belief. 

LCDR  signed Block I I .a. of a DD Form 458 before LCDR  a commissioned 

officer of the armed forces who is authorized to administer oaths. Charges were preferred against 
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the Accused. 

8. The Convening Authority found a new preliminary hearing was not necessary because all 

charges and specifications preferred on July 16, 2021 were adequately considered at the 

preliminarily hearing on May 5, 2021 in accordance with R.C.M. 603. 

9. The charges were referred by the Convening Authority on July 16, 2021 to this court-martial 

and the Accused was arraigned on July 22, 2021. 

LEGAL AUTHORITY 

Court-martial charges and specifications " ... shall be preferred by presentment in writing, 

signed under oath before a commissioned officer of the armed forces who is authorized to 

administer oaths." Article 30(a). The person preferring the charges and specifications "must sign 

them under oath" in a writing which "must state the signer has personal knowledge of, or has 

investigated, the matters set forth in the charges and specifications; and the matters set forth in 

the charges and specifications are true to the best of the knowledge and belief of the signer." 

R.C.M. 307(b ). 

ARGUMENT 

The Defense's Motion to Dismiss for Defective Referral of "Additional Charges" 

because they were unsworn is moot. Any Defective Referral alleged by the Defense was cured 

when new charges were referred by the Convening Authority on July 16, 2021. LCDR 

 has personal knowledge of all charges and specifications on the DD Form 458 before 

this court martial. LCD R swore an oath that matters set forth in the charges and 

specifications are true to the best of his knowledge and belief. The oath was administered by 

LCDR  a Judge Advocate and commissioned officer authorized to administer oaths. The 

3 
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requirements directed by Congress in Article 30(a) and implemented by the President in R.C.M. 

307(b) have been met. All charges and specifications are properly sworn. The Accused is not 

being tried on any unsworn charges. 

CONCLUSION 

The Government respectfully requests the Court DENY the Defense Motion to Dismiss 

because all charges and specifications before this court are properly sworn. 

4 

Isl Matthew D. Pekoske 
MATTHEW D. PEKOSKE 
LCDR, USCG 
Asst. Trial Counsel 
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************************************************************************** 

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

I hereby certify that a true and accurate copy of the above was served on the Defense 

Counsel via electronic mail on 25 August 2021. 

CAPT Diane M. Croff, USCG 
Military Judge 

LCDR Benjamin Adams, USN, JAGC 
Detailed Defense Counsel 

CDR Justin Henderson, USN, JAGC 
Detailed Defense Counsel 

LCDR Terrence Thornburgh, USCG 
Special Victims Counsel 

LT Adam Jaffe, USCG 
Special Victims Counsel 

5 

Isl Matthew D. Pekoske 
MA TIHEW D. PEKOSKE 
LCDR, USCG 
Asst. Trial Counsel 
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UNITED STATES COAST GUARD TRIAL JUDICIARY 
GENERAL COURT-MARTIAL 

UNITED STATES 

v. 

MARKJ.GRIJALVA 
MK3/E-4 
U.S. COAST GUARD 

DEFENSE MOTION TO DISMISS 
(Due Process Notice Defect) 

7 JUL 21 

MOTION & SUMMARY 

Specifications 1 through 3 of Charge II, each asserting a novel Article 134 violation, allege 

conduct that MK3 Grijalva had no notice was forbidden. Likewise, each of those Specifications 

is empty of any standard applicable to the purportedly forbidden conduct. The Defense therefore 

moves to dismiss those Specifications for failure to satisfy even the barest notice requirements, 

errors that render the Specifications so defective as to mislead MK.3 Grijalva. U.S. Const. 

amend V; R.C.M. 907(b)(3)(A). 

FACTS 

1. In Charge II, the Government charges MK.2 Grijalva with three novel violations of Article 

134, alleging: 

a. In Specification 1, that he did "unlawfully and without authority or permission of BC, 

access the  account of  and obtained digital images of  an act which is of a nature 

to bring discredit upon the armed forces"; 

b. In Specification 2, that he did "unlawfully and without authority or permission of  

create a  profile using the name and image of  an act which is of a nature to bring 

discredit upon the armed forces"; and 
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c. In Specification'3, that he did "unlawfully and without authority or permission of  

create an  dating profile using the name and image of  an act which is of a nature to 

bring discredit upon the armed forces." (Charge Sheet at 4, June 17, 2021.) 

LAW 

a. Constitutional due process requires fair notice both that the alleged conduct is 
forbidden and the standard applicable to that conduct's criminality. 

"Under the Due Process Clause of the Fifth Amendment, 'no one may be required at peril of 

life, liberty or property to speculate as to the meaning of penal statutes. All are entitled to be 

informed as to what the State commands or forbids."' United States v. Moore, 58 M.J. 466,469 

(C.A.A.F. 2003) (quoting Lanzetta v. New Jersey, 306 U.S. 451,453 (1939)); United States v. 

Warner, 73 M.J. 1, 4 (C.A.A.F. 2013) ("It is well settled ... that a servicemember must have fair 

notice that an act is criminal before being prosecuted.") ( citations omitted). 

The Clause thus demands both "fair notice that an act is forbidden and subject to criminal 

sanction," United States v. Bivins, 49 M.J. 328, 330 (C.A.A.F. 1998), as well as "fair notice as to 

the standard applicable to the forbidden conduct." United States v. Vaughan, 58 M.J. 29, 31 

(C.A.A.F. 2003) (quoting Parker v. Levy, 417 U.S. 733, 755 (1974)). 1 Sources of fair notice that 

one's conduct may be punishable under the UCMJ include federal law, state law, military case 

law, military custom and usage, and military regulations. Vaughan, 58 M.J. at 31. 

The Due Process concepts of "fair notice and vagueness are related," but they remain 

distinct. Warner, 73 M.J. at 3 n.2; see Parker, 417 M.J. at 752 (vagueness doctrine "incorporates 

notions of fair notice or warning"). Vagueness concerns the criminal statute at issue. See United 

1 See also United States v. Lanier, 520 U.S. 259,265 (1997) ("[N]o man shall be held criminally 
responsible for conduct which he could not reasonably understand to be proscribed.") (quoting 
Bouie v. City of Columbia, 378 U.S. 347, 351 (1964) (internal citation and quotation marks 
omitted)); 
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States v. Cochrane, 60 M.J. 632,634 (N-M. Ct. Crim. App. 2004) ("void-for-vagueness doctrine 

requires that a penal statute define the criminal offense with sufficient definiteness that ordinary 

people can understand what conduct is prohibited and in a manner that does not encourage 

arbitrary and discriminatory enforcement") (quoting Kolender v. Lawson, 461 U.S. 352,357 

(1983)); Grayned v. Rockford, 408 U.S. 104, 108-109 (1972) (criminal laws "must provide 

explicit standards" to avoid potential to "trap the innocent by not providingfair warning"); 

United States v. Capital Traction Co., 34 App. D.C. 592, 596-598 ( 1910) ("A criminal statute 

cannot rest upon an uncertain foundation. The crime, and the elements constituting it, must be so 

clearly expressed that the ordinary person can intelligently choose, in advance, what course it is 

lawful for him to pursue."). But fair notice evaluates the offense charged. United States v. 

Escochea-Sanchez, No. 20100093, 2011 CCA LEXIS 77, at *11-12 (N-M. Ct. Crim. App. Apr. 

19, 2011) ("In general, fair notice has two key facets. First, the accused must have fair notice his 

conduct is subject to criminal sanction. Second, the accused must have fair notice of the 

elements against which he must defend.") (citing United States v. Saunders, 59 M.J. 1, 6, 9 

(C.A.A.F. 2003); United States v. Pope, 63 M .. J. 68 (C.A.A.F. 2006)). 

Thus, in Warner, the Court of Appeals for the Armed Forces could set aside a conviction 

under Article 134 for possession of images depicting minors "as sexual objects or in a sexually 

suggestive way" on notice grounds and decline to evaluate Article 134 itself for vagueness. Id., 

73 M.J. at 3-4. There, the court observed that the subject matter in question was already 

addressed "at length and in considerable detail" in the United States Code. Id. 
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ARGUMENT 

a. No source establishes that any action alleged in Charge II, Specifications 1 
through 3-whether accessing snapchat account or setting up social media 
profiles using her name and likeness-was subject to criminal sanction and the 
Specifications contain no applicable standard to evaluate the alleged conduct. 

In Specification 1 of Charge II, the Government seeks to criminalize accessing another 

person's online account without their consent and obtaining digital images of that person. As in 

Warner, however, the U.S. Code already provides a "myriad of potential crimes" related to 

accessing the online accounts and computers of others without their consent. See, e.g., 18 U.S.C. 

§ 1030 ( criminalizing "Fraud and related activity in connection with computers"). Indeed, the 

Government has simultaneously charged MK.3 Grijalva under that statute for this identical act, 

alleging in Additional Charge II, Specification 1 that MK.3 Grijalva violated 18 U.S.C. 

§ 1030(a)(4) when he obtained images of  from her Snapchat profile as part of an alleged 

scheme to defraud. 

The computer offenses pertaining to unauthorized access in§ 1030(a)(4) and elsewhere in 

the U.S. Code, however, require proof of additional elements, e.g., engaging in a scheme to 

defraud. Thus, MK3 Grijalva would not be on notice that mere nonconsensual access of an 

online account and downloading of an image would be criminal without those additional 

elements. Nor is he on notice of the standard used to evaluate his conduct-as charged, the 

Specification criminalizes unauthorized access of a computer without specifying the mens rea 

required, and seemingly reaches the obtaining of any image, regardless of its nature. 

Similarly, in Specifications 2 and 3, the Government seeks to criminalize, without more, the 

unauthorized creation of an online account using another person's name and likeness. As with 

Specification 1, computer crimes already occupy a place in the U.S. Code, and to the extent that 

there is any military-specific interest at work, Congress has already criminalized the 
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unauthorized distribution of a person's image and identifying information in Article 117a. That 

offense has strict requirements of proof, specifying that only certain images may not be 

distributed, and only when such distribution has specified, tangible impact on the individual 

depicted in the image and on the military mission. Here again, MK.3 Grijalva had no way of 

knowing that his conduct was prohibited, nor any notice as to the standard that would be used to 

evaluate his conduct. 

RELIEF REQUESTED 

Because none of Specifications 1, 2, and 3 under Charge I meets the Vaughn factors for 

notice, and because each lacks a standard applicable to evaluate the criminality of the alleged 

conduct, this Court must dismiss those Specifications. 

ORAL ARGUMENT 

Unless the Government concedes the Motion or this Court grants the relief on the basis of 

pleadings alone, the Defense requests oral argument on this matter. 

B.D.ADAMS 
LCDR, JAGC, USN 
Detailed Defense Counsel 
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GENERAL COURT-MARTIAL 
UNITED STATES COAST GUARD 

UNITED STATES 

\!. 

MARKJ.GRIJALVA 
Machinery Technician Third Class 
U.S. COAST GUARD 

GOVERNMENT RESPONSE 
TO DEFENSE MOTION TO 

DISMISS 
(Due Process Notice Defect) 

25 August 2021 

RELIEF SOUGHT 

Pursuant to RCM 907(b)(3)(A), the Government moves for this Court to DENY the 

defense motion to dismiss. 

HEARING 

The Government respectfully requests oral argument. 

SUMMARY 

MK3 Grijalva unlawfully gained access to the computer of  While searching 

through the files on her computer, he downloaded several private, sexually explicit photographs. 

He used the intimate photos which he unlawfully obtained to create social media accounts on 

Tinder and OKCupid. was clearly identifiable in the photographs, and they were posted in 

a manner likely to cause her embarrassment. He then proceeded to use identity to steal 

money from individuals by promising them sex acts in exchange for money. This conduct 

formed the basis for Charge III, Article 134 (General Article), Specifications I thru 3. The 

Defense claims that MK3 Grijalva had no notice that his criminal and immoral actions would 

cause discredit upon the Armed Forces, and therefore he did not have adequate notice that his 

conduct was criminal under Article 134. 
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BURDEN 

As the moving pa11y, the burden of proof and persuasion rests on the Defense for this 

motion. The standard as to any factua l issue necessary to resolve this motion is to a 

preponderance of the evidence. RCM 905( c )(I). 

FACTS 

I. MK3 Mark Grija lva hacked into  Snap Chat account and took images from her. He 

did this by guessing her password. He admitted downloading images from her account 

withou t her consent. Exhibit 1. 

2. MK3 Grijalva concocted a scheme to defraud individuals out of money by assuming 

 identity and using the intimate images he stole from Using the intimate 

images he enticed men to send money in exchange for the possibility of certain sex acts. 

3. Although he admitted his actions to criminal investigators, he initially deceived them and 

indicated he had not stolen the images and he had not defrauded individuals out of 

money. 

EVIDENCE 

The Government offers the following exhibit: 

Exhibit 1: MK3 Grijalva' s video recorded interview with CGIS 

LEGAL AUTHORITY 

It is well settled that conduct that is not specifically listed in the MCM may be prosecuted 

under Article 134, UCMJ. United States v. Vaughan, 58 MJ 29, 31 (C.A.A.F. 2003). Fair notice 

is all that is required for an act to be punishable under Article 134, UCMJ. Vaughan, 58 M.J. at 
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31. In Vaughan, CAAF identified several potential sources of "fair notice' to include "federal 

law, state law, military case law, military custom and usage, and military regulations. Id at 31-

32. 

There are several sources of law which put the accused on notice in this case. First, in 

2003, CAAF held that an accused had fair notice that he risked prosecution under Article 134, 

UCMJ, if he knowingly and willfully engaged in a course of conduct that placed the woman in 

reasonable fear of injury or emotional distress. United States v. Saunders, 59 MJ 1, 16 (C.A.A.F. 

2003). Federal law prohibits unauthorized access to someone's digital accounts with a 

fraudulent purpose. 18 U.S.C. 1030(a)(4). 

In the state of Washington, the law also prohibits disclosure or intimate images. Revised 

Code Wash 9A.86.010. The state of Washington also criminalizes computer trespass. Revised 

Code Wash 9A.90.040 and 9A.90.050. 

Additionally, custom and training in the Armed Services emphasize the need to act with 

integrity and in a forthright manner. Recently, training and custom have focused particularly on 

the value of privacy and respect when handling intimate digital images. Since the events of 

Marine's United, the Armed Service has clearly condemned the wrongful acquisition and 

distribution of intimate images of another. 

ARGUMENT 

Several factors should be considered when determining if an accused has fair notice that 

his conduct may be prosecuted under the General Article. Vaughn, 58 MJ 51, Saunders, 59 M.J. 

1. Examples they provided were if conduct were if conduct was in violation of state or Federal 

laws or if a reasonable person would have known that their conduct was service discrediting. In 
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this case, the conduct of the accused was in violation of Federal Law and state laws regarding 

online privacy. 

Charge III, specification I thru 4 alleges that MK3 Grijalva logged onto computer 

and stole images from her, used the pictures to create fake social media accounts, and shared 

intimate images of without her consent. The images he stole were intimate in nature, and 

he did not have the authority to take them or share them. The claim that he lacked "notice" that 

such actions is contrary to a reasonable person's understanding of punishable conduct, and shows 

a lack of awareness regarding the state of the law. As noted above, both Federal and State law 

prohibit this type of behavior, and the Armed Forces have clearly communicated that service 

members will be held to a high standard in regards to unauthorized use of intimate images. The 

Defense asserts that MK3 Grijalva had no "notice" that stealing intimate pictures from was 

service discrediting, but this argument lacks any merit. A reasonable person understands that the 

customs and traditions of the Coast Guard do not condone this type of behavior, and this 

behavior is clearly punishable under the General Article. 

Although the subjective believe of MK3 Grijalva is not relevant to the analysis, it is 

persuasive that he hid his actions from law enforcement. His actions clearly show that he was 

aware that his conduct fell short of the standards set by the Coast Guard. Not only would a 

reasonable person understand that breaking into a young females social media accounts and 

stealing pictures is service discrediting, but MK3 Grijalva also understood the illegal nature of 

his behavior. 

The charged offenses clearly describe service discrediting behavior. The actions fell 

short of the customs of the Coast Guard, and violated state and Federal law. As such, the 
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charges are consistent with military law, and well within the boundaries of notice required for the 

Genera l Artic le. 

CONCLUSION 

For these reasons the Court should DENY the Defense's motion to di smiss because the 

charges and spec ifications clearly provide notice of service discrediting behavior. 

ISi Jon T. Taylor 
J. T. TAYLOR 
LCDR, JAGC, USN 
Assistant Trial Counsel 

APPELLATE EXHIBIT 'X / X 
Govt Response to Defense Motion to Dismiss (Due Process Notice Deft?A,GE ;5__ OF .J3..__ PAGE (S) 



************************************************************************** 

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

I hereby ce1tify that a true and accurate copy of the above was served on the below listed 

individuals via electronic mail on 25 August 2021. 

CAPT Diane M. Croff, USCG 
Military Judge 

LCDR Benjamin Adams, USN, JAGC 
Detailed Defense Counsel 

CDR Justin Henderson, USN, JAGC 
Detai led Defense Counsel 

LCDR Terrence Thornburgh, USCG 
Special Victims Counsel 

LT Adam Jaffe, USCG 
Special Victims Counsel 

Isl Case A. Colaw 
CASE A. COLAW 
Lieutenant, USCG 
Trial Counsel 

APPELLATE EXHIBIT XI X 
Govt Response to Defense Motion to Dismiss (Due Process Notice DJ'J\,~E _l!.._ OF fi_ PAGE (S) 



UNITED STATES COAST GUARD TRIAL JUDICIARY 
GENERAL COURT-MARTIAL 

UNITED STATES 

v. 

MARKJ.GRIJALVA 
MKJ/E-4 
U.S. COAST GUARD 

MOTION 

DEFENSE MOTION TO DISMISS 
AND FOR OTHER APPROPRIATE 

RELIEF 
(Multiplicity and Unreasonable 

Multiplication of Charges) 

23 JUN 21 

Pursuant to R.C.M. 906(b){l2) and 907(b)(3)(B), the Defense moves to dismiss Charge I, 

Specification 2, as it is both multiplicious with and an unreasonable multiplication of the sole 

Specification under Additional Charge I. The Defense also moves this Court, under R.C.M. 

906(b)(12), for appropriate relief from the unreasonable multiplication that exists in three other 

sets of offenses: 

(1) Charge II, Specification 1 and Additional Charge II, Specification 1, alleging two crimes 

based on the same February 26, 2019, unauthorized access of Snapchat account; 

(2) Charge II, Specifications 2 and 3 and Additional Charge II, Specification 2, alleging three 

crimes based on the use of name and image to create social media profiles between 

February 3 and March 6, 2019; and 

(3) Charge II, Specifications 4 and 5 alleging two crimes based on the distribution of

name and image between February 1 and March 31, 2019. 

SUMMARY 

The Government has serially charged MK3 Grijalva twice for the same acts: stating that his 

Apple iWatch was in his locker; accessing  Snapchat account without authorization; 

creating dating profiles purporting to be  without her consent; and non-consensually 
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distributing her image. Because any offense of false official statement is necessarily a lesser 

included offense of obstruction, that Specification must be dismissed. And because all of these 

redundant Specifications are unreasonably multiplied under Quiroz, this Court's relief is 

required. Dismissal of the extraneous Specifications is the appropriate remedy. 

BURDEN 

The burden of proof and persuasion rests on the Defense for this motion. The standard as to 

any factual issue necessary to resolve this motion is to a preponderance of the evidence. RCM 

905(c)(l). 

FACTS 

1. Based on the same statement MK.3 Grijalva made under interrogation by Coast Guard 

Investigative Service (CGIS) agents, the Government has charged him with two offenses: 

a. First, in Specification 2 of Charge I, alleging that he violated Article 131 b, Uniform Code 

of Military Justice (UCMJ), 10 U.S.C. § 931b (2018), when he 

did, at or near Silverdale, Washington, on or about 12 July 2019, wrongfully do a 
certain act, to wit: wrongfully give multiple locations of his Apple Watch which 
contained images of  with intent to impede and obstruct the due administration 
of justice in the case of himself, against whom the accused had reason to believe 
that there were or would be criminal proceedings pending. 

(Charge Sheet at 3, June 17, 2021.) 

b. Second, in Specification of Additional Charge II, 1 alleging that he violated Article 107, 

UCMJ, 10 U.S.C. § 907 (2018), when he 

did, on board Naval Base Kitsap Bangor, on or about 12 July 2019, make to a Coast 
Guard Investigative Service Special Agent an official statement, to wit: that his 
Apple Watch was located in his duty locker in Port Angeles, Washington, which 
statement was totally false, and was then known by the MK.3 Grijalva to be so false. 

1 The Defense has separately moved to dismiss what purport to be "Additional Charges" as they 
were never sworn or properly preferred. Here, we refer for the sake of brevity to the Additional 
Charges as if they were properly before the Court. 
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(Id. at 5.) 

2. Based on the same alleged unauthorized access of BC' s Snapchat account, the 

Government has charged MK.3 Grijalva with two offenses: 

a. First, in Specification 1 of Charge II, alleging that he violated clause 2 of Article 134, 

UCMJ, 10 U.S.C. § 934 (2018), when he 

did, at or near Bremerton,-Washington, between on or about 1 February 2019 and 
on or about 26 February 2019, unlawfully and without authority or permission of 

access the Snapchat account of  and obtained digital images of  an act 
which is of a nature to bring discredit upon the armed forces. 

(Charge Sheet at 4.) 

b. Second, in Specification 2 of Additional Charge II, alleging that he violated 

clause 3 of Article 134, UCMJ when he 

did, at or near Silverdale, Washington, between on or about 3 February 2019 and 
on or about 6 March 2019, knowingly accessed [sic] without authorization a 
computer used in or affecting in~erstate or foreign commerce or communication, to 
wit: accessing without authorization the Snapchat application; that MI<J [Grijalva] 
did so with the intent to defraud; that access without authorization furthered the 
intended fraud; and that MK.3 [Griljalva] obtained anything of value, to wit: images 
of  from her Snapchat profile, in violation 18 U.S. Code Section 1030(a)(4), a 
crime or offense not capital. 

(Charge Sheet at 5.) 

3. Based on the same alleged unauthorized use of name and image, the 

Government has charged MK3 Grijalva with three offenses: 

a. First, in Specification 2 of Charge II, alleging that he violated clause 2 of Article 134, 

UCMJ, when he 

did, at or near Bremerton, Washington, between on or about 3 February 2019 and 
on or about 6 March 2019, unlawfully and without authority or permission of  
create a Tinder profile using the name and image of  an act which is of a nature 
to bring discredit upon the armed forces. 

(Charge Sheet at 4.) 
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b. Second, in Specification 3 of Charge II, alleging that he violated clause 2 of Article 134, 

UCMJ, when he 

did, at or near Bremerton, Washington, between on or about 3 February 2019 and 
on or about 6 March 2019, unlawfully and without authority or permission of  
create an OKCupid dating profile using the name and image of  an act which is 
of a nature to bring discredit upon the armed forces. 

(Charge Sheet at 4.) 

c. Third, in Specification 2 of Additional Charge II, alleging that he violated clause 3 of 

Article 134, UCMJ, when he 

did, at or near Silverdale, Washington, between on or about 3 February 2019 and 
on or about 6 March 2019, knowingly transfer, posses, or use without legal 
authority a means of identification of another person, to wit: name and image 
to create a social media dating application profile; that MK3 Grijalva knew that the 
means of identification belonged to a real person; and that MK3 Grijalva did so 
during and in relation to violation of 18 U.S. Code Section 1343, in violation of 18 
U.S. Code Section 1028A, a crime or offense not capital. 

(Charge Sheet at 5.) 

4. Based on the same alleged distributions of name and image, the Government 

has charged MK3 Grijalva with two offenses: 

a. First, in Specification 4 of Charge II, alleging that he violated clause 3 of Article 134, 

UCMJ, when he 

did, on one or more occasions, between on or about 1 February 2019 to on or about 
31 March 2019, knowingly, wrongfully, and without the explicit consent of  
broadcast an intimate visual image of  who is identifiable from the visual image 
or from information displayed in connection with the visual image, when he knew 
or reasonably should have known that the visual image was made under 
circumstances in which  retained a reasonable expectation of privacy regarding 
any broadcast and when he knew or reasonably should have known that the 
broadcast of the visual image was likely to cause harm, harassment, or emotional 
distress for  or to harm substantially  with respect to her safety, business, 
calling, career, reputation, or personal relationships, an act which is of a nature to 
bring discredit upon the armed forces. 

(Charge Sheet at 4.) 
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b. Second, in Specification 5 of Charge II, alleging that he violated clause 3 of Article 134, 

UCMJ, when he 

did, at or near Bremerton, Washington, on one or more occasions, between on or 
about 1 February 2019 to on or about 31 March 2019, violate Title 9A Washington 
Criminal Code, Chapter 9A.86, Disclosing Intimate Images, by knowingly 
disclosing an intimate image of  who is identifiable from the visual image, 
which was obtained under circumstances in which a reasonable person would know 
or understand that the image was to remain private, which MK3 Grijalva knew or 
should have known that the depicted person,  had not consented to the 
disclosure, and MK3 Grijalva knew or reasonably should have known that the 
disclosure would cause harm to the depicted person, an offense not capital. 

(Charge Sheet at 4.) 

LAW 

a. Courts protect against Double Jeopardy violations from multiplicity error by 
testing whether proof of one charge also proves every element of another-that is, 
when completing the lesser offense is required to commit the greater offense. 

The Fifth Amendment prohibits the Government from obtaining a conviction and punishment 

"under more than one statute for the same act, if it would be contrary to the intent of Congress." 

United States v. Britton, 41 M.J. 195, 197 (C.A.A.F. 1997) (citing United States v. Teters, 37 

M.J. 370, 373 (C.M.A. 1993)), overruled in part on other grounds, United States v. Miller, 61 

M.J. 385,389 (C.A.A.F. 2009); see also Article 44, UCMJ, 10 U.S.C. § 844 (2018). Because of 

this prohibition, the Government may not use multiplicious court-martial charges to punish an 

accused twice for the same act. R.C.M. 907(b)(3)(B); see United States v. Campbell, 71 M.J. 19, 

25 (C.A.A.F. 2012) (Stucky, J., concurring) (noting multiplicity is rooted "in the Constitution's 

Fifth Amendment Double Jeopardy Clause, which provides that no person shall 'be subject for 

the same offence to be twice put in jeopardy of life .or limb'") (quoting U.S. Const. amend. V). 

Where Congressional intent is unclear, this Court's multiplicity test is simple: "A charge is 

multiplicious if the proof of such charge also proves every element of another charge." R.C.M. 

907(b)(3)(B); see also Teters, 37 M.J. at 376-77 (adopting this elements test for Double Jeopardy 
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inquiry into whether Congress intended to allow "multiple convictions at a single trial for 

different statutory violations arising from the same act or transaction") ( citing Blockburger v. 

United States, 284 U.S. 299, 304 (1932)); Campbell, 71 M.J. at 23 ("[T]here is only one form of 

multiplicity, that which is aimed at the protection against double jeopardy as determined using 

the Blockburger/Teters analysis."). 

( 1) Military courts look beyond the statutory elements, into the elements pied, to 
determine whether a charge is a lesser-included offense and therefore 
multiplicious. 

The multiplicity doctrine demands that "an accused may not be convicted and punished for 

two offenses where one is necessarily included in the other, absent congressional intent to permit 

separate punishments." Britton, 4 7 M.J. at 197 ( citations omitted). Although a lesser-included 

offense "must be determined with reference to the elements defined by Congress for the greater 

offense," United States v. Jones, 68 M.J. 465,471 (C.A.A.F. 2010), the analysis depends neither 

on exacting statutory language nor the language pled in the specifications. United States v. 

Arriaga, 70 M.J. 51, 54 (C.A.A.F. 2011) ("The two offenses need not have 'identical statutory 

language. . . . Instead, the meaning of the offenses is ascertained by applying the 'normal 

principles of statutory construction."') (quoting United States v. Alston, 69 M.J. 214,216 

(C.A.A.F. 2010) (internal citation omitted)). 

Rather than bare statutory language, military courts examine the statutory and pled elements 

to determine whether one offense includes another. United States v. Weymouth, 43 M.J. 329, 

340 (C.A.A.F. 1995) ("those elements required to be alleged in the specification, along with the 

. statutory elements, constitute the elements of the offense for the purpose of the elements test"); 

see also Arriaga, 70 M.J. at 55 ("that there may be an 'alternative means of satisfying an element 

in a lesser offense does not preclude it from being a lesser-included offense"') ( quoting United 

States v. McCullough, 348 F.3d 620, 626 (7th Cir. 2004)) (additional citations omitted). 
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Thus, in Arriaga, the Court of Appeals for the Armed Forces affirmed a housebreaking 

conviction as a necessary lesser-included offense of the charged burglary. Id. The Arriaga court 

held that, regardless of the government's means of proving the appellant's intent for either 

offense, housebreaking is included within the burglary because "it is impossible to prove a 

burglary without also proving a housebreaking." Id. 

In United States v. Pa/agar, 56 M.J. 295 (C.A.A.F. 2006), the court used the same rationale 

to reach a converse finding, holding that an officer's Article 121 larceny conviction for using a 

government credit. card for personal purchases was multiplicious of his Article 133 conduct 

unbecoming conviction for using that same card for "unauthorized purchases" when the 

unauthorized purchases were the personal purchases. 56 M.J. at 297; see also United States v. 

Pate, 13 M.J. 352, 353 (C.A.A.F. 2014) (dismissing, based on Jones, assault consummated by 

battery and aggravated assault convictions as necessary lesser included offenses, and therefore 

multiplicious, of aggravated assault and maiming convictions, respectively). 

(2) The multiplicity doctrine forbids the Government even from charging an 
offense and one of its lesser-included offenses, lest acquittal of the lesser 
offense bar conviction on the greater. Dismissal is therefore the only 
appropriate remedy. 

Because conviction on a greater offense necessarily includes conviction of all lesser offenses, 

the Manual directs that a charge and lesser-included offense should not appear on the charge 

sheet. R.C.M. 307(c)(4), Discussion, Manual for Courts-Martial, United States (2019 ed.) ("In 

no case should both an offense and a lesser included offense thereof be separately charged."); see 

also Article 79, UCMJ, 10 U.S.C. § 879 (2019). 

The Discussion to R.C.M. 907(b )(3)(B) suggests that multiplicious offenses need not be 

dismissed before findings, but this hortatory guidance derives from the Rule's clause concerning 

"multiplicious" specifications that are "unnecessary to enable the prosecution to meet the 
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exigencies of proof through trial, review, and appellate action." Such an untenable scenario 

renders this language mere surplusage: no multiplicious specification could ever be necessary to 

meet "exigencies of proof' of different elements. Under Jones, specifications are not 

multiplicious when they have divergent elements. 

Moreover, any demand to retain multiplicious specifications through findings-under the 

auspice of "alternative" contingencies of proof-implicates the Double Jeopardy holdings of 

United States v. Smith, 39 M.J. 448 (C.M.A. 1994), and United States v. Stewart, 71 M.J. 38 

(C.A.A.F. 2012). Those cases proscribe simultaneous convictions and acquittals that are in 

direct conflict with one another. 

In Smith, the military judge convicted the appellant of obstruction of justice-excepting the 

language "and convince her to change her testimony at the preliminary hearing scheduled for 21 

September 1989," and entering a finding, "Of the excepted words, not guilty." 39 M.J. at 449. 

The Army Court of Military Review affirmed, but twice cited as a fact Smith's effort to change 

the testimony of his daughter-the very language excepted by the military judge and for which 

he entered "not guilty" findings. Id. at 450. The Court Military Appeals reversed, finding that 

the Army Court exceeded the scope of its authority under Article 66( c) by findings facts in 

"direct conflict" with the findings of the military judge. Id. at 449,451. 

Stewart extended Smith's double-jeopardy holding to trial findings. There, the military judge 

instructed the members to vote on two separate specifications of sexual assault, but defined each 

offense identically, placing the members "in the untenable position of finding Stewart both guilty 

and not guilty of the same offense." Stewart, 71 M.J. at 43. On review, The Court of Appeals 

for the Armed Forces held: 

[U]nder the unique circumstances of this case, the principles underpinning the 
Double Jeopardy Clause as recognized in United States v. Smith made it impossible 
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for the [Court of Criminal Appeals] to conduct a factual sufficiency review of 
Specification 2 without finding as fact the same facts the members found Stewart 
not guilty of in Specification 1. 

Id. (citing Smith, 39 M.J. 448). 

b. Unlike multiplicity, which addresses constitutional concerns and involves 
statutory interpretation, the prohibition on unreasonable multiplication protects 
against prosecutorial overreach based on a fundamental fairness. 

"What is substantially one transaction should not be made the basis for an unreasonable 

multiplication of charges against one person." R.C.M. 307(c)(4); see United States v. Quiroz, 55 

M.J. 334, 336-39 (C.A.A.F. 2001). This prohibition against unreasonable multiplication of 

charges "has long provided courts-martial and reviewing authorities with a traditional legal 

standard-reasonableness-to address the consequences of an abuse of prosecutorial discretion 

in the context of the unique aspects of the military justice system." Quiroz, 55 M.J. at 338 

(contrasting multiplicity and unreasonable multiplication doctrines); see also United States v. 

Campbell, 71 M.J. 19, 23 (C.A.A.F. 2012) (same). 

( 1) The trial judge is the bulwark against prosecutorial overreach. 

A military judge must "exercise sound judgment to ensure that imaginative prosecutors do 

not needlessly 'pile on' charges against a military accused." United States v. Foster, 40 M.J. 

140, 144 n.4 (C.M.A. 1994), overruled in part on other grounds, United States v. Miller, 61 M.J. 

385 (C.A.A.F. 2009). In service of this obligation, a trial court considers four-factors in testing 

whether charges are unreasonably multiplied: 

• Is each charge and specification aimed at distinctly separate criminal acts? 

• Does the number of charges and specifications misrepresent or exaggerate the 
accused's criminality? 

• Does the number of charges and specifications unfairly increase the accused's 
punitive exposure? 

• Is there any evidence of prosecutorial overreaching or abuse in the drafting of 
the charges? 
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United States v. Anderson, 68 M.J. 378, 386 (C.A.A.F. 2010) (citing Quiroz, 55 M.J. ·at 338) 

(approving "in general" factors as non-exhaustive "guide" for analysis). 

(2) A military court has wide discretion to remedy unreasonable multiplications 
of charges, up to and including dismissal. 

When charges are unreasonably multiplied, a military judge has wide latitude to craft a 

remedy, including dismissing offenses, merging them for findings, or merging offenses only for 

sentencing. United States v. Thomas, 14 M.J. 563, 568 (N-M. Ct. Crim. App. 2014) (citing 

Campbell, 71 M.J. at 25) (concluding military judge had discretion to not dismiss or merge 

specifications for findings but to merge them for sentencing). 

In the Quiroz case where the factors originated, the Navy-Marine Corps Court of Criminal 

Appeals dismissed a conviction for wrongfully disposing of military property by selling C-4, 

which was the same act that led to a conviction for violating 18 U.S.C. § 842. United States v. 

Quiroz, 52 M.J. 510, 513 (N-M. Ct. Crim. App. 1999). Later in United States v. Roderick, the 

Court of Appeals for the Armed Forces reiterated that dismissal is an available and appropriate 

remedy for unreasonable multiplication. 62 M.J. 425, 433-34 (C.A.A.F. 2006). The Roderick 

court dismissed indecent liberties convictions that arose from the same criminal acts-tal<lng 

photographs of underage girls-as the appellant's child pornography convictions under 18 

U.S.C. § 225l(a). Jd.2 

2 See also United States v. Doss, 15 M.J. 409,412 (C.M.A. 1983) (noting that when unreasonable 
multiplication may have impacted verdict "on the merits as to all the multiplied charges-much 
like the threat posed by Justice Marshall-we have not hesitated to set aside all tainted findings 
of guilty") (citing Missouri v. Hunter, 459 U.S. 359, 372 (1983) ("where the prosecution's 
evidence is weak, its ability to bring multiple charges may substantially enhance the possibility 
that, even though innocent, the defendant may be found guiity on one or more charges as a result 
of a compromise verdict") (Marshall, J., dissenting); United States v. Sturdivant, 13 M.J. 323 
(C.M.A. 1982)). 
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Our courts are energetic in protecting against unreasonable multiplication-setting aside 

convictions and dismissing charges even where an accused has entered a guilty plea. See, e.g., 

United States v. Simmons, 10 M.J. 649, 654 (N-M. Ct. Crim. App. 2012) (dismissing convictions 

for uniform violations that unreasonably multiplied a conviction for Joint Ethics Regulation 

violation). The Air Force Court of Criminal Appeals went so far as to set aside convictions and 

dismiss charges after a guilty plea pursuant to a pretrial agreement that required the appellant to 

"waive all waiveable motions," on the grounds that Article 66(c), UCMJ, authorizes appellate 

approval only of those findings that "should be approved." United States v. Chin, ACM 38452 

(recon), 2015 CCA LEXIS 241, at *11-13 (A.F. Ct. Crim. App. June 12, 2015). 

Finally, when convictions result from specifications that were charged for exigencies of 

proof, a military judge must '"consolidate or dismiss [the contingent] specification[s],' not 

merely merge then for sentencing purposes. Thomas, 14 M.J. at 568 (quoting United States v. 

Elespum, 73 M.J. 326, 329-30 (C.A.A.F. 2014)) (additional citation omitted). Where 

consolidation is impractical, military judges are encouraged to conditionally dismiss convictions, 

id. at 570, mindful that "each additional conviction imposes an additional stigma and causes 

additional damage to the defendant's reputation." Doss, 15 M.J. at 412 (citing O 'Clair v. United 

States, 410 F.2d 1199, 1203 (9th Cir. 1972), cert. denied, 412 U.S. 921 (1973). 

ARGUMENT 

a. Because MK3 Grijalva's July 12, 2019, statement to CGIS could have been 
wrongful only if it were knowingly false and because he could have had the intent 
to impede only if he had the intent to deceive, the alleged Article 107 offense is 
necessarily a lesser-included offense of the Article 131 b and must be dismissed. 

Here, the elements of obstruction of justice Charge I, Specification 2 are: 

( 1) That the accused wrongfully did a certain act, to wit: wrongfully give multiple 
locations of his Apple Watch which contained images of
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(2) That the accused did so in the case of himself, against whom the accused had 
reason to believe there were or would be criminal proceedings pending; and 

(3) That the act was done with the intent to impede and obstruct the due 
administration of justice. 

(Charge Sheet at 3); 10 U.S.C. § 93 lb; Manual for Courts-Martial (MCM), United States, Part 
IV, ,r 83.b. (2019 ed.). 

The elements of false official statement in the Specification under Additional Charge I are: 

( 1) That the accused made a certain official statement, to wit: that his Apple Watch 
was located in his duty locker in Port Angeles, Washington; 

(2) That the statement was totally false; 

(3) That the accused knew it to be false at the time of making it; and 

( 4) That the false statement was made with the intent to deceive. 

(Charge Sheet at 5); 10 U.S.C. § 907; MCM, Part N, ,r 41.b.(l). 

There is no indication that Congress intended a servicemember to be subject to multiple 

convictions and punishments under Articles 107 and 131 b for a single statement to law 

enforcement. 

Convicting Petty Officer Grijalva of the Specification under Article 131 b requires finding 

that he made a false official statement to CGIS. If the Government's proof establishes the 

elements of the Article 131 b offense, then the same proof necessarily meets the elements of the 

charged false official statement. The Article 107 offense is therefore a lesser-included offense, 

and is multiplicious, because its elements are entirely contained within Charge I, Specification 2 

obstruction. See Arriaga, 70 M.J. at 54; Pa/agar 56 M.J. at 297; Pate, 73 M.J. at 353. 

In contrast, an acquittal on the Additional Charge I Specification forecloses any possible 

conviction of Charge I, Specification 2. The Government should not be permitted to violate 

Double Jeopardy by seeking an Obstruction of Justice conviction under Charge I, Specification 2 

that, under Smith and Stewart, would force a review authority conducting a factual sufficiency 

12 APPELLATE EXHIBIT ;L/ 
PAGE /;)_ OF 15 PAGE (S) 



review to find as fact the same facts resulting in acquittal under Additional Charge I False 

Official Statement. 

b. Because the four trial-level Quiroz factors weigh in favor of the Defense, relief 
from these unreasonably multiplied charges is warranted. 

The alleged facts in each specification demonstrate that this charging scheme exceeds the 

fairness limits imposed by R.C.M. 307 and Quiroz. 

(1) The Government has charged nine Specifications that target four separate acts: 
two arising from a single statement to CGIS, two addressing unauthorized 
access o  snapchat account, three from the use of  name and image 
in social media, and tw~ more based on the same distributions of her image. 

Each of these four batches of charges facially addresses the same acts. Moreover, evidence 

adduced at trial will demonstrate that each batch of charges is proved by the same conduct. The 

first Quiroz factor therefore weighs in favor of the Defense for each tranche of these 

unreasonably multiplied charges. 

(2) The over-exaggeration of any possible criminality arising from these distinct 
acts also unfairly multiplies MK3 Griialva's punitive exposure. 

The gravamen of the charged offenses here is that in early 2019, MK3 Grijalva took

private photos without her consent and distributed them online. But the Government's charging 

scheme-alleging that four acts constitute nine violations of six different provisions in the 

UCMJ, Title 18 of the United States Code, and Washington State Code-both exaggerates any 

straightforward accounting of the purported misconduct and grossly multiplies MK3 Grijalva's 

punitive exposure of fifty-two years of confinement. 3 These factors thus weigh in favor of the 

Defense. 

3 Five years each for the Article 107 and 131 b violations; four months for the Article 134 clause 
2 offense in Charge II, Specification 1 and five years for its multiplied Article 134 clause 3 
offense of violating 18 U.S.C. § 1030(a)(4); four months each for the Article 134 clause 2 
offenses in Charge II, Specifications 2 and 3 and 22 years for their multiplied Article 134 clause 
3 offense of violating of 18 U.S.C. §§ 1028A and 1343; and seven years for the Charge II, 
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(3) There is evidence of prosecutorial overreaching in the drafting of these 
charges, which originally included Article 121 larceny allegations and which 
have been multiplied by the addition of unswom charges. 

The final trial-level Quiroz factor tends to encompass all the others, as the unreasonable 

multiplication test itself is designed to cure prosecutorial overreach. Quiroz, 55 M.J. at 337, 

("[T]he prohibition against unreasonable multiplication of charges addresses those features of 

military law that increase the potential for overreaching in the exercise of prosecutorial 

discretion."). But even this factor weighs in favor of the Defense here, because evidence of 

prosecutorial overreach exists in three places. First, the Government originally alleged that MK.3 

Grijalva had "stolen" digital images from  and money from two men. When those allegations 

of larceny could not survive even bare probable cause hurdle, the Government added an 

additional sheet of charges, none of which has ever been sworn. (See Def. Mot. to Dismiss for 

Defective Referral, July 7, 2021.) Second, at least one of these Specifications arrives at this 

court despite the Preliminary Hearing Officer's finding that it was not supported by probable 

cause. (See id., encl. C.) Third, and as raised in a separate Defense motion, in the Specifications 

alleging novel violations of Article 134 under Charge II, the Government has far exceeded the 

bounds of Due Process notice requirements, "stacking" charges against MK.3 Grijalva not with 

firmly articulated punitive articles, but with novel language that serves only to exaggerate MK3 

Grijalva's criminality beyond the bounds enacted by Congress or articulated by the President. 

(4) Dismissal is the appropriate remedy. 

This Court may remedy unreasonably multiplied charges prior to the findings stage by 

dismissing the lesser offenses or merging all offenses into one. R.C.M. 906(b)(l2); Roderick., 

Specification 4 offense of violating Article 134 in a manner closely related to Article 117a, 
UCMJ, see United States v. Page, 80 M.J. 760 (N-M. Ct. Crim. App. 2021) and 364 days for the 
Charge II, Specification 5 offense of violating R.C.W. 9A.86. See R.C.W. 9.92.020. 
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62 M.J. at 433. Either remedy works the same effect here, but dismissal is the cleanest approach, 

both to enforce the unreasonable multiplication doctrine as well as to eliminate the confusion and 

redundancy at trial caused by unreasonable multiplication. 

RELIEF REQUESTED 

In the absence of remedies arising from other Defense motions, the Defense requests that the 

Military Judge dismiss: 

( 1) Additional Charge I, Specification 1, alleging an Article 107 violation, as a multiplicious 

lesser-included offense of Charge I, Specification 2, alleging Article 131 b obstruction of justice; 

(2) Charge II, Specification l, alleging Article 134 unauthorized access of  Snapchat 

account, as an unreasonable multiplication of Additional Charge II, Specification 1, alleging the 

same to perpetuate a fraud in violation of 18 U.S.C. §§ 1030(a)(4; 

(3) Charge II, Specifications 2 and 3, alleging Article 134 unauthorized use of  name 

and image to create social media accounts, as unreasonable multiplications of Additional Charge 

II, Specification 2, alleging the same in violation of 18 U.S.C. §§ 1028A and 1343; and 

( 4) Charge II, Specification 5, alleging unauthorized distribution of intimate images in 

violation of Washington State Code, as an unreasonable multiplication of Charge II, 

Specification 4, alleging the same in violation of Article 134 clause 2. 

EVIDENCE & ORAL ARGUMENT 

Unless the Government concedes the Motion or this Court grants the relief on the basis of 

pleadings alone, the Defense requests oral argument on this matter. 

B.D.ADAMS 
LCDR, JAGC, USN 
Detailed Defense Counsel 

15 APPELLATE EXHIBIT~/ 
PAGEI:i_ OF !§_PAGE (S) 



UNITED STATES COAST GUARD TRIAL JUDICIARY 
GENERAL COURT-MARTIAL 

UNITED ST ATES 

v. 

MARKJ. GRIJALVA 
Machinery Technician Third Class 

U.S. Coast Guard 

GOVERNMENT RESPONSE TO 
DEFENSE MOTION TO DISMISS 

AND FOR OTHER APPROPRIATE 
RELIEF 

(Multiplicity and Unreasonable 
Multiplication of Charges): 

25 Au ust 2021 

RELIEF SOUGHT 

The government respectfully requests the military judge deny the defense's requested 

relief for dismissal of the following charges and specifications: 

Original Offenses on the 17 June 2021 Charge Corresgonding Offenses on the 16 July 2021 
Sheet Charne Sheet 

Charge II, Specification 1 Charge III, Specification 1 

Charge II, Specification 2 Charge III, Specification 2 

Charge III, Specification 3 Charge III, Specification 3 

Charge II, Specification 5 Charge III, Specification 5 

Additional Charge I, Specification 1 Charge I, Sole Specification 

HEARING 

The government does not concede the defense's motion and requests an opportunity to 

fully articulate its position orally before the military judge. 

BURDEN OF PERSUASION AND BURDEN OF PROOF 

The defense bears the burden of demonstrating by a preponderance of the evidence that 

the charges are multiplicious and the unreasonably multiplied. R.C.M. 905(c). The defense also 

bears the burden of persuasion. R.C.M. 905(c)(2). 
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LEGAL AUTHORITY AND ARGUMENT 

1. Statements Regarding the Whereabouts of Petty Officer Girjalva 's Apple iWatch 

The offenses do not violate the prohibition against double jeopardy because they are 

distinctly separate acts. "The Fifth Amendment's Double Jeopardy Clause precludes a court, 

contrary to the intent of Congress, from imposing multiple conviction·s and punishments under 

different statutes for the same act or course of conduct." U.S. v. Coleman, 79 M.J. 100, 102-103 

(C.A.A.F. 2019) (citing U.S. v. Teters, 37 M.J. 370, 377 (1993)). The Court in Teters adopted the 

separate elements test articulated by the Supreme Court in Blockburger v. United States, 284 U.S. 

299 ( 1932). Id. Accordingly, for more than a quarter century we have used the Blockburger test to 

determine whether specifications are multiplicious. Id. 

In Blockburger, the Supreme Court stated: "The applicable rules is that where the same act 

or transaction constitutes a violation of two distinct statutory provisions, the test to be applied to 

determine whether there are two offenses or only one, is whether each provision requires proof of 

a fact which the other does not." [emphasis added] Blockburger, 284 U.S. at 304. 

The Specification of Charge I I is not necessarily included in Specification 2 of Charge 

112
• The government does not allege Petty Officer Grijalva's initial false statement to an 

investigative agent about his Apple iWatch being in his duty locker is part of the act that 

constitutes obstruction of justice. As the government will provide more fully in a bill of 

particulars, the "multiple locations" referenced in Specification 2 of Charge II are 1) a bag that 

existed somewhere other than in his duty locker, and (2) a Gamestop store in Silverdale, 

Washington. For purposes of Specification 2 of Charge II, the government does not allege that 

1 The defense mistakenly refers to this offense as the Specification of Additional Charge II when originally it was 
the Specification of Additional Charge I. It has been reordered as the Specification of Charge I. 
2 The defense refers to this offense as Specification 2 of Charge I. It has been reordered as Specification 2 of Charge 
II .. 
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MK3 Grijalva's duty locker is one of the multiple locations. Therefore, the two offenses are not 

the same act, and the alleged false official statement is not necessarily included in the obstruction 

of justice allegation. 

2. The Remaining Claims of Unreasonable Multiplication of Charges 

The remaining assertions of unreasonable multiplication of charges fail for a similar 

reason. With the exception of Specifications 4 and 5 of Charge III, all remaining offenses are 

aimed at separate criminal acts that address "distinct criminal purpose[s]." United States v. 

Campbell, 71 M.J. 19, 24 (C.A.A.F. 2012). 

Snapchat 

Charge III, Specification 13 is about unauthorized access of  Snapchat account. 

Charge III, Specification 64 is about fraud committed using her Snapchat account. These are 

plainly separate acts with separate elements. MK3 Grijalva's punitive exposure is not unfairly 

increased as the maximum punishments correspond to the severity of the offenses as reflected by 

their separate elements. 

Dating/matchmaking sites 

Much like the matter with Snapchat, Charge III, Specifications 2 and 35 are about the 

unauthorized use of name and image to create profiles on two different online dating 

services. Charge III, Specification 76 is about identity theft, creating unauthorized online profiles 

with an intent to commit fraud. Again, these are separate acts with separate elements with the 

more severe punishment for the more severe crime. 

3 The defense refers to this offense as Specification 1 of Charge II. 
4 The defense mistakenly refers to this offense as Specification 2 of Additional Charge II when originally it was 
Specification 1 of Additional Charge II. 
5 The defense refers to these offenses as Specifications 2 and 3 of Charge II. 
6 The defense refers to this offense as Specification 2 of Additional Charge II. 
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The wrongful sharing of images 

Charge III, Specifications 4 and 57 are about the wrongful sharing of a specific type of 

image belonging to However, these offenses are pied for contingencies of law. The 

government concedes that Specification 5 of Charge III may be dismissed should the military 

judge find that Specification 4 of Charge Ill is not preempted by Article 117a, UCMJ; IO U.S.C. 

§ 917a. If, rather, Specification 4 of Charge III is preempted by Article 117a, UCMJ, then the 

government would proceed on Specification 5 of Charge III. 

CONCLUSION 

Because none of the offenses are either multiplicious or unreasonably multiplied with any 

other, the government respectfully requests the military judge deny the defense's requested 

relief. 

Isl Case A. Colaw 
CASE A. COLAW 
Lieutenant, USCG 
Trial Counsel 

7 The defense refers to these offenses as Specifications 4 and 5 of Charge II. 
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************************************************************************** 

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

I hereby certify that a true and accurate copy of the above was served on the below listed 

individuals via electronic mail on 25 August 2021. 

CAPT Diane M. Croff, USCG 
Mi I itary Judge 

LCDR Benjamin Adams, USN, JAGC 
Detailed Defense Counsel 

CDR Justin Henderson, USN, JAGC 
Detailed Defense Counsel 

LCDR Terrence Thornburgh, USCG 
Special Victims Counsel 

LT Adam Jaffe, USCG 
Special Victims Counsel 

/s/ Case A. Colaw 
CASE A. COLAW 
Lieutenant, USCG 
Trial Counsel 
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UNITED STATES COAST GUARD TRIAL JUDICIARY 
GENERAL COURT-MARTIAL 

UNITED STATES 

v. 

MARKJ. GRIJALVA 
MK3/E-4 
U.S. NAVY 

DEFENSE MOTION TO DISMISS OR 
GRANT OTHER APPROPRIATE 

RELIEF 
(Speedy Trial) 

11 AUG21 

MOTION 

Pursuant to the Sixth Amendment, R.C.M. 707, and R.C.M. 907(b )(2)(A), the Defense 

moves to dismiss all Charges and Specifications because the Government has violated MK3 

Grijalva' s right to a speedy trial. Alternatively, the Defense moves the Court to modify the Trial 

Management Order to set trial for the earliest available date. 

SUMMARY 

The conduct underlying the Charges here occurred in February 2019. Under Coast Guard 

Investigative Service (CGIS) interrogation in July 2019, MK3 Grijalva admitted committing the 

acts at issue. Since then, he has been serving in duties substantially out of his rate, doing menial 

tasks first aboard Naval Base Kitsap-Bangor, where he resides, and, beginning in August 2020, 

74 miles away in Seattle, where he does not. The Government did not prefer Charges, however, 

until March 2021, nearly twenty months after his admissions to CGIS. In June 2021, the same 

day that Charges were referred, MK3 Grijalva made an unambiguous demand for Speedy Trial 

under the Sixth Amendment and R.C.M. 707. The Government functionally rejected that 

demand: citing unspecified difficulties with counsel and witness availability, the Government 

could not be ready for trial any earlier than September, more than two months after the 

expiration of the R.C.M. 707 120-day clock. When Defense Counsel objected to that proposed 
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week of trial, the Government again claimed it could not be ready for trial any time earlier than 

November-and the Military Judge ordered that trial begin on November 15, almost four months 

after the expiration of the 120-day clock and more than two years after MK3 Grijalva resolved 

nearly any factual dispute as to the issues. 

BURDEN 

The Government has the burden to establish compliance with R.C.M. 707. R.C.M. 

905(c)(2)(B). 

FACTS 

1. Investigation. On March 20, 2019, CGIS received notice that Anaheim Police Department 

was investigating MK3 Grijalva for taking and distributing intimate pictures of (Encl. A.). 

a. On July 12, 2019, CGIS Special Agents interviewed MIG Grijalva in Bangor, 

Washington. (Encl. A.) 

b. During that interview, MK3 Grijalva admitted to guessing the password to and obtaining 

images from  Snapchat account and sharing those images with others in exchange for 

money. (Encl. B.) 

2. Reassignment pending charges. For the next thirteen months after his admissions to CGIS, 

MK.3 Grijalva began working out of his rate, doing groundskeeping and other labor like mowing 

grass aboard Naval Base Kitsap Bangor. (Encl. C.) 

a. In August 2020, MK3 Grijalva was transferred to Coast Guard Base Seattle, where was 

assigned other basic duties outside the Machinist's Mate rating. (Encl. C.) 

b. Despite the transfer, believing his disciplinary proceedings to be nearing an end, thirteen 

months after his admissions to CGIS, MK3 Grijalva maintained his residence aboard Naval Base 

Kitsap-Bangor, a 74-mile drive away from Coast Guard Base Seattle. (Encl. C.) 
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3. Prereferral actions. On March 5, 2020, CGIS marked the investigation as "Cleared," though 

that did not lead directly to court-martial Charges. (Encl. A.). 

a. Almost six months later, on August 28, 2020, the CGIS Report of Investigation was 

provided to Legal Services Command Alameda. (Encl. D.). 

b. The Government did not prefer Charges against MK3 Grijalva until March 4, 2021. 

(Original Charge Sheet at 1, June 17, 2021.) 

c. Despite MK3 Grijalva's waiver of the Article 32 hearing on April 28, 2021 (encl. E), the 

Convening Authority did not refer Charges to this court-martial until June 17, 2021. (Original 

Charge Sheet at 2.) 

4. Post-referral actions. The same day as referral, aware of the glacial pace of these 

proceedings, MIO Grijalva demanded a speedy trial, to no effect. (See Def. Demand for Speedy 

Trial, June 23, 2021.) 

a. In his demand, MK3 Grijalva requested that his case be docketed for trial any of the three 

weeks before the R.C.M. 707 120-day clock ran on July 23, 2021. 

b. The Government demurred, claiming that it was not ready or available for trial on those 

weeks. (Encl. F.) 

c. Instead, during an R.C.M. 802 scheduling conference later summarized by the Military 

Judge on the Record, Trial Counsel sought only to arraign MK3 Grijalva on July 7, 2021, and 

requested that trial begin almost two months later, in mid-September 2021, despite the Defense's 

availability on any of at least four weeks for trial between July 23 and September 13. 

d. At that scheduling conference, the Military Judge granted Trial Counsel's request to 

arraign on July 7 and postpone trial proceedings until a later date. 
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e. The day of arraignment, where the Defense again demanded a speedy trial, the Military 

Judge signed a Trial Management Order over the Defense's objection, which directed trial to 

begin November 15, 2021-almost four months after the original 120-day clock ran. (Trial 

Management Order, July 7, 2021.) 

f. As of this pleading, the Government has never provided any evidence or made any other 

factual showing supporting why trial could not begin before July 23, 2021. 

5. Withdrawal and re-referral. Nine days after arraignment, on July 16, 2021, attempting to 

repair its defective original referral of unswom "Additional Charges," the Convening Authority 

withdrew all the Charges. 

a. The same day as the withdrawal, the Convening Authority re-referred the original 

properly-sworn Charges and Specifications to this same court-martial, and joined them with the 

previously-unsworn and now newly-preferred "Additional Charges." (Second Charge Sheet at 2, 

July 16, 2021.) 

b. On July 22, 2021, the Military Judge re-arraigned MK.3 Grijalva on those same original 

properly-sworn Charges and Specifications and the newly-sworn Charges and Specifications. 

c. Neither the Convening Authority nor the Military Judge obtained MK3 Grijalva's waiver 

to the joinder of the newly-sworn Charges and Specifications. 

d. At arraignment Petty Officer Grijalva stood on his previous election of forum, and the 

Trial Management Order remained unchanged-trial is still scheduled for November 15, 2021. 

6. Denial of reassignment. The next week after the second arraignment, MK3 Grijalva's 

command denied his request to be re-assigned duties at Naval Base Kitsap-Bangor, where he 

worked while under investigation from July 2019 to August 2020. (Encl. C.) 
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LAW 

a. The President augments the Sixth Amendment's "speedy triaI" guarantee by 
reguiring the Government to bring a court-martial accused to "trial" within 120 
days after preferral of charges. 

"R.C.M. 707, Article 10, UCMJ, and the Sixth Amendment provide a cohesive and 

sometimes overlapping framework for the protection of an accused's speedy trial rights." United 

States v. Wilder, 15 M.J. 135, 138 (C.A.A.F. 2016) (citing United States v. Tippit, 65 M.J. 69, 

72-73 (C.A.A.F. 2007). 

1. An accused's constitutional right to a speedy trial, which starts at preferral and 
extends until trial, is subject to the four-factor analysis established in Barker v. 
Wingo. 407 U.S. 514, 530 0972). 

An accused's Sixth Amendment speedy-trial protections are generally triggered at court­

martial upon preferral. United States v. Danylo, 73 M.J. 183, 186 (C.A.A.F. 2014) (citing United 

States v. Vogan, 35 M.J. 32, 33 (C.M.A. 1992)). "[T]rial stops the speedy trial clock for Article 

10, UCMJ, and the Sixth Amendment." Wilder, 15 M.J. at 138 (internal citations omitted). 

Courts test for Sixth Amendment speedy-trial violations using the four-factor test set forth in 

Barker v. Wingo. See id. The four factors are: "(1) the length of the delay; (2) the reasons for 

the delay; (3) whether the appellant made a demand for a speedy trial; and (4) prejudice to the 

appellant." Danylo, 73 M.J. at 186 (citations omitted). 

2. Our courts blessed a seven-day lapse between a Day-119 arraignment and trial 
in Doty. but no case stands for the proposition that the Government may hold 
an arraignment, forestall the merits phase over the accused's speedy trial­
demand for months after Day 120. and still satisfy R.C.M. 707. 

Under R.C.M. 707(a), there is a bright-line rule: "The accused shall be brought to trial within 

120 days after ... [p ]referral of charges." R.C.M. 707(a)(l ). Failure to do so requires dismissal 

of the affected charges. R.C.M. 707. That Rule also provides, "The accused is brought to trial 

within the meaning of this rule at the time of arraignment under R.C.M. 904." R.C.M. 707(b)(l). 
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Thus, in the absence of a "sham," United States v. Doty, 51 M.J. 464,465 (C.A.A.F. 1999), an 

arraignment that satisfies R.C.M. 904 '"stops' the speedy trial clock for purposes of R.C.M. 

101." Wilder, 75 M.J. at 138 (citing United States v. Leahr, 73 M.J. 364, 367 (C.A.A.F. 2014)). 

In Doty, the Government succeeded in arraigning the appellant on Day 119, though it was not 

ready to begin trial on the merits until seven days later. 51 M.J. at 464. Thereafter, the Court of 

Appeals for the Armed Forces rejected the appellant's argument that trial did not begin until Day 

126, rendering the Day-119 arraignment a "sham." Instead, recognizing week-long gap between 

arraignment and the merits phase of trial, the Doty court adopted the trial judge's reasoning that 

R.C.M. 707 allows for "a lapse in time between arraignment and trial" and held that the 

arraignment in that case was "properly conducted and not a 'sham."' Id. at 465. 

In the two decades since Doty, courts applying its reasoning have continued to bless 

arraignments occurring just before the 120-day clock followed by short lapses until trial. See, 

e.g., United States v. Gammon, No. NMCCA 200800324, 2009 CCA LEXIS 108, at *6-8 (N-M 

Ct. Crim. App. Apr. 21, 2009) (arraignment occurring on Day 112 after excludable delay, 

followed by motions session eighteen days later and merits phase two weeks after that); United 

States v. Simmons, No. ARMY 20070486, 2009 CCA LEXIS 301, at *78 (A. Ct. Crim. App. 

Aug. 12, 2009) (arraignment occurring on Day 107 and trial four weeks later on Day 135). 

No court, however, has held that a "stand-alone" arraignment excuses the Government from 

its fundamental, constitutional speedy-trial obligations, particularly in the face of an accused's 

demand for speedy trial-largely due to the military judge's "power and responsibility to force 

the Government to proceed with its case if justice so requires." United States v. Cooper, 58 M.J. 

54, 60 (C.A.A.F. 2003). The Cooper court, even after noting in dicta that the Government's duty 

under R.C.M. 707 is "no more and no less" than "to arraign an accused within 120 days of 
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preferral of charges or pretrial confinement, or face dismissal of the charges," still reversed a 

lower court which had ignored that speedy trial protections must extend "far beyond 

arraignment." Id. (relying on Sixth Amendment for "baseline" standard supported, by 80-day 

limit in Speedy Trial Act, 18 U.S.C. § 3161, for "period between arraignment and trial"). 

3. Dismissal is the sole remedy for constitutional or regulatory speedy­
violations, though dismissal with prejudice is not necessarily required under 
an R.C.M. 707. 

"The charges must be dismissed with prejudice where the accused has been deprived of his 

or her constitutional right to a speedy trial." R.C.M. 707(d)(l). 

Where the Government exceeds the R.C.M. 707 120-day speedy trial clock, "[d]ismissal will 

be with or without prejudice to the government's right to reinstitute court-martial proceedings 

against the accused for the same offense at a later date." Id. The President lists the following 

factors when evaluating the remedy: "the seriousness of the offense; the facts and circumstances 

of the case that lead to dismissal; the impact of a re-prosecution on the administration of justice; 

and any prejudice to the accused resulting from the denial of a speedylrial." Id. 

a. R.C.M. 604(b) authorizes a convening authority to re-refer withdrawn Charges to 
another court-martial, but not the same court-martial. 

The President directs, "Charges that have been withdrawn from a court-martial may be 

referred to another court-martial unless the withdrawal was for an improper reason." R.C.M. 

604(b) ( emphasis added). Since Congress implemented our Uniform Code, military courts have 

abided by the statutory interpretation canon of expressio unius est exclusio alterius (the inclusion 

of one is the exclusion of others). See United States v. Mooney, 77 M.J. 252, 257 (C.A.A.F. 

2018); United States v. Huff, 19 C.M.R. 603, 608 (C.G.B.R. 1955). Thus, recognizing the 

President's limited express grant of re-referral powers, the Court of Appeals for the Armed 

Forces has interpreted the Rule to mean, "Unless the charges are withdrawn for an 'improper 
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reason,' the convening authority may re-refer the withdrawn charges to a different court-martial." 

United States v. Williams, 55 M.J. 302, 304 (C.A.A.F. 2001) (emphasis added); see also United 

States v. Shakur, 77 M.J. 758, 762-63 (A. Ct. Crim. App. 2018) ("While the power to withdraw 

is unfettered, the ability to re-refer those charges is more limited."). 

ARGUMENT 

a. The Government's dilatory prosecution of this case, especially after referral of 
Charges, has violated MK3 Griialva's right to a Speedy Trial under the Sixth 
Amendment. 

The Barker factors weigh in favor of the Defense. First, charges were preferred on March 4, 

2021, and trial is now set to begin November 15, 2021. Even allowing for twenty days of 

Defense-attributed delay before the Article 32 hearing, a trial date that reflects eight months to 

prosecute a relatively simple set of offenses-with minimal dispute as to the facts, in light of 

MK3 Grijalva's voluntary July 2019 admissions-is unreasonable. The Government can point 

to no good reason for any period of delay here, and MK3 Grijalva has unambiguously and 

repeatedly demanded a speedy trial since the June 17 referral. Finally, although it is not yet 

apparent whether the ~easonable delay has imperiled MK3 Grijalva's ability to any defense, 

certainly he has suffered due to the Government's slothful pace. He continues to commute to 

work 74 miles daily from the residence he maintained in August 2020 with the expectation that, 

a year after his CGIS admissions, it would not take over another year to prosecute him. 

b. The Government's refusal of MK3 Griialva's speedy trial demand, and the 
Military Judge's acquiescence, resulted in a trial date four months after 
arraignment, rendering that proceeding a "sham" as understood by Doty and 
exceeding R.C.M. 707 clock, which began at the March 4, 2021 preferral date. 

The Charges before this Court are the ones preferred on March 4, 2021. The Second Charge 

Sheet is a nullity, given that the Convening Authority lacked the power to re-refer the original 

charges this same court-martial after withdrawal, RC.M. 604(b ), and MK3 Grijalva, after 
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arraignment, never consented to the joinder of the "Additional Charges." (See Def. Mot. to 

Dismiss for Improper Joinder, Aug. 4, 2021.) 

Nor did the Government treat the July 7, 2021, courtroom evolution as a proper arraignment. 

Aside from setting a trial date over four months in the futur~ver the Defense's objection-the 

Convening Authority withdrew the Charges nine days after the "arraignment" and then re­

referred them to this same court-martial. The endless series of missteps continues to plague the 

Government's attempts to bring charges here: each of the remaining charges continues to suffer 

serial defects. (See Def. Mot. to Dismiss for Failure to State on Offense, Aug. 10, 2021; Def. 

Mot. for Approp. Relief from Article 32 & 34 Errors, Aug. 10, 2021; Def. Mot. to Dismiss for 

Multiplicity & Unreasonable Multiplication, July 7, 2021; Def. Mot. to Dismiss for Due Process 

Defects, July 7, 2021.) 

As Doty envisioned the possibility of a "sham" arraignment in which no upcoming trial 

proceedings were contemplated, this case provides the exemplar: trial on the merits remains only 

a mirage, some distance in a hazy future. And the Cooper backstop that ensures R.C.M. 707 is 

not a mere administrative nicety-the trial judge's power to direct compliance with an accused's 

speedy trial demands-is absent here, as the Government has never made the barest showing for 

why it could not try MK3 Grijalva in July 2021. 

c. Dismissal with prejudice is required for the Sixth Amendment violation and 
appropriate for the R.C.M. 707 violation given the penalty that MK3 Grijalva has 
already paid for discrete misconduct that is now over two-and-a-half years old. 

Because the Government violated MK3 Grijalva's Sixth Amendment right to a speedy trial, 

the sole remedy is dismissal with prejudice. R.C.M. 707( d)(l ) . 

. As to the remedy for the R.C.M. 707 violation, dismissal with prejudice is also the correct 

relief. Without minimizing the impact upon  whose private images are at issue in this case, 

the offenses at issue here are relatively minor, non-contact matters that resulted in small financial 
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value. The reasons for the violation are pure administrative oversight and lack of diligence: this 

investigation ended two years ago and very few facts remain in dispute. A re-prosecution of 

MK.3 Grijalva only allows the Government another opportunity to bring the same additional 

overblown Title 18 charges it sought to shoehorn into the Article 32 hearing and then referred 

despite being unsworn. And the denial of speedy trial will continue to adversely impact MK.3 

Grijalva, who was transferred to Coast Guard Base Seattle in August 2020, and still must finance 

his own travel there from Bangor every work day. 

RELIEF REQUESTED 

This Court should bring a termination to these trial proceedings, needlessly-prolonged by a 

Government delay and multiple errors, and dismiss the Charges. Alternatively if this Court finds 

no speedy trial violation, it should direct trial to commence immediately. 

EVIDENCE & ARGUMENT 

The Defense offers the following enclosures as evidence in support of this motion: 

A. CGIS report of Investigation, August 25, 2020 

B. CGIS Interview ofMK.3 Grijalva, July 12, 2019 

C. Declaration ofMK3 Grijalva, August 11, 2021 

D. Transmittal of CGIS Report of Investigation dtd August 28, 2020 

E. Article 32 Waiver, April 28, 2021 

F. Email thread regarding trial dates, June 2021 

Unless the Government concedes the motion or this Court grants the relief on the basis of 

pleadings alone, the Defense requests oral argument on this matter . 

. C. ENDERSON 
CDR, JAGC, USN 
Asst. Detailed Defense Counsel 
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GENERAL COURT-MARTIAL 
UNITED STATES COAST GUARD 

UNITED ST A TES GOVERNMENT RESPONSE TO 
DEFENSE MOTION TO DISMISS OR 

GRANT OTHER APPROPRIATE 
RELIEF 

v. 

MARK J. GRIJALVA (SPEEDY TRIAL) 
Machinery Technician Third Class 
U.S. Coast Guard 24 August 2021 

RELIEF SOUGHT 

The government moves this Court to DENY the defense motion to dismiss for denial of 

speedy trial because: (I) the accused was brought to trial within the 120 day Speedy Trial Clock 

when he was arraigned on 16 July, in accordance with R.C.M. 707; and (2) the accused's Sixth 

Amendment rights have not been violated. 

HEARING 

The government respectfully requests oral argument. 

BURDEN OF PERSUASION AND PROOF 

According to R.C.M. 905(c)(2)(B), the government bears the burden of persuasion for 

this motion. 

STATEMENT OF FACTS 

1. Preferral of charges. 04 March 2021 the government preferred multiple charge for 

violations of the UCMJ against MK3 Mark J. Grijalva. 

a. On 17 March 2021, the convening authority designated a preliminary hearing 

officer and scheduled the preliminary hearing to take place on 15 April 2021 in 

Seattle, WA. Exhibit 1. 
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b. On 19 March 2021, the parties and preliminary hearing officer held a scheduling 

phone call. During this call, the defense stated they would request a continuance. 

2. Defense submits continuance of Article 32 preliminary hearing. On 29 March 2021, the 

defense submitted a request for delay of the preliminary hearing until 5 May 2021. In the 

request the defense stated: "'The Defense accepts all delay against relevant speedy trial 

clocks arising from this request." The preliminary hearing officer granted the request and 

scheduled the preliminary hearing for 5 May 2021 in Seattle, WA. Exhibits 2 and 3. 

a. On 28 April 2021, MK3 Grijalva submitted an unconditional waiver of 

preliminary hearing to the convening authority. Exhibit 4. 

b. On 29 April 2021, the convening authority directed the preliminary hearing be 

conducted notwithstanding MK3 Grijalva's unconditional waiver. Exhibit 5. 

3. Article 32 preliminary hearing. On 05 May 2021, the preliminary hearing officer 

conducted a preliminary hearing under Article 32, UCMJ. 

a. On 19 May 2021, the preliminary hearing officer completed his report and 

submitted it to the convening authority and all parties via email correspondence. 

Exhibit 6. 

b. On 14 June 2021, D 13 Staff Judge Advocate provided advice under Article 34, 

UCMJ to RADM A. J. Vogt, Commander, USCG Dl3. 

4. Referral of charges. On 17 June 2021, RADM A. J. Vogt referred charges. 

a. On 22 June 2021, trial counsel submitted a docketing request. Exhibit 7. 

5. Speedy trial demand. On the afternoon of23 June 2021, the defense filed a speedy trial 

demand, requesting trial for 6, 12, or 19 July. Exhibit 8. 

APPELLATE EX~IBIT .;;i..7 
Gvt Response to Defense Motion to Dismiss or Grant Other Appropriate Relief (Sr~'f1it~ OF fz::.. PAGE (S) 



a. On 24 June 202 1, the Chief Trial Judge, CA PT Ted Fowles, responded to the 

defense filing by not ifying all pa11ies that CDR Paul Casey had been detailed as 

military judge and was prepared for trial to commence on 19 July. Exhibit 9. 

6. R.C.M. 802. On 25 June 202 1, the military judge, CDR Paul Casey, and the parties 

conducted an RCM 802. Exhibits 10-11. During that call, trial counsel confirmed that 

witnesses and trial counsel were unavai lable fo r jury trial during the month of July. Trial 

counsel also noted that the parties expected there would be severa l issues to be litigated 

prior to trial given the complex ity of the charges, and it would be prudent to allow time 

for the Court to issue rulings that would affect the evidence at trial. The military judge 

scheduled an arraignment for 7 July and directed the parties to work on a draft Trial 

Management Order. 

a. The court did not ask for specifics during the R.C.M. 802, however, prior to the 

scheduling call, trial counsel confirmed that government witness, Detective 

of the Anaheim Police Department, was unavailable for the week 

of 12 July, specifically 13-16 July, because of his duties. In addition, government 

witness,  was unavailable on 16 July due to the funeral of an 

extended fami ly member to take place on 17 July. 

b. Trial Counse l and Assistant Trial Counse l LCDR Taylor were unava ilable during 

week of 19 July due to other trials scheduled to begin that week. 

7. Drafting the Trial ManaQement Order. On the morning of 29 June 202 1, trial counsel sent 

a draft Trial Management Order (TMO) to Defense via email correspondence proposing 
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trial begin on 13 September 2021, in Seattle, with an Article 39(a) hearing for motions to 

occur on 11 August 2021. Exhibit 12. 

a. Defense responded via email with a draft TMO setting trial for 23 July 2021, 

which had already been rejected by the military judge during the R.C.M. 802 call 

on 25 June. Exhibit 13. Defense counsel also informed that they were unavailable 

for both motions on 11 August and Trial during th~ week of 13 September, and 

then provided additional dates of unavailability for the months of August and 

September. 

b. On Friday 2 July, 2021, after consulting with witnesses and special victims 

counsel, Trial counsel emailed the military judge proposing that trial commence 

on 27 September and attached another draft TMO. Exhibit 14. Subsequent to this 

email, defense counsel emailed trial counsel informing that the defense was 

unavailable during the week of 27 September. Exhibit 15. The parties exchanged 

emails and calls over the holiday weekend to determine another trial date. 

c. On Tuesday 6 July, Trial counsel emailed the military judge and proposed another 

TMO based on weekend discussions with defense counsel, witness availability, 

SVCs' schedules, the Court's schedule, and all trial counsels' schedule. Exhibit 

16. This resulted in the current TMO dates, with a trial date set for 15 November 

2021. 

d. Defense counsel objected and requested the earliest possible trial date, subject 

only to the weeks they were unavailable from August through November. 
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Notwithstanding defense counsel's objection, the court signed the TMO on 6 July 

2021. Exhibit 17. 

8. First Arraignment. On 7 July 2021, an arraignment took place with all parties 

participating remotely. During the arraignment, defense counsel filed multiple motions, 

including a motion for defective referral of the added charges. 

9. Withdrawal and re-referral. On 16 July 2021, all charges were withdrawn by direction of 

RADM M. W. Bouboulis, Commander, USCG D 13 to correct the alleged defective 

referral of additional charges that was noted by the defense. All charges, including the 

additional charges contemplated at the Article 32 hearing, were then preferred, re­

referred, then served on the accused. RADM Bouboulis also granted excludable delay for 

the period between 7 July and 16 July. Exhibit 18. 

a. That same day, trial counsel emailed the military judge and defense counsel 

informing them of the re-referral. Exhibit 19. 

b. Additionally, trial counsel emailed defense counsel requesting if defense was 

available on Monday 19 July 2021 for an arraignment. Exhibit 20. 

10. Accused asserts Article 35 rights. On 19 July, Defense counsel emailed trial counsel 

informing that the defense was not available for arraignment and that they would not be 

waiving the 5 day statutory waiting period. Exhibit 20. 

a. In the same email, Defense counsel informed that they were available to 

participate in an arraignment on Thursday 22 July. 

b. Trial counsel emailed defense counsel the same day requesting their availability 

for the same dates of trial, motions, etc., previously set out in the TMO signed by 
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the military judge on 6 July. Defense counsel responded via email they were 

available, but maintained the same objections. 

11 . Court issues operative TMO. On 2 1 July 202 1 the Court signed the operative TMO. 

Exhibit 21. 

12. Second arraignment. On 22 July 2021. the accused was arraigned. 

EVIDENCE 

The Government offers the fo llowing exhibits: 

Exhibit 1: Coast Guard District 13 memo appointing Article 32 Preliminary Hearing Offi cer 

Exhibit 2: Defense request for delay of Article 32 hearing 

Exhibit 3: Preliminary Hearing Officer memo scheduling Article 32 

Exhibit 4: Accused 's unconditional wa iver of Preliminary Hearing 

Exhibit 5: 28 April 202 1 email correspondence between all parties and PHO 

Exhibit 6: 19 May 202 1 email correspondence from PHO to D 13 Staff Judge Advocate 

Exhibit 7: Docketing request 

Exhibit 8: Defense speedy trial demand 

Exhibit 9: 24 June 202 1 email correspondence from Chief Trial Judge 

Exhibit 10: 24 June 202 1 email correspondence from Trial Counsel to Trial Judge 

Exhibit 11 : 25 June 202 1 email correspondence from Trial Judge regarding R.C.M. 802 

Exhibit 12: Draft Trial Management Order 

Exhibit 13: 30 June 202 1 email correspondence from Defense counsel to Trial Counsel 

Exhibit 14: 2 July 202 1 email correspondence from Trial Counse l to Trial Judge 

Exhibit 15: 2-6 July 202 1 email correspondence between Trial and Defense Counse l 
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Exhibit 16: 6 July 2021 email correspondence from Trial Counsel to Trial Judge 

Exhibit 17: 6 July 2021 Trial Management Order 

Exhibit 18: CGD 13 first endorsement of Article 34 Advice dated 16 July 2021 

Exhibit 19: 16 - 19 July 2021 email correspondence between Trial Counsel, Trial Judge and all 

parties 

Exhibit 20: 16 - 19 July 2021 email correspondence between Trial and Defense Counsel 

Exhibit 21: 21 July 2021 Trial Management Order 

Exhibit 22: Subpoena for Detective

LEGAL AUTHORITY 

There are several sources of speedy trial protections that may apply in the course of a 

court-martial, and each of these sources have their own triggers. See United States v. Wilder, 75 

M.J. 135 (C.A.A.F. 2016). "R.C.M. 707, Article 10, UCMJ and the Sixth Amendment provide a 

cohesive and sometimes overlapping framework for the protection of an accused's speedy trial 

rights." Id. (citing United States v. Tippit, 65 M.J. 69, 72-73 (C.A.A.F. 2007). In this case, the 

defense brought its motion pursuant to R.C.M. 707 and the Sixth Amendment. 

R.C.M. 707(a) states that "[t]he accused shall be brought to trial within 120 days after the 

earlier of: ( 1) Preferral of charges; (2) The imposition of restraint under R.C.M. 304(a)(2)-( 4); or 

(3) Entry on active duty under R.C.M. 204." Wilder, 75 M.J. at 138. For the purposes of RCM 

707, the accused is brought to trial when he is arraigned; the date of the triggering event does not 

count towards the 120 days, but the date of arraignment does count. R.C.M. 707(b)(l). 

Accordingly, 44[a]rraignment 4Stops' the speedy trial clock for purposes of R.C.M 707. United 

States v. Leahr, 13 M.J. 364,367 (C.A.A.F. 2014). If an accused is arraigned within 120 days of 
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preferral, then R.C.M. 707 is not violated. Wilder, 75 M.J. at 138. 

An analysis under the Sixth Amendment focuses on the date of preferral or the imposition 

of restraint or confinement, and analyzes an alleged violation based on the factors set forth in 

Barker v. Wingo, 407 U.S. 514, 530 ( 1972). Wilder, 75 M.J. at 138. The four Barker factors are: 

"(l) the length of delay; (2) the reasons for the delay; (3) whether the appellant made a demand 

for speedy trial; and (4) prejudice to the appellant." United States v. Mizgala, 61 M.J. 122, 129 

(C.A.A.F. 2005) ( citing Barker v. Wingo, supra). The "length of delay is to some extent a 

triggering mechanism," and unless there is a period of delay that appears on its face to be 

unreasonable under the circumstances, "there is no necessity for inquiry into the other factors 

that go into the balance." Barker, 407 U.S. at 530. Conversely, if the delay is unreasonable, then 

it must be balanced with the other three factors. 

ARGUMENT 

1. There can be no R.C.M. 707 violation because the accused was arraigned before the 
120 day clock expired. 

MK3 Grijalva was arraigned prior to the expiration of the 120 day Speedy Trial Clock. 

Charges were preferred on 4 March 2021 (120 days later would have been 2 July 2021). The 

defense requested a delay of twenty days before the Article 32 preliminary hearing, and the 

preliminary hearing officer granted the request and attributed the delay to the defense (2 July 

2021 plus twenty days extended the Speedy Trial Clock to 22 July 2021 ). The government 

withdrew, re-preferred and referred, and served charges on the accused on 16 July. Prior to re­

preferral/referral, the convening authority granted excludable delay from 7 July 2021 to 16 July 

2021. R.C.M. 707(c)(I). This added nine more days, making the new Speedy Trial Clock 

expiration date 31 July 2021. The accused was arraigned on 22 July 2021-prior to expiration. 
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Even if the convening authority had not granted excludable delay from 7 to 16 July, there 

still would be no R.C.M. 707 violation. The government was prepared to arra ign the accused on 

19 July 202 1, however, MK3 Grjilava asserted his Article 35, U.C.M.J. right to a five day 

statutory wa iting period between service of charges and commencement of trial. This tolled the 

Speedy Trial Clock. "The purpose of Article 35 is to protect an accused from rece iving such a 

speedy tria l that the defense has inadequate opportunity to prepare ... Thus, Article 35 prov ides 

a shield with which an accused may prevent too speedy a tri al, not a sword with which an 

accused may attack the government fo r fa iling to bring him to trial sooner: · United States v. 

Lazukas, 62 M.J. 39 (C.A.A.F. 2005) (citing United Stales v. Cherok, 22 M.J . 438, 440 (C.M.A . 

1986)). Therefore, the ti me period between service of charges on 16 July and arraignment on 22 

July 2021 should not be attributable to the government. 

The defense motion ignores the fact that the government complied with the requi rements 

of R.C.M. 707. Instead, the defense makes the obsolete argument that an arraignment completed 

before the expiration of the R.C.M. 707 Speedy Trial clock can somehow be a ··sham'· 

arraignment. See Defense Motion 8-9. This argument was explicitly rejected by the U.S. Court of 

Appeals for the Armed Forces over twenty years ago. United States v. Doty, 5 1 M.J. 464 

(C.A.A.F. 1999). 

Despite this fact, the defense attempts to resurrect this notion of a "sham" arraignment in 

in their motion by citing to three inapplicable cases that analyze Speedy Trial issues under 

Article I 0, UCMJ, when the accused has been confined and is awaiting trial. See 'United Stales v. 

Gammons, No. NMCCA 200800324, 2009 CCA Lexis I 08 (N-M Ct. Crim. App. Apr. 2 1, 2009); 

United States v. Simmons, No. ARMY 20070486, 2009 CCA LEXIS (A. Ct. Crim. App. Aug. 
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12, 2009); United States v. Cooper, 58 M.J. 54 (C.A.A.F. 2003). The defense fails to explain 

how these cases support their argument in this case as the acc used has never been confined. 

The ev idence in this case is clear that the ··bright line rule'· was fol lowed. The accused 

was arraigned before the expiration of the 120 day Speedy Trial Clock and therefore R.C.M. 707 

was not violated. US v. leahr, 73 M.J. at 367. 

2. Applying the Barker factors, the Accused's Sixth Amendment rights have not been 
violated. 

Applying the Barker facto rs to this case, the record shows that the length of delay was 

not unreasonable; the de lay was for a legitimate purpose (and at least in part due to defense 

counsels' schedule) and that any prejudice to the accused is minimal. United States v. Grom, 2 1 

M.J. 53, 58 (C.M.R. 1985). 

a. T he length of delay. 

The first facto r in the Barker test is to review the length of delay. For pretrial delay, there 

is no bright-line rule for the amount of delay that is considered reasonable. The "[l]ength of 

delay that will provoke [a constitutional] inquiry is necessari ly dependent upon the peculiar 

circumstances of the case.'· Barker, 407 U.S. at 530. It is noteworthy that the accused in Barker 

experienced a de lay of over five years, ten months of which in volved confinement, and this was 

not an impermissible abrogation of his constitutional right to a speedy trial. In any event, and as 

explained below, any delays to which MK3 Grijalva has been subjected certainly do not ri se to 

the level of Constitutiona l import. 

Aga in, similar to the analys is under R.C.M. 707. the tri ggering event in thi s case is the 

preferral on 4 March. The accused wi ll go to trial on 15 November. Eight months from preferra l 

to trial in a general court martial involving complex charges that require civilians and both state 
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and federal investigators as witnesses is not, on its face, unreasonable. Recognizing that delays 

of a lesser amount of time have caused federal courts to inquire into the remaining Barker 

factors, an inquiry into the other factors in this case only supports the conclusion that the delay 

was reasonable. Grom, 21 M.J. at 56. 

b. Reasons for delay. 

A review of the record in this case reveals that any delay in bringing the accused to trial 

was not due to "intentional dilatory conduct" by the government. United States v. Edmond, 41 

M.J. 419 (C.A.A.F. 1995) (overturned on other grounds). The accused was lawfully arraigned 

according the requirements of R.C.M. 707. Trial could not take place in July because the Court, 

witnesses, and trial counsel were not available to participate in trial. So long as motions were 

filed and litigated with enough time for the Court to issue rulings and the parties to prepare their 

cases accordingly, the government was prepared to schedule trial for as early as 13 September. 

However, defense counsel were unavailable during this time. Additional attempts by the 

government to schedule trial before November were similarly rebuffed. Accordingly, this factor 

should not weigh in the accused's favor. "An accused cannot be responsible for or agreeable to 

delay and then turn around and demand dismissal for the same delay." United States v. King, 30 

M.J. 59, 66 (C.M.A. 1990). 

c. Demand for Speedy Trial 

The accused demanded speedy trial on 23 June 2021. 

d. Prejudice to the accused 

Courts consider three "similar interests" relevant to the prejudice analysis: ( 1) prevention 

of oppressive incarceration; (2) minimization of anxiety and concern of the accused awaiting the 
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outcome of their case: and (3) limitation of the poss ibility that the accused's defenses might be 

impaired." United States v. Danylo, 73 M.J . 183, 188 (C.A.A.F. 20 14) (c iting United States v. 

Moreno, 6J M.J. 129, 137 (C.A.A.F. 2006). "Of these forms of prejudice, the most serious is the 

last, because the inability of a defendant adequately to prepare his case skews the fa irness of the 

entire system.'' Id. (citing Doggell v. United States, 505 U.S. 647, 654 ( 1992). 

As noted in the defense motion, they are unable to cite any evidence that a delay in this 

case has impaired MK3 Grijalva's defense. See Def. Motion at 8. Moreover, MK3 Grijalva is not, 

nor has he ever been. subject to pre-trial confinement; nor is he even restrained to a specific 

location. 

Instead. the prejudice that he claims wan-ants dismissal of the charges is that he must 

commute from his residence in Bangor to Coast Guard Base Seattle for work. Any stress, anxiety, 

or financial hardship assoc iated with this commute does not rise to the level of actionable prejudice 

contemplated by the Sixth Amendment. Especia lly since there is a Mass Transit Benefits Program 

available to MK3 Grija lva to help defray the costs of travel to and from work. See 

(h ttps ://www .dcms. uscg. mi I/Our-Organization/Di rector-a f-Operati ona I-Lo gi sti cs-

DO L/Bases/Base-Sea ttl e/Mass-T rans it/). Therefore, this factor is neither strong nor conclusive 

and should be weighed only slightly, if at all , in MK3 Grijalva's favor. 

3. Trial should begin on the date set by the Court: 15 November. 

There has been no violation of R.C.M. 707 or MK3 Grijalva' s Sixth Amendment right to 

a speedy trial in this case. The defense motion may be styled as a speedy trial motion. however, it 

is really a scheduling motion requesting that trial be moved from the date set by the Court to a date 

of the defense's choosing. The Court should not move the trial date. All parties are ava ilable on 
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15 November. The government's witnesses have already been notified of the trial date and have 

been relying on the date since the Court issued its 7 July TMO. At least one witness has already 

been issued a subpoena to testify in order to hold the date open from their other duties. Exhibit 

22. Keeping the current trial date in place will allow this Court to issue thoughtful rulings regarding 

the fifteen motions to be litigated ~ith enough time for each party to prepare for trial. The defense 

has presented no reason, supported by law or fact, that the trial date should be changed. 

CONCLUSION 

The government respectfully requests the Court DENY the defense motion. 

Isl Case A. Colaw 
CASE A. COLAW 
Lieutenant, USCG 
Trial Counsel 
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************************************************************************** 

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

I hereby certify that a true and accurate copy of the above was served on the below listed 

individuals via electronic mail on 24 August 202 I. 

CAPT Diane M. Croff, USCG 
Military Judge 

LCDR Benjamin Adams, USN, JAGC 
Detailed Defense Counsel 

CDR Justin Henderson, USN, JAGC 
Detailed Defense Counsel 

LCDR Terrence Thornburgh, USCG 
Special Victims Counsel 

LT Adam Jaffe, USCG 
Special Victims Counsel 

Isl Case A. Colaw 
CASE A. COLAW 
Lieutenant, USCG 
Trial Counsel 
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UNITED STATES COAST GUARD TRIAL JUDICIARY 
GENERAL COURT-MARTIAL 

UNITED STATES 

v. 

MARK J. GRIJALVA 
MK3/E-4 
U.S. COAST GUARD 

MOTION 

DEFENSE MOTION FOR 
APPROPRIATE RELIEF 

(Objection to Joinder) 

4AUG21 

Pursuant to R.C.M. 905(b )(I) and 906(b ), the Defense objects to the joinder of the sole 

Specification under what the Government now styles as "Charge I" and Specifications 6 through 

8 of"Charge III." R.C.M. 60l(e)(2). The Military Judge arraigned MK3 Grijalva at this court­

martial on July 7, 2021. Now, upon timely objection, this Court must rule that it has no authority 

to hear Charges and Specifications that were preferred only on July 16 and were thus not 

properly before the Court at the time of arraignment. 

BURDEN 

The Defense bears the burden of proof as to any factual issue necessary to resolve this 

motion, by a preponderance of the evidence. R.C.M. 905(c)(l). 

FACTS 

I. The Military Judge arraigned Petty Officer Grijalva at this court-martial on July 7, 2021. 

a. Although MK3 Grijalva had demanded speedy trial, no trial began on that day, Day I 04 

of the Government's R.C.M. 707 120-day speedy trial clock. 

b. Before the Court at arraignment were what the Convening Authority had purported to 

refer as "'Additional Charges" under Article 107, Uniform Code of Military Justice (UCMJ). 10 
, I I• "1,11 • ! I 
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U.S.C. § 907 (2018), supported by a sole Specification, and Article 134, UCMJ, 10 U.S.C. § 934 

(2018), supported by three Specifications. (Charge Sheet at 2, 5, June 17, 2021.) 

c. The only Charges that had been properly sworn by the time of that July 7 arraignment 

were what was then Charge I, alleging two specified violations of Article 131 b, UCMJ, and what 

was then Charge II, alleging five specified violations of Article 134, UCMJ. 1 (Id. at 3, 4.) 

2. Prior to entering his Not Guilty pleas and electing a forum of members with enlisted 

representation, the Defense timely filed several motions. 

a. One of the Defense motions was a motion to dismiss the unsworn "Additional" Charges 

and Specifications. (Def. Mot. to Dismiss for Defective Referral, July 7, 2021.) 

b. In response, the Convening Authority "withdrew" all the Charges. but did not dismiss 

them. (Encl. A.) 

c. On July 16, 2021, the same officer who preferred the seven previously-sworn 

Specifications-the ones this Court had arraigned MK3 Grijalva upon-again swore to those 

Specifications, now along with the four previously-defective Specifications. (Charge Sheet at 1, 

July 16, 2021.) 

d. That same day, the Convening Authority referred the four previously-defective 

Specifications to this same court-martial, to be tried alongside the seven Specifications this Court 

had already arraigned MK3 Grijalva upon. 

3. Neither the Convening Authority nor the Military Judge obtained MK3 Grijalva's consent to 

be tried on additional charges after arraignment. 

1 Aside from changes to location data in the jurisdictional data, these Charges and Specifications are identical to the 
Charges that were referred to this Court styled as Charge II, Specifications 1 and 2, and Charge III, Specifications 1-
5, respectively. 
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LAW 

The Rule on the joinder of charges at court-martial is clear: 

In the discretion of the convening authority, two or more offenses charged against 
an accused may be referred to the same court-martial for trial, whether serious or 
minor offenses or both, regardless whether related. Additional charges may be 
joined with other charges for a single trial at any time before arraignment if all 
necessary procedural requirements concerning the additional charges have been 
complied with. After arraignment of the accused upon charges, no additional 
charges may be referred to the same trial without consent of the accused. 

R.C.M. 60l(e)(2) (emphasis added). Reviewing the history and purpose of this Rule thirty years 

ago, the Navy-Marine Corps service court explained that the President's limit onjoinder works 

in conjunction with other referral rules, including the R.C.M. 604 limits on withdrawal of 

charges: 

As to joinder of new charges, R.C.M. 60 I ( e )(2), 603 and 604 logically complement 
each other. Read in tandem they each have life. R.C.M. 102(b ). Arraignment cuts 
off the addition of new charges over the accused's objection (Davis), absent good 
cause, e.g., the arising of a significant new charge coupled with a referral of all 
offenses to a higher level of court-martial ( Wells). R.C.M. 604 should not permit 
by indirection that which is directly prohibited under R.C.M. 60l(e)(2) or 603. 
Consequently, a higher standard than mere adherence to a permissive joinder policy 
is required to justify withdrawal after arraignment with a view toward rereferral. 

United States v. Koke, 32 M.J. 876, 881 (N-M.C.M.R. 1991 ), aff'd, 34 M.J. 313 (C.M.A. 1992). 

In Koke, the convening authority withdrew unrelated involuntary manslaughter and 

aggravated assault charges after arraignment and re-opened the Article 32 investigation to obtain 

sworn testimony in support of the aggravated assault charge. On appeal, the service court held 

that this post-arraignment withdrawal was improper, as it was a functional end-run around 

joinder limits: "When measured in best light for the convening authority, the withdrawal in this 

case was error. The convening authority, in effect, merely added a charge after arraignment." 32 

M.J. at 882 (citing United States v. Fleming, 18 C.M.A. 524, 529 (1960)). Finding no prejudice 

because the trial judge had dismissed the improperly-joined aggravated assault charges anyway, 
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the court explained that its error finding was rooted in the principle underlying the good-cause 

requirement for withdrawal of charges: "'once the convening authority commits a case to a court­

martial, he should not thereafter interfere with the judicial process until the case is properly 

returned to him for review." Id. at 880 ( citations omitted). 

ARGUMENT 

The Government has recreated the Koke withdrawal-and-joinder blunder of three decades 

ago. There is no daylight between that case and this one-indeed, the facts here are even more 

limiting on convening authority discretion. The four Specifications that were unsworn at that the 

time of the original arraignment do not arise from new or different events, unlike the aggravated 

assault allegations in Koke. Indeed, in that case, those allegations were so distinct they had been 

subject to a defense motion to sever. Koke, 32 M.J. at 878 (noting also that trial judge dismissed 

later dismissed those allegations before trial on involuntary manslaughter charge). Here, unlike 

Koke, every one of the new, joined Specifications alleges a crime that arises from the same set of 

events covered by the seven previously-sworn Specifications. 

Thus, the same-day withdrawal, "preferral," and immediate re-referral of all the Charges is a 

transparent attempt to circumventjoinder limits. If permitted, R.C.M. 60l(e)(2) would in effect 

become a dead letter. Just like in Koke, the Convening Authority here ''merely added [two] 

charge[s] after arraignment." Despite the Convening Authority's otherwise broad authority with 

respect to withdrawal, "R.C.M. 604 should not permit by indirection that which is directly 

prohibited under R.C.M. 601(e)(2)." Id. at 881. Because MK3 Grijalva never consented to 

joinder of these new Specifications, this Court must reject this obvious error. 
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RELIEF REQUESTED 

Recognizing MK3 Grijalva's objection, this Court should declare that the new Charges and 

Specifications may not be joined to the originally-sworn Charges and Specifications upon which 

MK3 Grijalva was already arraigned. 

EVIDENCE & ORAL ARGUMENT 

The Defense attaches the following enclosures in support of this Motion: 

A. Trial Counsel email of 16 Jul 21 

Unless the Government concedes the Motion or this Court grants the relief on the basis of 

pleadings alone, the Defense requests oral argument on this matter. 

B.D.ADAMS 
LCDR, JAGC, USN 
Detailed Defense Counsel 
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UNITED STATES COAST GUARD TRIAL JUDICIARY 
GENERAL COURT-MARTIAL 

UNITED STATES 

v. 

MARKJ. GRIJALVA 
MK3/E-4 
U.S. COAST GUARD 

DEFENSE REPLY TO 
GOVERNMENT RESPONSE TO 

DEFENSE MOTION FOR 
APPROPRIATE RELIEF 

(Objection to Joinder) 

25AUG21 

Confronted with a Defense objection to post-arraignment joinder of previously-unswom 

"Additional Charges" to the sworn charges at the same court-martial, the Government opens its 

Response by proposing that perhaps these charges are not "new." This long-shot argument 

ignores the undisputed fact that the "Additional Charges" were never properly before this court­

martial when they were unswom. The Convening Authority's action upon the Defense's timely 

objection-based on his own Staff Judge Advocate's concession that it was error to refer 

unswom charges-answers that issue. 

After this failed introductory argument, the Government's Response rests entirely on 

pleading a benign purpose for attempting to skirt joinder limits with a same-day withdrawal, 

preferral, and re-referral: the defective original referral needed repair. "If curing this potential 

error makes the charges new or different, and subject to the joinder rules, it is only error if there 

is material prejudice to the Accused." (Gov. Resp. at 5.) 

By seeking this Article 59(a)-style prejudice evaluation at the trial level, the Government 

invites the same gaffes that resulted in United States v. Reese, 16 M.J. 297 (C.A.A.F. 2017). 

There, the Court of Appeals for the Armed Forces reversed the Coast Guard Court of Criminal 

Appeals and set aside a conviction and sentence for misapplication of the rule limiting post­

arraignment amendments to charges. Rejecting the incorrect analyses of the trial court and lower 
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court, each of which tested for prejudicial "surprise" to the defense, our highest military court 

held: 

The plain language of R.C.M. 603(d) does not discuss prejudice. Rather, if a 
change is "major," it provides that such change cannot be made over defense 
objection unless the charge is "preferred anew." ... To the extent our precedent 
has required a separate showing of prejudice under these circumstances, it is 
overruled: absent "preferr[ al] anew" and a second referral there is no charge to 
which jurisdiction can attach, and Article 59(a), UCMJ, 10 U.S.C. § 859(a) (2012), 
is not, in fact, implicated. 

Reese, 16 M.J. at 301-02 (citations omitted). 

Now, four years after Reese settled the law, the Government badly misses the mark by citing 

to Howard, Koke, and Rose-all appellate cases that tum on Article 59(a) prejudice. (See Gov. 

Resp. at 3-4.) Just like R.C.M. 603(d), the binding Rule here "does not discuss prejudice," and 

no "separate showing of prejudice" is required. Reese, 16 M.J. at 301,302. Rather, this Court 

need only apply the plain language of R.C.M. 60l(d): "After arraignment of the accused upon 

charges, no additional charges may be referred to the same trial without consent of the accused." 

Because this Court may not walk headlong into trial error, regardless of how much the 

Government asks it to, this Court may not permit the joinder of these "Additional Charges." 

B.D.ADAMS 
LCDR, JAGC, USN 
Detailed Defense Counsel 
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GENERAL COURT-MARTIAL 
UNITED STATES COAST GUARD 

UNITED ST A TES 

v. 

MARKJ. GRIJALVA 
Machinery Technician Third Class 
U.S. Coast Guard 

GOVERNMENT RESPONSE TO 
DEFENSE MOTION FOR 
APPROPRIATE RELIEF 

(Objection to Joinder): 

24 August 2021 

RELIEF SOUGHT 

Pursuant to RCM 907(b)(3)(A), the Government moves for this Court to DENY the 

Defense's Motion for Appropriate Relief (Objection to Joinder). 

SUMMARY 

The Convening Authority referred charges against the Accused on June 17, 2021. The 

Accused was arraigned on those charges and specifications. Upon a Defense Motion, and to cure 

a potential error in preferral, the Convening Authority withdrew all charges and specifications on 

July 16, 2021. The same day, the Convening Authority re-referred the same charges and 

specifications after correcting the potential error in prefferal, and the accused was arraigned six 

days later. The Defense claims the re-referral of the same charges and specifications is 

impermissible joinder. However, no new or additional charges were joined to this court martial 

after arraignment. There is no joinder. 

HEARING 

The government respectfully request oral argument. 
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BURDEN OF PROOF 

As the moving party, the Defense bears the burden of proof as to any factual issue necessary 

to resolve this motion, by a preponderance of the evidence. R.C.M. 905(c)(l). 

FACTS 

1. The Convening Authority referred charges to this court-martial on June 17, 2021. The 

charges and specifications in the original DD Form 458 [hereinafter "Original Charge Sheet"] 

contained "Additional Charges" consisting of one specification of a violation of Article l 07, 

UCMJ, and three specifications of a violation of Article 134, UCMJ. These "Additional 

Charges" were first considered by a Preliminary Hearing Officer at the Article 32 Hearing on 

May 5, 2021. 

2. The Accused was arraigned on July 7, 2021. The Defense filed a Motion to Dismiss for 

Defective Referral of the "Additional Charges" on the basis they were unswom at the 

arraignment. 

3. After considering the Defense Motion to Dismiss for Defective Referral of the "Additional 

Charges" on the basis that they were unswom, and upon receiving advice from his Staff Judge 

Advocate, the Convening Authority withdrew all charges and specification referred to this court­

martial. 

4. On July 16, 2021, Trial Counsel presented a clean charge sheet containing the same charges 

and specifications at the Accused's first arraignment, and presented it to an accuser to be 

properly sworn and re-referred. 

5. Later on July 16, 2021, LCDR  a person with personal knowledge of the matters set 

forth in the charge sheet of July 16, 2021, swore under oath that the matters set forth in the 

2 
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charges and specifications on the charge sheet were true to the best of his knowledge and belief. 

LCDR  signed Block 11.a. of a DD Form 458 before LCDR  a commissioned 

officer of the armed forces who is authorized to administer oaths. Charges were preferred against 

the Accused. 

6. The Convening Authority found a new preliminary hearing was not necessary because all 

charges and specifications preferred on July 16, 2021 were adequately considered at the 

preliminarily hearing on May 5, 2021 in accordance with R.C.M. 603. 

7. The charges were referred by the Convening Authority on July 16, 2021 to this court-martial 

and the Accused was re-arraigned on July 22, 2021. 

8. No new or additional charges were added after the Accused's first arraignment on July 7, 2021 

or the Accused's second arraignment on July 22, 2021. 

LEGAL AUTHORITY 

The Rule on the joinder of charges at court-martial states, "two or more offenses charged 

against an accused may be referred to the same court-martial for trial, whether serious or minor 

offense or both, regardless whether related. Additional charges may be joined with other 

charges for a single trial at any time before arraignment if all necessary procedural requirements 

concerning the additional charges have been complied with. After arraignment of the accused 

upon charges, no additional charges may be referred to the same trial without consent of the 

accused." R.C.M. 601(e)(2). 

The protection in R.C.M. 601(e)(2) against post-arraignment referral of additional 

charges without consent of an accused, although important, is not a statutory or constitutional 

right. Defects in applying the rule, which have been tested for prejudice under Article 59(a), 
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UCMJ, have not been treated as jurisdictional error. United States v. Howard, 47 M.J. 381,383 

(C.A.A.F. I 998). The purpose of R.C.M. 60 I (e)(2) is simply to "create[] a certain stability to 

the trial process and firm[ ] the matters against which an accused must defend. United States v. 

Koke, 32 M.J. 876,881 (N.M.C.M.R. 1991), aff'd35 M.J. 313 (C.M.A. 1992). 

Additional charges only create ajoinder issue if they are new. In United States v. Rose, 

20014 WL 843495 (A.F. Ct. Crim. App. 2014), the Accused was arraigned and later the 

government corrected the charges and specifications by adding the Article 134 terminal element, 

which they had omitted in the first arraignment. The court found that while the Charges were 

not different, they were "new". The court ultimately found that the addition of these '"new" 

charges was error but tested for material prejudice to the appellant's substantive rights. The 

court followed Koke, which stated the purpose of R.C.M. 601 ( e )(2) is to provide stability and 

allow the accused adequate preparation, and found the Accused was aware of the matters he had 

to defend himself against. While it was error for the. Government to try the appellant for the 

"new" charge without his consent, there was no material prejudice. Rose, 2014 WL 843495, at 

*3-4. Similarly, in Howard, the Accused was arraigned on one charge of wrongful use of 

methamphetamine. One month later, a second charge of wrongful use of methamphetamine was 

referred to the same court-martial. The Court found that the addition of the second charge was 

not prejudicial to the Accused in part because the Accused was aware of the second positive 

urinalysis result even-before he was arraigned on the original wrongful use charge. Howard, 4 7 

M.J. at 383. 

Finally, when withdrawal of charges is for a proper purpose, as it was in this case, and 

additional charges are added, dismissal of the withdrawn charges eliminates a joinder error. See 
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United States v. Leahr, 73 M.J. 364,370 (C.A.A.F. 2014). Severance of the offenses may also be 

ordered, "but only to prevent manifest injustice." R.C.M. 906(b)(l 0). 

ARGUMENT 

The Rule on Joinder only applies if new charges are added after arraignment. No new 

charges were added to this court-martial after the arraignment of the Accused. The Accused has 

been arraigned on the same changes and specifications twice. The court in Rose found the 

addition of the terminal element to an Article 134 offense after arraignment made the charges 

"new" but not different. This created a joinder issue. That is not the case here. The only 

difference between the charges at issue from first arraignment to the second arraignment is the 

curing- of a potential procedural error. This does not make those charges new. It does not make 

those charges different. There is no joinder. 

The Defense argues that the same day withdrawal, preferral, and re-referral of all Charges 

and Specifications is a, "'transparent attempt to circumventjoinder limits." This was not the 

Convening Authority's intent. In fact the withdrawal, preferral, and re-referral was to cure a 

potential error in the first preferral. If curing this potential error makes the charges new or 

different, and subject to the joinder rules, it is only error if there is material prejudice to the 

Accused. The purpose of the rule is to ensure the Accused is aware of the matters to defend 

himself against. Similar to Howard and Rose, where the Accused was aware of the evidence 

and genera] nature of the charges prior to arraignment, but a new charge was added post 

arraignment, the same is true here if curing a procedural error makes the charges new. There is 

no material prejudice to the Accused when these charges have been part of this court-martial 

from the start. No new evidence has been introduced and the same Charges and Specifications 
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remain. The Accused has been on notice and aware of the Charges to defend himself against 

prior to the first arraignment. With no material prejudice to the Accused the error is harmless. 

CONCLUSION 

The Government respectfully requests the Court DENY the Defense Motion to prohibit 

properly referred Charges and Specifications at this court-martial. If however, this court finds 

there was joinder without consent of the Accused, the error did not unfairly prejudice the 

Accused and is harmless error. Out of an abundance of caution and should the court wish to 

perfect the record, dismissal of the previously withdrawn charges following the model set forth 

in Leahr, and re-arraignment of the Accused may serve as an option. 
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Isl Matthew D. Pekoske 
MA TIHEW D. PEKOSKE 
LCDR, USCG 
Asst. Trial Counsel 
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************************************************************************** 

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

I hereby certify that a true and accurate copy of the above was served on the Defense 

Counsel via electronic mail on 24 August 2021. 

CAPT Diane M. Croff, USCG 
Military Judge 

LCDR Benjamin Adams, USN, JAGC 
Detailed Defense Counsel 

CDR Justin Henderson, USN, JAGC 
Detailed Defense Counsel 

LCDR Terrence Thornburgh, USCG 
Special Victims Counsel 

. LT Adam Jaffe, USCG 
Special Victims Counsel 
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LCDR, USCG 
Asst. Trial Counsel 
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UN IT E D S T ATES 

\. 

MARK J. GRIJALVA 

GENERAL COURT-MARTIAL 
UNITED STATES COAST GUARD 

GOVERNMENT RESPONSE 
TO DEFENSE NOTICE AND 

MOTION IN LIMINE 
(Marital Privilege) 

Machinery Technician Third Class 
U.S. COAS T GUARD 25 August 2021 

RELIEF SOUGHT 

Pursuant to MRE 504(6), the Defense provided notice of MK3 Grijalva's c laim of 

privilege as to any confidential communications he made to his

The Government does not oppose the motion, and does not plan to 

introduce any confidential communications between them. In an abundance of caution, the 

Government request a ruling of admissibility regarding  testimony in regards to 

her observations and conversations with other witnesses. 

HEARING 

The Government respectfully requests oral argument. 

BURDEN 

As the proponent of the evidence, the Government bears the burden of proof and 

persuasion by a preponderance of the evidence. R.C.M. 905(c). 

STATEMENT OF FACTS 

I. On March 5, 20 19, contacted Mr. regarding messages 

found on KM3 Grij alva' s Apple iWatch. She indicated she found messages to three 

different phone numbers depicting nude photos of At the time was Mr. 
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2. provided information regarding the internet service provider and confirmed 

the cell phone of MK3 Grija lva. 

3. provided a statement to Special Agent In the statement 

she stated that intimate images of  were on MK3 Grijalva's watch. She provided 12 

videos she had taken to show the contents of the watch. She confirmed that MK3 

Grijalva had a USAA and paypal account. Exhibit 1. 

EVIDENCE 

Exhibit 1: CGIS ROI summary of interview of

LEGAL AUTHORITY 

Military Rules of Ev idence 504(b) states that " A person has a privilege during and after 

the marita l relationship to refuse to disclose, and to prevent another from disc losing, any 

confidential communication made to the spouse of the person while they were married and not 

separated.'' In United States v. Durbin, 68 M.J. 271 (C.A.A.F. 20 I 0), the Court held that 

testimony from a wife regarding her observation of child pornography on her husband' s 

computer was not a privileged communication. 

ARGUMENT 

The Government does not oppose the defense motion, and does not plan to introduce 

statements between and MK3 Grijalva. In their moti on, the Defense only 

references one incident, when confronts MK3 Grijalva, that qua lifies as marital 

privilege. While the Government does into to call as a witness to testify to her 

observations and to prov ide some fou ndation testimony fo r certain evidence, there is no intention 

to illicit testimony regarding her confrontation of MK3 Grijalva. Based on the limited nature of 
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the defense motion, the Government does not oppose, but request that any further objections to 

her testimony based on marital privilege be addressed during the next motions hearing. 

CONCLUSION 

The Government does not oppose the Defense motion. The Government request that 

the Court's ruling apply narrowly to the single interaction described in the Defense's motion. 

ISi Jon T. Taylor 
J. T. TAYLOR 
LCDR, JAGC, USN 
Assistant Trial Counsel 
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************************************************************************** 

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

I hereby certify that a true and accurate copy of the above was served on the below listed 

individuals via electronic mail on 25 August 2021. 

CAPT Diane M. Croff, USCG 
Military Judge 

LCDR Benjamin Adams, USN, JAGC 
Detailed Defense Counsel 

CDR Justin Henderson, USN, JAGC 
Detailed Defense Counsel 

LCDR Terrence Thornburgh, USCG 
Special Victims Counsel 

LT Adam Jaffe, USCG 
Special Victims Counsel 

Isl Case A. Colaw 
CASE A. COLAW 
Lieutenant, USCG 
Trial Counsel 
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UNITED STATES COAST GUARD TRIAL JUDICIARY 
GENERAL COURT-MARTIAL 

UNITED STATES 

v. 

MARKJ.GRIJALVA 
MK3/E-4 
U.S. COAST GUARD 

MOTION 

DEFENSE MOTION TO DISMISS 
(Failure to State Offenses) 

10 AUG21 

Pursuant to R.C.M. 307(c)(3) and 907(b)(2)(E), the Defense moves to dismiss Specifications 

4 and 5 under Charge II for failure to state an offense. 

SUMMARY 

The Government alleges that MK3 Grijalva broadcast a visual image of  charging him in 

a specification that lists nearly every element of Article 117a, Uniform Code of Military Justice 

(UCMJ), 10 U.S.C. § 917a (2018). But in Specifications 4 and 5 of Charge II, the Government 

relieves itself of the final Article 117a element, substituting instead the terminal clause 2 element 

of Article 134, UCMJ, in Specification 4 and Washington State Law's proof elements in 

Specification 5. Because Congress has made this conduct punishable exclusively under Article 

117a, the preemption doctrine forecloses prosecution under Article 134, UCMJ, and these 

Specifications allege no lawful offense-along with other defects in Specification 5. 

FACTS 

1. In Specification 4 of Charge II, MK3 Grijavla is charged with violating Article 134, UCMJ, 

in that he: 

... on active duty, did, at Naval Base Kitsap Bremerton, on one or more occasions, 
between on or about 1 February 2019 to on or about 31 March 2019, knowingly, 
wrongfully, and without the explicit consent of  broadcast an intimate visual 
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image of  who is identifiable from the visual image or from information 
displayed in connection with the visual image, when he knew or reasonably should 
have known that visual image was made under circumstances in which  retained 
a reasonable expectation of privacy regarding any broadcast and when he knew ore 
reasonably should have known that the broadcast of the visual image was likely to 
cause harm, harassment, or emotional distress for  or to harm substantially  
with respect to her safety, business, calling, career, reputation, or personal 
relationships, an act which is of a nature to bring discredit upon the armed forces. 

(Charge Sheet at 4, June 17, 2021). 

2. In Specification 5 of Charge II, MK3 Grijalva is charged with violating Article 134, UCMJ, 

in that he: 

on active duty, did, at or near Bremerton, Washington, on one or more occasions, 
between on or about 1 February 2019 to on or about 31 March 2019, violate Title 
9A Washington Criminal Code, Chapter 9A.86, Disclosing Intimate Images, by 
knowingly disclosing an intimate image of who is identifiable from the visual 
image, which was obtained under circumstances in which a reasonable person 
would know or understand that the image was to remain private, which MK.3 
Grijalva knew or should have known that the depicted person, had not 
consented to the disclosure, and MK3 Grijalva knew or reasonably should have 
known that the disclosure would cause harm to the depicted person, an offense 
not capital. 

2. In December 2017, Congress enacted and the President later signed into law, Article 117a, 

UCMJ, criminalizing the wrongful broadcast or distribution of visual images in a statute reading: 

(a) Any person subject to this chapter [10 USCS §§ 801 et seq.]-

( 1) who knowingly and wrongfully broadcasts or distributes an intimate visual 
image of another person or a visual image of sexually explicit conduct involving a 
person who-

(A) is at least 18 years of age at the time the intimate visual image or visual 
image of sexually explicit conduct was created; 

(B) is identifiable from the intimate visual image or visual image of sexually 
explicit conduct itself, or from information displayed in connection with the 
intimate visual image or visual image of sexually explicit conduct; and 

( C) does not explicitly consent to the broadcast or distribution of the 
intimate visual image or visual image of sexually explicit conduct; 

(2) who knows or reasonably should have known that the intimate visual image 
or visual image of sexually explicit conduct was made under circumstances in 
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which the person depicted in the intimate visual image or visual image of sexually 
explicit conduct retained a reasonable expectation of privacy regarding any 
broadcast or distribution of the intimate visual image or visual image of sexually 
explicit conduct; 

(3) who knows or reasonably should have known that the broadcast or 
distribution of the intimate visual image or visual image of sexually explicit 
conduct is likely-

(A) to cause harm, harassment, intimidation, emotional distress, or financial 
loss for the person depicted in the intimate visual image or visual image of sexually 
explicit conduct; or 

· (B) to harm substantialfy the depicted person with respect to that person's 
health, safety, business, calling, career, financial condition, reputation, or personal 
relationships; and 

(4) whose conduct, under the circumstances, had a reasonably direct and 
palpable connection to a military mission or military environment, 

is guilty of wrongful distribution of intimate visual images or visual images of 
sexually explicit conduct and shall be punished as a court-martial may direct. 

10 U.S.C. § 917a (2018). 

LAW 

a. The President explicitly denies Convening Authorities the ability to refer charges 
under Article 134 when Congress has already addressed the same conduct under a 
different provision of the Code. 

The preemption doctrine prohibits the Government from using Article 134 to prosecute 

conduct already covered under Articles 80 through 132 of the Code. United States v. Guardado, 

77 M.J. 90, 95 (C.A.A.F. 2017) (citing Manual for Courts-Martial (MCM), United States, Part 

IV, ,I 60.c.(S)(a) (2012 ed.)). 1 This doctrine codifies a longstanding principle of military justice: 

"Where Congress has occupied the field of a· given type of misconduct by addressing it in one of 

the specific punitive articles of the code, another offense may not be created and punished under 

Article 134, UCMJ, by simply deleting a vital eiement." United States v. McGuinness, 35 M.J. 

1 The doctrine now appears in ,I 91.c.(S)(a) of the 2019 edition of the Manual. 
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149, 152 (C.M.A. 1992) (citing United States v. Kick, 1 M.J. 82, 85 (C.M.A. 1979)). "Congress 

has 'occupied the field' if it 'intended for one punitive article of the Code to cover the type of 

conduct concerned in a comprehensive ... way."' Id. (quoting United States v. Maze, 21 C.M.A. 

260,262 (C.M.A. 1972)). 

This Court applies a two-part test to determine whether the preemption applies. First, 

Congress must have "intended to limit prosecution for wrongful conduct within a particular area 

or field to offenses defined in specific articles of the Code," and, second, the specifi_catioR must 

be "composed of a residuum of elements of a specific offense and asserted to be a violation of 

either Articles 133 or 134, which, because of their sweep, are commonly described as the general 

articles." Id. at 151-52 (quoting United States v. Wright, 5 M.J. 106, 110-11 (C.M.A. 1978)). 

Under this analysis, the Army lacked authority to charge reckless driving under Article 134 

because Congress pree~pted that offense through Article 111. United States v. Br_ooks, 64 M.J. 

587, 593 (A. Ct. Crim. App. 2006). Likewise, because Congress had, "in Article 121, covered 

the entire field of criminal conversion for military law," an Article 134 "wrongful taking" 

conviction with no specific-intent element was preempted. United States v. Norris, 8 C.M.R. 36, 

39-40 (C.M.A. 1953); but see United States v. Tenney, 60 M.J. 838, 842 (N-M. Ct. Crim. App. 

(2005) ("We have found no indication, and the appellant has cited us to no authority, _that 

Congress intended by the creation of Article 121, UCMJ, to cover the entire field of la,rceny."). 

b. Because a preempted specification fails to allege a necessary element, it fails to 
state an offense and must be dismissed. 

The Guardado court reiterated the dangers of preempted Article 134 specifications, albeit in 

a case involving novel Article 134 specifications that alleged sexually explicit conversations with 

minors that did not contain all the elements of another Article 134 offense, Indecent Language. 

Guardado, 11 M.J. at 95 (citing MCM, pt. IV, ,r 89.b (2012 ed.)). That court observed: 
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By "using 'novel' specifications, the Government relieved itself of the 
responsibility of proving the second, and arguably most important, element of 
indecent language-that Appellant's language rose to the level of indecency. In 
deleting a vital element, the Government, in effect, improperly reduced its burden 
of proof. Such an outcome illustrates the reason for the limits of pt. IV, ,I 
60.c.(6)(c), and cannot be countenanced. 

Id. at 96.2 

"Failure to allege an essential fact renders a specification a legal nullity." United States v. 

Longmire, 39 M.J. 536, 538 (A.C.M.R. 1994) (citing United States v. Jones, 50 C.M.R. 724, 726 

(A.C.M.R. 1975)). 

c. In Article 134, Congress criminalizes commission of "crimes and offenses not 
capital." proof of which has two elements. 

For the pwpose of Clause 3 Article 134 offenses, the Government must prove 

(a) That the accused did or failed to do certain acts that satisfy each element of the 
federal statute (including, in the case of a prosecution under 18 U.S.C. § 13, 
each element of the assimilated State, Territory, Possession, or District law); 
and 

(b) That the offense charged was a crime or offense not capital. 

10 U.S.C. § 834 (2019); Manual for Courts Martial, United States (2019 ed.), part IV, iI 91.b.(3). 

ARGUMENT 

a. Because Congress "occupied the field" of wrongful broadcast of digital images in 
the military when it enacted Article 117a, UCMJ, the Government is preempted 
from charging a wrongful-broadcast-like offense under Article 134, with a 
residuum of elements that reduces the burden to prove "a reasonably direct and 
palpable connection to a military mission or military environment." 

Both parts of the preemption test are met here with respect to Charge II, Specification 4. 

First, that novel Article 134 offense is composed of a "residuum of elements" of Article 117a, 

2 This provision was moved to iI 60.c.(6)(a) of the 2016 edition, and now appears in ,I 91.c.(6)(a) 
in the 2019 edition of the Manual. 
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with the fourth and final element-"a reasonably direct and palpable connectiop. to a military 

mission or military environment"-replaced with the terminal element of Article 134, clause 2. 

' 

A side by side comparison of the elements of 117a and the Charged offense makes this clear: 

Elements of Article 117a 

(1) who knowingly and wrongfully broadcasts 
or distributes an intimate visual image of 
another person or a visual image of sexually 
explicit conduct involving a person who-

(A) is at least 18 years of age at the time the 
intimate visual image or visual image of 
sexually explicit conduct was created; 

(B) is identifiable from the intimate visual 
image or visual image of sexually explicit 
conduct itself, or from information displayed 
in connection with the intimate visual image 
or visual image of sexually explicit conduct; 
and 

(C) does not explicitly consent to the 
broadcast or distribution of the intimate visual 
image or visual image of sexually explicit 
conduct; 

(2) who knows or reasonably should have 
known that the intimate visual image or visual 
image of sexually explicit conduct was made 
under circumstances in which the person 
depicted in the intimate visual image or visual 
image of sexually explicit conduct retained a 
reasonable expectation of privacy regarding 
any broadcast or distribution of the intimate 
visual image or visual image of sexually 
explicit conduct; 

(3) who knows or reasonably should have 
known that the broadcast or distribution of the 
intimate visual image or visual image of 
sexually explicit conduct is likely-

(A) to cause harm, harassment, intimidation, 
emotional distress, or financial loss for the 
person depicted in the intimate visual image 
or visual image of sexually explicit conduct; 
or 

6 

Char2ed Offense 
"knowingly, wrongfully ... broadcast an 
intimate visual image of

(Omitted) 

"who is identifiable from the visual image or 
from information displayed in connection 
with the visual image" 

"without the explicit consent of

"when he knew or reasonable should have 
known that the visual image was made under 
circumstances in which  retained a 
reasonable expectation of privacy regarding 
any broadcast" 

"when he knew or reasonably should have 
known that the broadcast was likely" 

"the cause harm, harassment, or emotional 
distress for  or to harm substantially  
with respect to her safety, business, calling, 
career, reputation, or personal relationships" 
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(B) to harm substantially the depicted person 
with respect to that person's health, safety, 
business, calling, career, financial condition, 
reputation, or personal relationships; and 

( 4) whose conduct, under the circumstances, Replaced with "an act which is of a nature to 

had a reasonably direct and palpable bring discredit upon the armed forces. " 

connection to a military mission or military 
environment 

Second, given the specificity of the statutory elements, there is little doubt that Congress 

intended to limit prosecution for wrongful broadcast or distribution of intimate visual images to 

Article 117a. Indeed, the legislative history shows that Congress had a particular interest in 

limiting such prosecutions to situations involving a "reasonably direct and palpable connection to 

a military mission or military environment." Article 117a was added to the Code as part of the 

National Defense Authorization Act for Fiscal Year 2018, 132 Stat. 1283 § 533. In the original 

drafts of that bill, as introduced in the House and Senate, the proposed addition to the Code 

omitted this element. See H.R. 2810 § 523 (proposing a version of Article 117a that omitted the 

"reasonably direct and palpable connection" element); S.R. § 1519 § 532 (same). While the bill 

was in Conference, however, the Department of Justice weighed in with a letter to the Chairmen 

of the House and Senate Committees on the Armed Services. The Justice Department argued 

that to "avoid First Amendment concerns, we recommend limiting section 532 to the distribution 

of visual images 'with a reasonably direct and palbable connection' to 'the military or military 

environment."' Letter from the Office of the Assistant Attorney General (November 8, 2017), 

https://www.justice.gov/ ola/ page/file /1010611/download (quoting United States v. Wilcox, 66 

M.J. 442, 449 (C.A.A.F. 2008)). Following that letter, Congress added "reasonably direct and 

palpable connection" element to the final version of the bill. H.R. Rep. 115-404 at 810 (2017). 
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Because this Specification is composed of a residuum of elements of Article 117a, and 

because Congress intended to occupy the field, this charging decision falls squarely under the 

preemption doctrine. See MCM, Pt. N, 191.c.(5)(a). Indeed, it is the very reason the doctrine 

exists. See McGuinness, 35 M.J. at 152. 

b. Charge II, Specification 5 fails is preempted because it attempts to incorporate a 
Washington State law to again attempt what the Government may not do in 
Specification 4. 

For essentially the same reasons, the Government is preempted from charging a version of 

Article 117a by citing to Washington State law, as they have done in Specification 5. The Court 

of Appeals for the Armed Forces has observed that State law offenses charged under Article 134 

are preempted when applying "the state law would effectively rewrite an offense definition that 

Congress carefully considered, or because federal statutes reveal an intent to occupy the field." 

United States v. Robbins, 52 M.J. 159, 161-62 (C.A.A.F. 1999) (quoting Lewis v. United States, 

523 U.S. 155, 164 (1999)). 

Congress has spoken: unauthorized distribution of a private intimate image violates the 

UCMJ only when there is a "reasonably direct and palpable connection to a military mission or 

military environment." The Government, in attempting to punish MK.3 Grijalva for distribution 

of intimate images without having to establish Congress's elements, has reduced its burden of 

proof in a way that raises Constitutional concerns Congress specifically intended to avoid. 

c. In its naked allegation of a violation of Washington State law, Specification 5 also 
fails each of its Article 134, clause 3 "offense not capital" requirements. 

Here, in charging MK.3 Grijalva with violating the Washington Criminal Code, the 

Government has not even alleged that MK.3 Grijalva violated a "federal statute." To the extent 

that such a violation is implied, its absence here robs the Members panel of the ability to make 

findings on whether any alleged conduct violated a specific federal statute, as required in the first 
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element of the Article 134 offense. Even if the Government could somehow argue that the 

Specification implicated the Assimilative Crimes Act, 18 U.S.C. § 13, the specification omits the 

first element of such an-offense-that the conduct occurred on exclusive federal jurisdiction. 

Finally, the Specification fails to allege that any violation was a "crime or offense not capital." 

RELIEF REQUESTED 

Because no trial by court-martial is possible on a specification that states no lawful offense, 

this Court has no discretion other than to dismiss Specifications 4 and 5 of Charge II. 

ORAL ARGUMENT 

Unless the Government concedes the motion or this Court grants the relief on the basis of 

pleadings alone, the Defense requests oral argument on this matter. 

J. C. HENDERSON 
CDR, JAGC, USN 
Asst. Detailed Defense Counsel 
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GENERAL COURT-MARTIAL 
UNITED STATES COAST GUARD 

Volume , of I 2 

UNITED STATES GOVERNMENT RESPONSE TO 
DEFENSE MOTION TO DISMISS 

(FAILURE TO STATE OFFENSES) v. 

MARK J. GRIJALVA 25 August 2021 
Machinery Technician Third Class 
U.S. Coast Guard 

RELIEF SOUGHT 

The government requests this Court to deny the defense motion because Charge II , 

Specifications 4 and 5 each state an offense under the Uniform Code of Military Justice ar d are 

not preempted. I 

HEARING 

The government respectfully requests oral argument. 

BURDEN OF PERSUASION AND PROOF 

As the moving party, the defense bears the burden of proof and of persuasion. R.C. M. 

905(c). 

STATEMENT OF FACTS 

1. On the night of 1 February, 2019, MK3 Mark Grijalva of the Marine Force Protecti~n 

Unit in Bangor, Washington, hacked into the Snapchat social media account of his 

civilian friend, MK3 Grijalva was searching for nude or explicit photographs 

took of herself for her boyfriend, civilian (also MK3 Grijalva 's friend 1. 

1 The defense refers to these specifications as 4 and S of Charge II, however that is incorrect. According to di e 
operative charge sheet, the specifications at issue in the motion I response are in Charge Ill. 
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2. MK.3 Grijalva gained access to  Snapchat account by successfully guessing her 

password after nearly 50 attempts. MK3 Grijalva did not have pennission to acce s 

Snapchat account when he guessed her password. Exhibit 1. 

3. After gaining access to  Snapchat account on I February, MK.3 Grijalva co tinued 

to access account throughout February 2019. During this time he downloa ed at 

least 10 images had taken of herself, including five explicit images she took f 

herself posing nude or in her underwear. had taken these pictures to send onl to her 

boyfriend,  and she saved these images on her Snapchat account. Ex ibit 2. 

She did not send the images to anyone else. MK.3 Grijalva did not have pennissio 

download  images when he saved them to his iPhone and Apple Watch. 

4. From 26 February to 5 March, MK3 Grijalva created dating profiles on several so · al 

media dating applications, including Tinder and OKCupid, using name and e 

images of he previously downloaded from  Snapchat account. During 

time, MK3 Grijalva used the fake dating application profiles to contact doze 

young men in the greater Seattle area pretending to be  Records show that duri g 

these conversations, MK3 Grijalva offered to sell  explicit images to the con 

young men, and/or, offered to meet up with the young men for sex in exchange for 

money sent to the fake Paypal account. 

5. Interviews conducted by CGIS Special Agents and records retrieved via subpoena 

revealed that during this time period, MK3 Grijalva sent  intimate images to t 

least three young men via cell phone text messages: GMSN USN; 

and Exhibits 3, 4, 5. 
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6. MK3 Grijalva admitted to this conduct during his COIS interview on 19 July 202 . It is 

still unknown exactly how many people he sent images to. Exhibit 1. 

7. Records and interview statements also show that during this time MK3 Grijalva t xted 

the images to the three identified individuals late at night, during times that he w at 

his residence onboard Naval Base Kitsap - Bangor. Navy records show that Nava Base 

Kitsap is subject to Concurrent Legislative Jurisdiction. Exhibit 6. 

EVIDENCE 

The Government offers the following exhibits: 

Exhibit 1: MK3 Grijalva's video recorded interview with CGIS 

Exhibit 2: CGIS ROI summary of interview with

Exhibit 3: CGIS ROI summary ofinterview with GMSN USN 

Exhibit 4: CGIS ROI summary of interview with

Exhibit 5: CGIS ROI summary of interview with 

Exhibit 6: Department of the Navy: COMNA VREG NORTHWEST INSTRUCTION 110 1.1 

LEGAL AUTHORITY 

Article 134 makes punishable acts in three categories of offenses not specifically c vered 

in any other article of the UCMJ. MCM, Pt. IV, tJ 91(c)(l). These are referred to as "claus 1, 2, 

and 3" of Article 134. Id. Clause 1 offenses involve disorders and neglects to the prejudice of 

good order and discipline in the armed forces. Clause 2 offenses involve conduct of a na to 

bring discredit upon the armed forces. Clause 3 offenses involve noncapital crimes or offe es 

which violate federal civilian law including law made applicable through the Federal Assi ilated 

Crimes Act. Id. In this case, the government charged the accused with violation of 134 und r 
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clause (2) and clause (3). 

1. · Prosecuting offenses under clause (2). 

When prosecuting a case under clause (2), the term "discreditn means to injure th 

reputation of. MCM, Pt. IV, ,I 91(c)(3). This clause of Article 134 makes punishable con uct 

which has a tendency to bring the service into disrepute or which tends to lower it in publ c 

esteem. Acts in violation of a local civil law or a foreign law may be punished if they are fa 

nature to bring discredit upon the armed forces. Id. Novel offenses may be charged under clause 

(2) as long as not prosecutable elsewhere. United States v. Wright, 5 M.J. 106 (C.M.A. 19 8). 

This is known as the preemption doctrine. 

The preemption doctrine prohibits application of Article 134 to conduct already 

prohibited by Congress in the UCMJ by Articles 80 through 132. MCM, Pt. IV, ,I9lc(S)(a. 

According to the Wright test, conduct is already covered if: (1) Congress intended to limit 

prosecutions for certain conduct to offenses defined in specific articles of the UCMJ, and 2) the 

offense sought to be charged is composed of a residuum of elements of an enumerated offi 

under the UCMJ. Wright, S M.J. at 111. 

A year after Wright, the United Stat~s Court of Military Appeals expounded on th 

for preemption in United States v. Kick. "Simply stated, preemption is the legal concept th t 

where Congress has occupied the field of a given type of misconduct by addressing it in o e of 

the specific punitive articles of the code, another offense may not be created and punished der 

Article 134, UCMJ, by simply deleting a vital element. However, simply because the offi e 

charged under Article 134, UCMJ, embraces all but one element ofan offense under anoth r 

article does not trigger operation of the preemption doctrine. [] In addition, it must be sho that 
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Congress intended the other punitive article to cover a class of offenses in a complete wa ." 

[ citations omitted] United States v. Kick, 1 M.J. 82 (C.M.A. 1979)( citing United States v. Maze, 

21 U.S.C.M.A. 260, 262-63, 45 C.M.R. 34, 36-7 (1972) and United States v. Taylor, 17 

U .S.C.M.A. 595, 38 C.M.R. 393 (1968)). 

2. Prosecuting Crimes under clause (3). 

Under clause (3), an accused may be charged with un-preempted state offenses as e 

local federal law of application. This is through the Federal Assimilative Crimes Act (FA 

(18 U.S.C. § 13). Application ofFACA is explained in MCM, Pt. IV, ,J9lc(4)(a)(iii): 

The Federal Assimilative Crimes Act (18 U.S.C. section 13) is an adoption by 
Congress of state criminal laws for areas of exclusive jurisdiction, provided 
federal criminal law, including the UCMJ, has not defined an applicable offense 
for the misconduct committed. The Act applies to state laws validly existing at the 
time of the offense without regard to when these laws were enacted, whether 
before or after the passage of the act, and whether before or after the acquisition 
of the land where the offense was committed. For example, if a person committed 
an act on a military installation in the United States at a certain location over 
which the United States had either exclusive or concurrent jurisdiction, and it was 
not an offense specifically defined by federal law (including the UCMJ), that 
person could be punished for that act by a court-martial if it was a violation of a 
noncapital offense under the law of the State where the military installation was 
located. This is possible because the Act adopts the criminal law of the State 
wherein the military installation is located and applies it as though it were federal 
law. 

The purpose of F ACA is to fill the gaps left by the patchwork of federal statutes. United S 

Robbins, 52 M.J. 159 (C.A.A.F. 1999). "When alleging a clause 3 violation, each element 

federal statute (including, in the case of a prosecution under 18 U.S.C. section 13, each el ent 

of the assimilated State, Territory, Possession, or District law) must be expressly or by nee ssary 

implication, and the specification must expressly allege that the conduct was 'an offense n t 

capital.' In addition, any applicable statutes should be identified in the specification." MC , Pt. 

IV, 'tJ9lc(6)(b). 
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There are limits on the use and application of FACA. State law may not be assim· ated if 

the act or omission is punishable by any enactment of Congress. The discussion section t 

,r9tc(5)(a) states: "Although the preemption doctrine generally does not preclude chargin 

Article 134, clause 3 offenses ( crimes or offense, not capital), the preemption doctrine do 

preclude charging a federal "crime or offense, not capital" under Article 134 clause 3 wh re 

either direct legislative language or direct legislative history demonstrate that Congress i ended 

a factually similar UCMJ punitive article to cover a class of offenses in a complete way." 

The test for assimilating a state statute under FACA comes from the United States 

Supreme Court's opinion in Lewis v. United States, 523 U,S, 155, (1998). Lewis establish d a 

two-part test: (1) Is the accused's "act or omission ... made punishable by any enactment of 

Congress?" If not, then assimilate. If so, ask: (2) Do the relevant federal statutes preclude 

application of the state law? Specifically, would the application of the state law interfere ith the 

achievement of a federal policy, effectively rewrite an offense definition that Congress c 

considered, or run counter to Congressional intent to occupy the entire field under conside tion? 

Lewis, 523 U.S. at 164. 

ARGUMENT 

1. Defense has not proved their burden that Congress intended for Article 117a 
cover the broadcast of a civilian's intimate images by a military accused. 

Under the preemption doctrine, the defense must prove that Congress intended to Ii it 

prosecutions for all broadcasts of intimate visual images that were created under a reasona le 

expectation of privacy by an accused to only Article 117a. However, the background as to hy 

Article 117a was drafted, and its development from drafting to final enactment does not su port 

such a finding. 
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First, Article 117a was drafted with the idea of providing a tool to military comm ders 

to punish the conduct uncovered in the Marines United scandal in 2017. The scandal inv lved 

"hundreds of Marines who were part of a Facebook page used to solicit and share hundre s, 

maybe even thousands, of naked photographs of female servicemembers and veterans." rom 

Veteran to Victim: An In Depth Analysis of the Military 's New Revenge Porn Statute, Ali ia 

Ferguson, 46 U. Dayton L. Rev. 79, 82 (2020) (Enclosure 1). Through criminal investig 

and reporting, it was determined that servicemembers used Google Drive folders linked t 

Marines United Facebook page to share files of women's' names, their military branches, their 

intimate images, screenshots of their social media accounts, and images of sexual acts." I . at 83. 

Congress sought a solution to this problem in various ways, however, the end pro uct 

was 533 of the National Defense Authorization Act for Fiscal Year 2018, which added a 

article to the UCMJ -Article 117a. The defense cites to the November 8, 2017 letter fro 

Office of the Assistant Attorney General to the Chainnen of the House and Senate Comm 

on the Armed Services in its motion. The defense argues that the letter and subsequent ch 

to the bill is all the proof necessary to conclude Congress intended to limit all prosecution 

wrongful broadcasts of privately held intimate images "in a complete way" via Article 11 a. 

However, reading the applicable section of the letter in its entirety provides context to Co 

intent. 

The letter addresses two sections of the proposed bill at that time: Sections 521 and 532. 

Section 521 was a proposal to amend the Manual for Courts-Martial to include a specific 

. enumerated offense under article 134 of the UCMJ that dealt with the distribution of a visu l 

depiction of the private area of a person or of sexually explicit conduct involving a person. 
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Section 532 was the proposal to add what is now Article 117a. It is true the letter suggest , and 

Congress ended up adopting for Section 532, the suggested limiting language from the Fi st 

Amendment case United States v. Wilcox, 66 M.J. 442,449 (C.A.A.F. 2008): "with area onably 

direct and palpable connection to the military or military environment." However, Conw s did 

not end up passing section 521 to add an enumerated offense under Article 134. Instead, 

521 did not end up in the final text of the bill; it was discarded. 

Rather than create a set of statutes to cover a broader base of conduct, Congress c ose to 

address specific conduct when it passed Article l 17a- the sharing of private intimate im es of 

military members within the military environment by a military accused. This choice sho Id not 

be construed as Congressional intent to occupy "the field" for the purpose of preemption 

analysis. See United States v. McGuiness, 35 M.J. 149, 152 (C.M.A. 1992). The evidence 

to by the defense does not suggest that Congress intended to limit any prosecution of a mi itary 

accused who, as in this case, steals private intimate images from a civilian victim and the 

broadcasts those images to other civilians. Accordingly, because Congress did not intend 

prohibit the conduct in this case by enacting Article 117a, Charge III, Specification 4 and are 

not preempted. 

2. Even if Article 117a is meant to "cover" the conduct at issue in this case for th 
preemption analysis, Article 117a does not preclude application of the applica le 
Washington State law under Lewis. 

If the Court finds that Charge III, Specification 4 is preempted by Article 117a, the 

government may still proceed on Specification 5. The issue of assimilation of the Washin on 

State statute, RCW 9A.86.010 (Enclosure 2), Disclosing Intimate Images is a different ma er 

than determining if Article 117a preempts the government from charging the conduct in th case 
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under clause 2 of Article 134. Indeed, it involves a different test with distinct considerati ns. As 

the Supreme Court stated in Lewis: "[T]he ACA 's language and its gap-filling purpose t 

together indicate that a court must first ask the question that the ACA's language requir, : Is the 

defendant's 'act or omission ... made punishable by any enactment of Congress. 18 U.S. . 

section 13(a). If the answer to this question is 'no,' that will nonnally end the matter. The ACA 

presumably would assimilate the statute." Lewis, 523 at 164. 

Here, and similar to that discussed above, the accused's disclosure of a civilian's i timate 

images via text message to other people he belieyes are civilians is not made punishable 

Article 117a because of the limiting language of the final element. It is clear from the hist ry of 

Article 117a that is was passed to address a specific wrong brought to the forefront by the 

Marines United scandal. It was not meant to address the situation in this case, a case whe~ 

misconduct has no palpable connection to a military mission or the military environment. 

should end the matter, as described in Lewis, and the Washington State law should be assi 

in this case. 

Assuming, arguendo, this Court finds that Article 117a does (or was intended) to~ ish 

the type of crime the accused committed in this case, there is another step in the analysis.' If the 

answer to this question is 'yes,' however, the court must ask the further question whether e 

federal statutes that apply to the 'act or omission' preclude application of the state law in 

question, say, because its application would interfere with the achievement of a federal pol cy, 

because the state law would effectively rewrite an offense definition that Congress careful] 

considered or because federal statutes reveal an intent to occupy so much of a field as wou d 

exclude use of the particular state statute at issue." Lewis, 523 at 164-165. There are sever 
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factors that demonstrate that Congress did not want to punish the accused's conduct in th s case 

with only Article 117a to the exclusion of the Washington State law in this case. 

First, and again, as discussed above, Congress did not seek to preempt all other di closure 

/ broadcast ofintimate image laws when it amended the UCMJ to include Article 117a. I did not 

choose to enact a similar Article 134 act, which, taken with Article 117a, would have con tituted 

a "set of federal enactments'' to "make criminal a single fonn of wrongful behavior." L 

U.S. at 165. In passing only Article 117a, Congress left open a gape for state statutes like 

9A.86.010. 

Indeed, several state revenge porn statutes were in place, including the Washingto 

law at issue in this case, at the time Article 117a was enacted as part of the National Defe se 

Authorization Act for Fiscal Year 2018 in December 2017. The defense offers no stateme ts of 

legislative intent - no statements from the drafters - that this statute was meant to preclud 

application of state laws through clause (3) when a military accused targets a civilian by 

releasing the civilian victim's intimate images in a completely civilian setting. The statem nts by 

the Assistant Attorney General to Congress do not reflect statements by Congress on its in ent. 

Moreover, the statements in the Assistant Attorney General's letter regarding the First 

Amendment analysis discussed in Wilcox are inapposite to the issue involved in this case. e 

accused is not being charged with the Washington State law for his speech, but for the 

nonconsensual broadcast of intimate visual images of a civilian, who did not consent to the 

broadcast of her intimate visual images that she never intended the accused to see. 

Finally, the different levels of punishment between Article 117a and the Washingto 

State law further show that assimilating the Washington State law under FACA does not 
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with the policy reasons for enacting Article 117a. Congress meant to punish more severel those 

situations where an accused shared intimate images of a fellow service member, hence th 

stronger terminal element. While the President has not yet established any limits on the 

punishment which a court martial may direct for Article 117a, according to 

R.C.M.1003(c)(l)(B), the offense most similar is Article 120c(a)(3) ("knowingly broadca ts or 

distributes any recording that the person knew or reasonably should have known was ma 

[ under circumstances in which the other person has a reasonable expectation of privacy]), which 

carries a maximum sentence of dishonorabl~ discharge, seven years confinement, and tot 

forfeitures. 

In contrast, a first offense ofRCW 9A.86.010 is a "gross misdemeanor" punishab e by 

confinement up to 364 days, and a fine fixed by the court of not more than $5000. RCW 

9 .92.020 (Enclosure 3). Assimilating the applicable state law in this case achieves the 

complimentary policy of prosecuting an accused for broadcasting intimate visual images o a 

civilian in a civilian setting under less punitive laws. 

3. Charge III, Specification 5 includes all the requirements of an assimilated c · e 
under clause 3 

The defense claim that Charge III, Specificatio1:1 5 fails to allege all the necessary 

elements is without merit. When alleging an assimilated state statute under clause (3) of 

134, the government must plead each element of the federal or assimilated State law expr 

by necessary implication and it must expressly allege that the conduct was an offense not 

Here, the specification lists where the offense occurred (Naval Base Kitsap Bangor), the st te 

law, and the elements of the law that the accused violated. The necessary implication of thi 

language is that it is a violation of federal law through the F ACA. Furthermore, the gove ent 
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will prove at trial that the accused committed the crime while at a location under concum nt 

jurisdiction, thus establishing the jurisdictional hook for assimilating the state law. Finall , the 

specification specifically states that it is an offense not capital. As such, the specification eets 

the requirements of stating an offense listed in the Manual for.Courts Martial. See MCM, pt. IV, 

,I9 l c( 6)(b ). 

CONCLUSION 

The government respectfully requests the Court DENY the defense motion. 

Enclosures for the convenience of the Court: 

Isl Case A. Colaw 
CASE A. COLAW 
Lieutenant, USCG 
Trial Counsel 

Enclosure 1: From Veteran to Victim: An In Depth Analysis of the Military 's New Reveng, Porn 
Statute, 46 U. Dayton L. Rev. 79 (2020) 

Enclosure 2: RCW 9A.86.010 

Enclosure 3: RCW 9.92.020 
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I hereby certify that a true and accurate copy of the above was served on the belo listed 

individuals via electronic mail on 25 August 2021. 

CAPT Diane M. Croff, USCG 
Military Judge 

LCDR Benjamin Adams, USN, JAGC 
Detailed Defense Counsel 

CDR Justin Henderson, USN, JAGC 
Detailed Defense Counsel 

LCDR Terrence Thornburgh, USCG 
Special Victims Counsel 

LT Adam Jaffe, USCG 
Special Victims Counsel 

Isl Case A. Colaw 
CASE A. COLAW 
Lieutenant, USCG 
Trial Counsel 
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UNITED ST A TES 

v. 

MARK J. GRIJALVA 

GENERAL COURT-MARTIAL 
UNITED STATES COAST GUARD 

GOVERNMENT MOTION FOR 
PRELIMINARY RULING ON 

ADMISSIBILITY OF EVIDENCE: 

Machinery Technician Second Class 
U.S. Coast Guard 

WA VE BROADBAND RECORDS 

I I August 202 I 

RELIEF SOUGHT 

The government moves under R.C.M. 906(b)(13) and M.R.E. 104 for a prelimina 

determination of admissibility of Prosecution Exhibit I, which consists of records produce by 

WaveDivision Holdings, LLC dba ("Wave Broadband"), in response to a search warrant is ued 

by the State of California. 

HEARING 

The government respectfully requests oral argument if this motion is opposed. 

BURDEN OF PERSUASION AND PROOF 

As the moving party, the government bears the burden to prove that the evidence is 

admissible by a preponderance of the evidence. R.C.M. 905(c). 

SUMMARY OF FACTS 

On 5 March 2019,  of the accused, MK3 Mark Grijalva, 

discovered nude (explicit) images of on the accused's Apple Watch. After discoverin 

explicit images on Apple Watch, Rosa Grijalva sent videos and scree shots 

of the images on the watch to  boyfriend (and MK3 Grijalva's friend),

• •· .... •· showed  the videos and screenshetssent by never shared n de 

APPELLATE EXHfBIT 3 8°' 
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photos of herself with the accused, nor anyone else besides

 made a report to the Anaheim, California Police Department. See Exhibit 1. .C. 

recalled that the only place she stored the explicit images of herself was on her Snapchat a count 

which is protected by a password.  forwarded Anaheim Police Detective an 

email she received containing a logon notification from Team Snapchat to the email addre s 

associated with her Snapchat account notifying her of a logon to her Snapchat account that took 

place "somewhere near Bremerton, WA, United States ." was I 

in Anaheim, CA when the logon occurred and has never been to Bremerton, WA. 

Detective  used an internet based geographical IP search to discover that the P 

address was located in Silverdale, Washington where the accused resides, and that the IP a dress 

was provided by Wave Broadband. In addition, Detective  confirmed that the Grijal a's 

used Wave Broadband as their internet provider during a phone call with  on 0 

March 2019. See Exhibit 1. 

On 21 March 2019, Detective  applied to the Superior Court of California. C 

of Orange, North Justice Center Department 3, for a search warrant seeking records related to the 

IP address associated with the Snapchat logon notification received by Ms. 

The same day, Judge Roger Robbins of the Superior Court of the State of California issued 

search warrant to Wave Broadband for records held by Wave Broadband for the IP address 

See Exhibit 2. This warrant was directed to "Wave Broadband,.

 and identified the evidence to be seized as: 

"Subscriber information including name, address, telephone phone 

numbers, date of birth, date ofregistration, billing information and 
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email addresses associated with the account holder for the 

following IP address: 

2019-02-0 I 22:57:48 MST" 

Detective  sent this warrant to Wave Broadband the same day. 

On 9 May 2019, the Custodian ofRecor.ds at Wave Broadband complied with the s arch 

warrant. See Exhibit 3. Ms. Custodian of Records, included a Certificate of 

Authenticity along as part of that response. She also included a cover letter, and a responsi e file 

containing subscriber information for the JP address. 

The government now seeks to admit that cover letter, Certificate of Authenticity, a d 

responsive file, which contains subscriber and billing information of IP address

as Prosecution Exhibit I (Exhibit 3 to this motion). 

EVIDENCE 

1. Exhibit 1: Anaheim Police Department Report by Cadet

2. Exhibit 2: State of California search warrant signed by Judge . 

3. Exhibit 3: Response to State of California search warrant from Wave Broadband. 

LEGAL AUTHORITY AND ARGUMENT 

Relevant evidence is generally admissible. M.R.E. 402. Relevant evidence is any 

evidence which tends to make the existence of any fact that is of consequence to the 

determination of the action more or less probable than it would be without the evidence. M .E. 

40 I. The files contained in Prosecution Exhibit I are relevant to all charges because they Ii k 

MK3 Grijalva's Wave Broadban account with the IP address that accessed Snapchat 
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account without her knowledge or consent, thereby making it more probable the accused 

committed the charged crimes. 

Moreover, the probati ve value of this evidence is not substantially outweighed by t e 

danger of unfair prejudice. and therefore is not barred by M.R.E. 403. M. R. E. 403 is a rule of 

inclusion, not exclusion. United States v. Teeter, 12 M.J. 7 16 (A.C.M.R. 198 1) (stating tha 

striking a balance between probative value and prejudicial effect is left to the trial judge an that 

the balance "should be struck in favor of admission." The passive voice suggests that it is t e 

opponent who must persuade that the prejudicial dangers overcome the probative value. U ited 

States v. Leiker, 37 M.J . 418 (C.M.A. 1993). 

Records of a Regularl y Conducted Activity are admissible notwithstanding the rule 

against hearsay. M.R. E. 803(6). The records contained in Prosecution Exhibit I quali fy u der 

this exception, as they were made contemporaneously with the underlying events and they ere 

kept in the normal course of regularly conducted business acti vity. 

Finally, M.R.E. 90 I (a)'s authentication threshold is met by "evidence suffi cient to 

support a finding that the item is what the proponent claims it is." Under M.R.E. 90 I, evid nee 

authenti city serves a condition to admission. M.R.E. 90 I (a). The records in Prosecution Ex 1ibit I 

are admissible pursuant to M.R.E. 902( 11 ) as certified records of regularly conducted activ ty as 

demonstrated by the sworn Certificate of Authenticity submitted by the Custodian of recor s of 

Wave Broadband. 
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CONCLUSION 

The government respectfu lly requests the Court determine that Prosecution Exhibi 1s 

relevant to all charges, meets the hearsay exception for Records of a Regularly Conducted 

Activity, and that this foundation is properly demonstrated by the Certificate of Authentici y. 

wh ich is a se lf-authenticating document. The government further requests that Prosecution 

Exhibit I be admitted into ev idence. 

Isl Case A. Colaw 
CASE A. COLAW 
Lieutenant. USCG 
Tri al Counsel 
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

I hereby certify that a true and accurate copy of the above was served on the below I isted 

ind ividuals via electronic mail on 11 August 202 1. 

CAPT Diane M. Croff, USCG 
Military Judge 

LCDR Benjamin Adams. USN, JAGC 
Detailed Defense Counsel 

CDR Justin Henderson, USN. JAGC 
Detailed Defense Counsel 

LCDR Terrence Thornburgh. USCG 
Special Victims Counse l 

LT Adam Jaffe, USCG 
Special Victims Counsel 

Isl Case A. Colaw 
CASE A. COLAW 
Lieutenant, USCG 
Trial Counsel 
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GENERAL COURT-MARTIAL 
UNITED STATES COAST GUARD 

UNITED STATES GOVERNMENT MOTION FOR 
PRELIMINARY RULING ON 

ADMISSIBILITY OF EVIDENCE: v. 

MARK J. GRIJALVA AUDIO RECORDING OF ACCUSED'S 
PHONE CALL TO DETECTIVE Machinery Technician Third Class 

U.S. Coast Guard 

RELIEF SOUGHT 

11 Au ust 2021 

The Government moves under R.C.M. 906(b)(l3) and M.R.E. 104 for a preliminary 

determination of admissibility of Prosecution Exhibit 3, which consists of an audio recordi g of 

a phone call by the accused to Anaheim Police Detective on 6 March 2020. 

HEARING 

The Government respectfully requests oral argument if this motion is opposed. 

BURDEN OF PROOF 

As the moving party, the Government bears the burden of proof and of persuasion t at 

the evidence is admissible by a preponderance of the evidence. R.C.M. 905(c). 

SUMMARY OF FACTS 

MK3 Grjialva accesses   Snapchat account and obtains her images 

On the night of 1 February, 2019, MK3 Mark Grijalva of the Marine Force Protectio 

Unit in Bangor, Washington, hacked into the Snapchat social media account of his civilian 

friend, MK3 Grijalva was searching for nude or explicit photographs took of hers If 

for her boyfriend, civilian (also MK3 Grijalva's friend). MK3 Grijalva did so 
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while at his residence located on board Naval Base Kitsap located at  

. and unbeknownst to  MK3 Grijalva gai ed 

access to  Snapchat Account by successfully guessing her password after nearly 50 

attempts. MK3 Grijalva did not have permission to access  Snapchat account when I e 

guessed her password. 

After gain ing access to Snapchat account on I February, MK3 Grijalva cont nued 

to access account throughout February 2019. During thi s time he downloaded at lea t I 0 

images had taken of herself. includ ing five explicit images she took of herself posing ude 

or in her underwear.  had taken these pictures to send only to her boyfriend,  

and she saved these images on her Snapchat account. She did not send the images to anyor e else. 

MK3 Grijalva did not have permission to download  images when he saved them to ,is 

iPhone and Apple Watch. 

MK3 Gr[ialva uses name and photos to create a Yahoo! email account, a P ypal 
account and social media dating application pro.files 

On 26 February, 20 19, MK3 Grijalva created a Yahoo! email address in nan e. 

Accord ing to records received from Yahoo!. MK3 Grijalva listed his personal cell phone a d his 

birthday on the Yahoo! profi le for fake Shortly thereafter, MK3 Grijalva created a Pa pal 

account in  name using the fake  Yahoo! email address. According to records re eived 

from Paypal, MK3 Grijalva listed his personal cell phone on the fake Paypal account 

in fo rmation and linked hi s USAA personal checking account to receive money from the fa e 

Paypal account. 

From 26 February to 5 March. MK3 Grijalva created dating profiles on severa l soc al 

media dating applications, including Tinder and OK Cupid, using name and the ima 1es of 
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 he previously downloaded from  Snapchat account. During this time, MK3 Gri alva 

used the fake dating application profiles to contact dozens of young men in the great r 

Seattle area pretending to be Records show that during these conversations. MK3 Gri alva 

offered to sell explicit images to the contacted young men. and/or, offered to meet p with 

the young men for sex in exchange for money sent to the fake Paypal account. Recor s also 

show that during this time period MK3 Grijalva sent explicit images to at least thre 

young men: GMSN  USN,  and 

Rosa Grijalva discovers  explicit images on MK3 Grijalva 's Apple Watch 

On 5 March 2019, MK3 Grijalva went to work at the MFPU in Bangor, Washingto . He 

took his personal cell phone, but left his Apple Watch at home. MK3 Grijalva's

was at home and noticed the Watch received several incoming messages. She scr lied 

' 
through the messages on the Apple Watch and saw the explicit images of whom she 

recognized.  made a phone call to who was in  

where he lived and worked, to discuss what she found. Throughout the day, nd 

exchanged phone calls and text messages as they attempted to figure out why

explicit images were on MK3 Grijalva's Apple Watch and why MK3 Grijalva appeared to be 

sending the images to unknown phone numbers. During this time used her c II 

phone to take photos and videos of the text message conversations on MK3 Grijalva's Ap 

Watch that contained the explicit images of and she sent them to

After speaking to called and texted MK3 Grijalva. 

demanded to speak with MK3 Grijalva about why  images were on MK3 Grijalva' s pple 

Watch. MK3 Grijalva did not respond until the evening (1805) and claimed he could not r tum 
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call because he had an important meeting. 

For the rest of the evening of 5 March, continued o 

exchange text messages about what they were going to do now that  found t 

images of  MK3 Grijalva and exchanged text messages into the night about w ether 

MK3 Grijalva was responsible for the images being on the Apple Watch. 

report the incident to Anaheim Police Department 

On 6 March 2019, visited the Main station of the Anaheim 

Department in Orange County, California. They spoke to Anaheim Police Department Ca et

reported the incident to Cadet  who wrote up a report. ee 

Exhibit 1. Cadet  also contacted Anaheim Police Detective  who 

assisted Cadet  in extracting data from  cell phone. 

The Grijalvas call Detective Cunah 

At approximately I 030, while Detective  was extracting messages from 

cell phone, called  and Detective  answered the call. Detective 

 introduced himself as an Anaheim Police detective and confirmed that  as 

MK3 Grijalva. They spoke about what  had found on MK3 Grijalva's Apple 

Watch; how she had documented what she found with pictures and videos; that she sent th 

pictures and videos to  and what she thought were possible explanations for why t e 

images were on MK3 Grijalva's phone. Detective  provided with his 

phone number  The call lasted approximately 5-10 minutes. See Exhibit . 

At 1347,  and MK3 Grijalva ca11ed Detective  at the phone nu 

Detective  had provided to  three hours before. informed Detecti e 
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that MK3 Grijalva wanted to speak with him and then handed off the phone to MK 

Grjialva. The ensuing conversation with MK3 Grijalva lasted 8 minutes and 30 seconds. 

Detective  recorded the conversation, as was his custom and practice. During the 

conversation, Detective  told MK3 Grijalva that he was just getting started investiga ing 

the case and asked to verify some background information (full name, date of birth, rate an 

rank). Detective  then informed MK3 Grijalva that he knew ere 

involved, and then asked MK3 Grijalva what he wanted to speak about. MK3 Grijalva exp ained 

that he would be "on mission" for the next few days and would not be able to speak to the 

detective. MK3 Grijalva also explained that he had been receiving fake phone calls about 

bank account and IRS activity; and that he used special procedures to file his taxes as a res It. 

Detective  asked MK3 Grijalva if he had ever had any photos of or if she had s nt 

him any photos of herself; MK3 Grijalva denied both. MK3 Grijalva then asked if he shou d file 

a police report of his own, to which Detective  advised it was his choice. See Exhib t 2. 

EVIDENCE 

I. Exhibit 1: Anaheim Police Department Report by Cadet

2. Exhibit 2: Affidavit of Detective

LEGAL AUTHORITY AND ARGUMENT 

Relevant evidence is generally admissible. M.R.E. 402. Relevant evidence is any evid ce 

which tends to make the existence of any fact that is of consequence to the determination 

action more or less probable than it would be without the evidence. M.R.E. 401. The audi 

Detective phone call with MK3 Grijalva, contained in Prosecution Exhibit 3 (Exh bit B 

attached to Exhibit 2) is relevant to Charge II and Charge III. 
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Prosecution Exhibit 3 is relevant to Charge II because MK3 Grijalva·s statements 

concerning strange activity on his bank account; special procedures for filing hi s taxes; ne er 

having possession of  explicit images; and his interest in fil ing his own police report 

amount to affirmative fa lsehoods intended to mislead and misd irect Detective 

investigation. See United States v. Rogers. 78 M.J. 8 13 (C.G.C.C.A. Feb. 19, 2019) (citing 

United Stales v. Jenkins. 48 M.J. 594.60 1-02 (A. Ct. Crim. App. 1998). 

Prosecution Exhibit 3 is relevant to Charge 111 because the above referenced statem nts 

by MK3 Grij alva constitute fa lse exculpatory statements concerning the conduct alleged in 

Charge Ill and they tend to suggest MK3 Grijalva's consciousness of guil t. See United Sta s v. 

Williams. No. ACM 39746. 2021 WL 955908, * 14 (A.F. Ct. Crim. App. Mar 12, 202 1 )(cit ng 

Wilson v. United States, 162 U.S. 6 13, 62 1 ( 1896)). 

The statements of MK3 Grijalva, when offered by the government, are not hearsay. 

M.R.E. 801 (d)(2). The statements were made voluntarily: while MK3 Grija lva and were 

in Silverdale. Washington. they called Detective  in Anaheim, California. at Detecti e 

work phone number, because MK3 Grijalva desired to speak with Detective

about the investigation. 

Moreover, the probative value of this evidence is not substantially outweighed by t e 

danger of un fa ir prejudice, and therefore is not barred by M.R.E. 403. M.R.E. 403 is a rule f 

inclusion, not exclusion. United Stales v. Teeter, 12 M.J. 716 (A.C.M.R. 198 1) (stating th t 

striking a balance between probative value and prejudicia l effect is left to the trial judge an that 

the balance "should be struck in favo r of admission." The passive voice suggests that it is t e 

opponent who must persuade that the prejudicial dangers overcome the probative value. 
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States v. Leiker, 37 M.J. 4 18 (C.M.A. 1993). 

CONCLUSION 

The Government respectfully requests the Court determine that Prosecution Exhibit 3 i · 

relevant to Charge II and Charge I I I and that it is not hearsay. The Government further req tests 

that Prosecution Exhibit 3 be admitted into evidence. 

Isl Case A. Colaw 
CASE A. COLAW 
Lieutenant. USCG 
Trial Counsel 
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I hereby certify that a true and accurate copy of the above was served on the below listed 

individuals via electronic mail on 11 August 2021. 

CAPT Diane M. Croff, USCG 
Military Judge 

LCDR Benjamin Adams, USN, JAGC 
Detailed Defense Counsel 

CDR Justin Henderson, USN, JAGC 
Detailed Defense Counsel 

LCDR Terrence Thornburgh, USCG 
Special Victims Counsel 

LT Adam Jaffe, USCG 
Special Victims Counsel 

Isl Case A. Colaw 
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Lieutenant, USCG 
Trial Counsel 
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UNITED STATES 

v. 

MARKJ. GRIJALVA 

GENERAL COURT-MARTIAL 
UNITED STATES COAST GUARD 

GOVERNMENT MOTION FOR 
PRELIMINARY RULING ON 

ADMISSIBILITY OF EVIDENCE: 

Machinery Technician Third Class 
U.S. Coast Guard 

CGIS INTERVIEW OF ACCUSED 

1 1 August 2021 

RELIEF SOUGHT 

The government moves under R.C.M. 906(b )( 13) and M.R.E. I 04 for a prelimina 

determination of admissibility of Prosecution Exhibit 4, which consists of a video recordi 

the CGIS interview of the accused, MK3 Mark Grijalva. 

HEARING 

The government respectfully requests oral argument if this motion is opposed. 

BURDEN OF PERSUASION AND PROOF 

As the moving party, the government bears the burden of proof and of persuasion t at the 

evidence is admissible by a preponderance of the evidence. R.C.M. 905( c ). 

SUMMARY OF FACTS 

On Friday, 12 July 2019, CGIS Special Agents 

interviewed MK3 Mark Grijalva at the NCIS Northwest Field Office onboard Naval Base itsap 

Bangor, in Silverdale, Washington. The purpose of the interview was to gather factual 

information regarding allegations that MK3 Grijalva had illegally obtained explicit image 

civilian friend, that he had broadcasted those images without  consent; and th 

~ .... ,,., , ..... "., .. ,. "~"'•had,,stele ,,identity-when-he,oreated a~¥ah00~,email aeceunt, a Paypal account, and 
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severa l social media dating application accounts using  name and image. See Exhibit . 

At the outset of the interview, SIA  provided MK3 Grijalva the Article 31 (b) ri hts. 

both verbally and in writing, before asking any substantive questions. MK3 Grija lva indicat d he 

understood those rights and elected to talk with SIA  and SIA  without the 

presence of an attorney. See Exhibit 1. 

During the interview. MK3 Grjialva initially denied the allegations and lied to the Speci 

Agents before he eventua lly made numerous admiss ions, confessions. and corroborated the 

factual allegations developed in the case. 

The recording was made with the NCIS Northwest Filed Office video system. SIA  

retrieved the video file from the NCIS system and subsequently stored the fil e at CGIS 

Northwest Region Office. See Exhibit l. 

EVIDENCE 

The Government offers the fo llowing exhi bits : 

Exhibit 1: Affidavit of Special Agent and attachments. 

LEGAL AUTHORITY & ARGUMENT 

Relevant evidence is generally admissible. M.R.E. 402. Relevant evidence is any evider ce 

which tends to make the ex istence of any fact that is of consequence to the determination o the 

action more or less probable than it would be without the evidence. M.R.E. 401. The fil e 

contained in Prosecution Exhi bit 4 (Exhi bit B attached to Exhibit 1 of this motion) is relev nt to 

all charges because, during the interview with SIA and SIA the accused 

admitted: that he obtained  explicit images from her Snapchat account; that he did no have 

her permission to do so; that he used her name and photos to create an emai I and various so ial 
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media dating application accounts in name; that he posed as on the social media 

dating applications in order to sell  images and offer sexual favors for money; that he as 

not being truthful to the Special Agents about where his Apple Watch was (or was not) loca 

on the date of the interview. 

MK3 Grijalva's statements, when offered by the government, are not hearsay. M.R.E. 

801(d)(2). The statements were made voluntarily and following a knowing and voluntary w iver 

of MK3 Grijalva's rights. M.R.E. 305(e). 

CONCLUSION 

The Government respectfully requests the Court determine that Prosecution Exhibit 4 is 

relevant to all charges, is not hearsay, and its probative value is not substantially outweighe by 

any potential danger to the accused.-The Government further requests that Prosecution Exhi it 4 

be admitted into evidence. 

Isl Case A. Colaw 
CASE A. COLAW 
Lieutenant, USCG 
Trial Counsel 
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UNITED STATES COAST GUARD TRIAL JUDICIARY 
GENERAL COURT-MARTIAL 

UNITED STATES DEFENSE RESPONSE TO 
GOVERNMENT MOTION FOR 

PRELIMINARY RULING ON 
ADMISIBILITY OF EVIDENCE 
(CGIS Interview of the Accused) 

v. 

MARKJ. GRIJALVA 
MK3/E-4 
U.S. NAVY 25AUG21 

MOTION & BURDEN 

Pursuant to R.C.M. 906 and Mil. R. Evid. 401,403 and 404(b), the Defense objects tot 

portion of Prosecution Exhibit 4 in which MK3 Grijalva mentions the possibility that he ma 

have engaged in an extramarital affair. As the moving party, the Government bears the bur n 

of proof by a preponderance of the evidence with regard to each factual issue necessary for 

resolution of this matter. R.C.M. 905(c). 

FACTS 

For the purposes of this motion, the Defense adopts the "Summary of Facts" offered by t e 

Government in support of their motion for a preliminary ruling on the admissibility of the C ast 

Guard Investigative Service (CGIS) interrogation ofMK3 Grijalva, with the following addit' n: 

1. During the course ofMK3 Grijalva's interrogation by CGIS, the following exchange 

occurred: 
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(Enclosure A. at 35:22-36:5). 

LAW & ARGUMENT 

Any reference, however slight, to MK3 Grijlava having been unfaithful to duri the 

course of their would not be relevant under Mil. R. Evid. 40 I, as it has no bearing n 

any of the charges at issue in this case. Even if that portion of the interview could pass a tes for 

bare relevance, the possibility for unfair prejudice to MK.3 Grijalva far outweighs whatever 

minimal relevance it might have, and should be excluded under Mil. R. Evid. 403. Finally, 

evidence would constitute a "crime, wrong, or other act" that is inadmissible under Mil. R. 

404(b). 

RELIEF REQUESTED 

The Defense objects to the admission of that portion of MK3 Grijalva's interview with GIS 

in which he makes reference to a relationship outside

EVIDENCE & ARGUMENT 

The Defense offers the following enclosure in support of this Response: 

A. Excerpt from transcript ofCGIS interview of the Accused dtd 14 Jul 19 

Unless the Government concedes the motion or this Court grants the relief on the basis o 

pleadings alone, the Defense requests oral argument on this matter. 

B.D.ADAMS 
LCDR, JAGC, USN 
Detailed Defense Counsel 
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GENERAL COURT-MARTIAL 
UNITED STATES COAST G UARD 

UN ITED STATES GOVERNMENT MOTION FOR 
PRELIMINARY RULING ON 

ADMISSIBILITY OF EVIDENCE: V. 

MARK J. GRIJALVA YAHOO! RECORDS 

11 August 202 1 
Machinery Technician Third Class 
U.S. Coast Guard 

RELIEF SOUGHT 

The government moves under R.C.M. 906(b)(l 3) and M.R.E. I 04 for a pre liminary 

determination o f admissibili ty of Prosecution Exhibit 2, which consists of records produce by 

Oath Holdings, Inc. (" Yahoo!"), in response to a search warrant issued by the Uni ted State 

Coast Guard. 

HEARING 

The government respectful ly requests oral argument if this motion is opposed. 

BURDEN OF PERSUASION AND BURDEN OF PROOF 

As the moving party. the government bears the burden o f proof and of persuasion t e 

evidence is admissible by a preponderance of the evidence . R.C.M. 905(c). 

SUMMARY OF FACTS 

On the night of I February, 20 19, MK3 Mark Grijalva o f the Marine Force Protect i n 

Unit in Bangor, Washingto n, hacked into the Snapchat socia l media account of his c ivilian 

friend,  looking for nude or explic it images took of herself for her boyfriend,  

(also MK3 Grija lva's fri end). MK3 Gr'jallva did so while at his residence located 
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unbeknownst to his MK3 Grijalva gained access to  

Account by successfully guessing her password after at least 50 attempts. MK3 Grija lva di not 

have permission to access  Snapchat account when he g uessed her password. 

After gaining access to  Snapchat account on I February, MK3 Grija lva conti ued 

to access account w ithout her consent throughout February 20 19. During this time h 

downloaded at least IO images had taken of herself, including five explicit images

took of herself posing nude or in vario us state of undress had taken these pictures to s nd 

only to her boyfriend, . and she saved these images on her Snapchat account. he 

did not send the images to anyone e lse. MK3 Grija lva d id not have permission to download 

images when he saved them to his iPhone and Apple Watch. 

On 26 February.201 9, MK3 Grijalva created a Yahoo! email address in nam ,: 

According to records received from Yahoo! , MK3 Grijalva liste his 

personal cell phone and his birthday on the Yahoo! profile for

Grij a lva then created a Paypal account in  name using

According to records received from Paypal. MK3 Grijalva listed his personal cell phone on he 

fake account in formation and linked hi s USAA personal checking account to r ceive 

money from the fake account. 

From 26 February to 5 March. MK3 Grijalva used along ith 

name and images he down loaded from her Snapchat account, to create dating profil e o n 

several social med ia dating applications. including Tinder and OKCupid. 

The accused later admitted to Coast Guard Investigative Service (CG IS) Specia l Ag nts 

that he created a Yahoo! email account and used that Yahoo! email account to create a PayP I 
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account to receive money from young men he contacted via the social med ia dating applic tions 

by e ither selling nude images of or posing as  and promis ing the young men sexu 

favors in exchange for money. Subsequent investigation corroborated that the young men K3 

Grija lva contacted while posing as used the ema il account o 

send money to the MK3 Grijalva through  

CGIS Special Agent appl ied for a search warrant to Yahoo ! seek ng 

records associated with the M K3 Grijalva 's phone number or the email address 

On 12 August 20 19, military judge Commander Tamara S. Wal en of 

the U.S. Coast Guard issued a search warrant to Oath Holdings Inc., ("Yahoo!'') for record he ld 

by Yahoo! for MK3 Grijalva·s phone number or the ema il address

See Exhibit 1. This warrant was directed to " Oath Holdings Inc. ("Yahoo!"). a company 

headqua1tered a  and identified the ev iden e to 

be seized as: 

--The contents of a ll email s, text messages. data messages, and 
photos data associated w ith the phone number be longing to MK3 
Mark J.:.~va, the phone number  or the 
email inc luding stored or preserved 
copies of messages sent to and from the account, draft messages, 
the source and destination addresses associated w ith each message. 
the date and time at which each message was sent, and the size and 
length of each message; and all records or other information 
regarding the identification o f the account. to include fu ll name. 
physical address, telephone numbers and other identifiers, records 
of session times and durations, the date on which the account was 
created. the length of service, the IP address used to register the 
account, log-in IP addresses associated w ith the session times and 
dates, account status, alternative ema il addresses provided during 
registration, methods o f connecting, log files, and means and 
source of payment (inc luding any credit or bank account number)." 

Specia l Agent sent th_is warrant to Yahoo! the same day. 
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On 23 September 2019, the Custodian of Records at Yahoo! complied with the sea ch 

warrant. See Exhibit 2. Ms. Custodian of Records, included a Certific te of 

Authenticity as part of that response. She also included a ·cover letter, and a responsive file 

containing subscriber details and logon information associated with MK3 Grijalva's phone 

number and the email address  Special Agent docume ted 

the results in his Report of Investigation. See Exhibit 3. 

The government now seeks to admit the contents of Exhibit 2 attached to this moti 

Prosecution Exhibit 2: (1) Ms. cover letter, (2) the Certificate of Authenticity, nd 

(3) the responsive file ( containing subscriber details; the dates, times, and Internet protocol 

addresses for logins and authentication events; content of the email account; a list of accou ts 

linked by cookies; and mail contacts). 

EVIDENCE 

The government offers the following exhibits: 

Exhibit 1: 12 August 2019 search warrant to Oath Holding~ Inc. 

Exhibit 2: Oath Holdings Inc. response to the 12 August 2019 search warrant. 

Exhibit 3: CGIS Report of Investigation Supplement from 29 Octo er 

2019. 

LEGAL AUTHORITY AND DISCUSSION 

Relevant evidence is generally admissible. M.R.E. 402. Relevant evidence is any 

evidence which tends to make the existence of any fact that is of consequence to the 

determination of the action more or less probable than it would be without the evidence. 

401. The files contained in Prosecution Exhibit 2 are relevant to Charge II and Charge III 

.R.E. 
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because they link MK3 Grijalva's phone number and his birthday to the email address use to 

defraud victims, thereby making more probable the conclusion that MK3 Grijalva committ d 

these crimes. 

Moreover, the probative value of this evidence is not substantially outweighed by t e 

danger of unfair prejudice, and therefore is not barred by M.R.E. 403. M.R.E. 403 is a rul of 

inclusion, not exclusion. United States v. Teeter, 12 M.J. 716 (A.C.M.R. 1981) (stating th t 

striking a balance between probative value and prejudicial effect is left to the trial judge an that 

the balance "should be struck in favor of admission." The passive voice suggests that it is the 

opponent who must persuade that the prejudicial dangers overcome the probative value. 

States v. Leiker, 37 M.J. 418 (C.M.A. 1993). 

Records of a Regularly Conducted Activity are admissible notwithstanding the rule 

against hearsay. M.R.E. 803(6). The records contained in Prosecution Exhibit 2 qualify un er 

this exception, as they were made contemporaneously with the underlying events, and they ere 

kept in the normal course of regularly conducted business activity. 

Finally, M.R.E. 90 I (a)'s authentication threshold is met by "evidence sufficient to 

support a finding that the item is what the proponent claims it is." Under M.R.E. 901, evide ce 

authenticity serves a condition to admission. M.R.E. 90 I (a). The records in Prosecution 

Exhibit 2 are admissible pursuant to M.R.E. 902( 11) as certified records of regularly condu ted 

activity as demonstrated by the sworn Certificate of Authenticity submitted by the Custodia of 

records of Yahoo!. 

CONCLUSION 

The government respectfully requests the Court determine that Prosecution Exhibit 
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relevant to Charge II and Charge III, meets the hearsay exception for Records of a Regula ly 

Conducted Activity, and that this foundation is properly demonstrated by the Certificate o 

Authenticity, which is a self-authenticating document. The government further requests th t 

Prosecution Exhibit 2 be admitted into evidence. 

Isl Case A. Colaw 
CASE A. COLAW 
Lieutenant, USCG 
Trial Counsel 
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UNITED STATES COAST GUARD 
GENERAL COURT-MARTIAL 

UNITED STATES 

V. 

MARK GRIJALVA 
MK3 / E-4 
U.S. Coast Guard 

I. Nature of Motion. 

) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 

SVC MOTION IN UMIN 
TO LIMIT USE OF IMAGES AN FOR 

PROTECTIVE/SEALING OR ER 

I I August 2021 

B. C. by and through her counsel moves this Court ( I) to li mit the use of inti mat 

visual images of and questioning about the surrounding circumstances of the 

images at trial ; and (2) to place a protective/sealing order on the images to safeguard her 

privacy and dignity. 

2. Hearing. 

requests oral argument. 

3. Burden of Proof. 

The moving pa1ty bears the burden of proof and persuasion. RCM 905(c); 

906(b)( I 0)(A). 

4. Summary of Facts. 

In March 20 19, Mr. and lived in Cali forn ia. They 

knew the accused, MK3 Mark Grijlava, and  MK3 Grij alva 

and li ved in . At all times relevant, MK3 Grijlava was 

assigned to USCG Maritime Forces Protection Unit at Naval Base Kitsap Bangor near 

Silverdale, Washington. 



On 5 March 20 19,  contacted Mr. because she found explici 

images of on MK3 Grijlava's Apple iWatch. Enclosure (Encl.) ( I). In messages to 

third parties, MK3 Grijlava impersonated  and sent explicit images of her to solicit 

money for sexual favors. Id. ook videos and screen shots of the messages 

and sent them to Mr. Id. face was visible in the images. Id. 

After made a report to law enforcement, investigators copied the videos and 

screen shots from Mr. ce ll phone. Id. Investigators also fo und messages on 

Mr cell phone in which he accused MK3 Grijalva of distributing explicit 

photos of - an accusation which MK3 Grijl ava denied. Id. 

identified the images from MK3 Grij alva' s iWatch to law enforcement. 

Encl. (2). During her communications with law enforcement, stated she took the 

images on her phone and sent them only to her boyfriend, Mr.  Id. Moreover, 

she stated that she did not know how MK3 Grijlava got the images but that she did not 

share them with him. Id. At all t imes relevant, the images were stored in her SnapChat 

account. Id. On or about I February 20 19, she received an email notification from 

SnapChat that someone had logged into her account from an IP address near Breme1ton, 

Washington. Id. 

expressed to law enfo rcement that the incident has affected her in a negativ 

way, and she constantly worried about third parties seeing her images. Encl. ( I). 

5. Evidence. 

relies on the fo llowing enclosures: 

(a) APD Report 

(b) CGIS interview summary with

Motion in Limine and for Protective/Sealing Order 



6. Argument. 

A. This Court Should Limit the Use of the Intimate Visual Images of t 
Trial to protect her Privacy and Dignity. 

To date, no party has fil ed a motion to pre-admit intimate visual images o

or fi led an MRE 4 12 notice regarding the images or the circumstances surrounding the 

images. The fwther display and distribution of these images - in discovery and in cour -

impacts right to privacy and dignity under A1ticle 6b, UCMJ. Artic le 6b(a)(8). 

As such, SVC seeks the Court's intervention to impose reasonable and necessary limits 

on use of the images at this trial. 

While SVC understands the basic relevance of the images, the central question i 

whether the images are actually necessary at trial given the impact to privacy an I 

dignity. Alternatives exist to admitting and publishing the images. The government ma 

elicit descriptions of the images from witnesses to demonstrate that the images are 

intimate visual images of that she reta ined a reasonable expectation of privacy in 

them; and that she did not consent to their broadcast or disclosure. Additionally, the 

parties may stipulate to the contents of the photos. Again, the central question is wheth r 

the images are necessary at trial. 

Further, courts have wide discretion to exclude evidence, including shocking or 

gruesome images, for unfair prejudice or if cumulative. See Navarro de Cosme v. 

Hospital Pavia, 922 F.2d 926, 930-31 ( I st Cir. 1999) (trial court properly excluded 

images of stillborn fetus under FRE 403 balanc ing test for prejudice and alternative 

evidence was presented by witness testimony); United States v. Katz, 178 F.3d 368, 

372-74 (5th Cir. 1999) (trial court properly excluded potential child pornography 

images under FRE 403 balancing test because the prejudicial effect outweighed the 
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probative value and alternati ve evidence was admitted to meet the elements of the 

charged offenses). Sim ilarly, this Court has discretion under MRE 403 and 611 to 

exclude the intimate visual images of for un fa ir prejudice. or if cumulative, or to 

protect "from harassment or undue embarrassment." MRE 61 I (a)(3). 

Assuming necessity of the images at trial , SVC seeks reasonable controls on the 

use of the images in court. If admitted into evidence and published to the members, the 

images should be appropriately redacted to obscure breasts or genitalia and should not be 

displayed in open court, i.e., published to the members only. These constraints are with i 

the Court 's discretion under MRE 6 1 I which includes reasonable controls to "protect 

witnesses from harassment or undue embarrassment." MRE 6 11 (a)(3). 

B. This Court Should Limit Questioning about the Surrounding Circumstances of 
the Images to Preclude Irrelevant, Inadmissible, and/or Prejudicial Testimony. 

SVC anticipates that will testify at this trial about the 

images. Moreover, SVC understands that some line(s) of questioning are relevant for 

purposes of establishing the elements of the charged offenses. Relevant areas of 

examination include whether retained a reasonable expectation of privacy in the 

images: whether she consented to the broadcast and di sclosure of the images; and 

whether the broadcast or disclosure caused her harm. Expanded examination about the 

surrounding circumstances - for example, why she took the images - would not be 

relevant and may elicit evidence of other sexual behavior or sexual predisposition, 

prohibited under MRE 4 12. Further, certain lines of questioning of habits or 

lifesty le may violate MRE 303. Additionally, some lines of questions may place her 

morality before the members, which may raise concerns about confusing the issues, 

misleading the members, and wasting time under MRE 403. The touchstone for line(s) f 

Motion in Limine and for Protective/Sealing Order 4 f 11 
APPELL,, E t:/\Hlo/ L\ 'J 
PAGE '-\ OF \ \4' AGE (S) 



questioning should always be relevance. SVC therefore seeks the Court's intervention o 

limit questioning about the surrounding circumstances of the images to protect

privacy and dignity and preclude otherwise irrelevant, inadmissible, and/or prejudicial 

matters. 

C. SVC Requests a Protective/Sealing Order for the Images in Discovery and at 
Trial. 

SVC requests a protective order to safeguard the intimate visual images of

in discovery. RCM 70 I (g). The defense should only be permitted to inspect the image . 

If the defense received a phys ical or electronic copy of the images, they should only be 

used for the trial and destroyed afterwards, and the accused should not have his own 

copies. Further, if the images are used at this trial (admitted into evidence or made an 

appellate exhibit), SVC requests that they be sealed in accordance with RCM 111 3. 

7. Relief Requested. 

SVC moves this Court to limit the use of intimate visual of images of and 

questioning about the surrounding circumstances of the images in court. and to place a 

protective/sealing order on the images to safeguard privacy and dignity. 

Terrenc rnburgh 
LCDR, USCG 
Special Victim 's Counsel 
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----------------------------------------CERT IFICATE OF SERVICE----------------------------- -

I hereby certify that an electronic copy of the foregoing was served on the Mi litary Judg , 
and trial and defense counsel this I I th day of August 202 1. 

LT, USCG 
Special Victim's Counsel 
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UNITED STATES COAST GUARD TRIAL JUDICIARY 
GENERAL COURT-MARTIAL 

UNITED STATES 

v. 

MARKJ.GRIJALVA 
l\.1K3/E-4 
U.S.NAVY 

DEFENSE MOTION FOR 
APPROPRIATE RELIEF 

(Referral upon Defective Article 32 an rl 
Erroneous Article 34 Advice) 

10 AUG21 

MOTION 

Pursuant to R.C.M. 905(b){l) and 906(b)(3) the Defense renews its objections to the 

defective preliminary hearing under Article 32, Uniform Code of Military Justice (UCMJ), 0 

U.S.C. § 832 (2019), and requests this Court's relief from that error and the erroneous 

supplemental Article 34, UCMJ, advice which misled the Convening Authority as to the 

appropriate disposition of these Charges. 

BURDEN 

The Defense bears the burden of proof as to any factual issue necessary to resolve this 

motion, by a preponderance of the evidence. R.C.M. 905(c)(l). 

SUMMARY 

After the Convening Authority ordered a preliminary hearing on the Charges and 

Specifications preferred on March 4, 2021, he directed the hearing to be held over MIO 

Grijalva's waiver. Prior to that hearing, Trial Counsel sought the Preliminary Hearing Offo er's 

consideration of four unswom, uncharged offenses. The Defense objected before, during and 

after the hearing to the Government's improper expansion of the Article 32 hearing process 

beyond the narrow permissions of R.C.M. 405(a) and (e)(2). The Government persisted anyway, 

to the point that the Convening Authority referred those uncharged offenses to general court 
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martial-even though they were still unswom. Realizing the error upon Defense trial moti n, 

the Convening Authority withdrew the Charges. He allowed the unswom offenses to be s om, 

but then referred them to this same court-martial still without proper Article 32 hearing-a er 

receiving misleading Article 34 advice that misstated the Preliminary Hearing Officer's fin ing 

of "no probable cause" to multiple offenses, including one of the unswom charges. 

FACTS 

1. On March 4, 2021, LCDR  signed Block 1 La. of a DD Form 458 Charge She t, 

signifying that to the best of his knowledge and belief MK.2 Grijalva had committed multip e 

offenses under the UCMJ in early 2019-three Specifications under Charge I, Article 121; o 

Specifications under Charge II, Article 131 b; and five Specifications under Charge III, Arti le 

134-all of which were listed on two "continuation" pages attached to the Form. (Original 

Charge Sheet, June 17, 2021.) 

a. Less than two weeks later, the Convening Authority directed a Preliminary Hearing under 

Article 32, UCMJ. (Encl. A.) 

b. Petty Officer Grijalva waived his right to that hearing on April 28, 2021. (Encl. B.) 

c. Despite the waiver, the Government proceeded with the Preliminary Hearing. 

2. Before, during, and after the Preliminary Hearing, the Defense objected to Trial Couns l's 

request that the Preliminary Hearing Officer consider what Trial Counsel styled as "Additi nal 

Charges," alleging unsworn offenses under Article 107, UCMJ, and 18 U.S.C. §§ 1028A, 

1030(a)(4), and 1343 (2018). (Encl. C.) 

a. Over the Defense's objection, the Preliminary Hearing Officer issued a report that 

addressed each "Additional Charge," noting that each alleged an "uncharged offense." (E l. D 

at 11-12, 15-16.) 
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b. The Preliminary Hearing Officer found probable cause to believe MK3 Grijalva 

committed the offenses charged, with the exception of"Charge III, Specification 5," about hich 

he wrote "Based on my review of the evidence, tthere [sic] is not probable cause to believe the 

accused committed the offense charged." (Encl. D at 10) 

c. The Preliminary Hearing Officer found probable cause to believe MK3 Grijalva commi ted 

the "uncharged offenses," with the exception of the allegation of a violation of IO U.S.C. § 

1030(a)(4), about which he wrote, "There is not probable cause, however, that the accused use a 

computer in the fraud scheme." (Encl. D. at 13.) 

3. In June, the Convening Authority referred each Specification of original Charges II and III to 

this court-martial (renumbered as Charge I and II, respectively), along with the "Additional 

Charges" the Government had asked the Preliminary Hearing Officer to consider, but whic 

were never sworn. (Original Charge Sheet at 2.) 

4. Before entering MK3 Grijalva's Not Guilty pleas and electing a forum at arraignment o 

those original charges, the Defense timely moved to dismiss the "Additional Charges" as 

defectively referred without being previously sworn. (Def. Mot. to Dismiss for Defective 

Referral, July 7, 2021.) 

a. In response, the Convening Authority "withdrew" all the Charges, but did not dismi s 

them. (Encl. E.) 

b. Nine days later, on a new charge sheet, LCDR  again swore to seven ofth 

original Specifications and preferred along with them the four Specifications of the ~'Additi nal 

Charges" the Government had asked the Preliminary Hearing Officer to consider. (Second 

Charge Sheet at 1, July 16, 2021.) 
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c. The same day as the re-referral, CDR  s igned "Supplemental" Article 34, U MJ, 

advice asserting: 

6. In his repo11. the PHO detennined there was probable cause to belieYe the Accused 
committed all the charges and sperifications uow in the curreut charge sheet preferred on 
16 Jul~- 2021. I likewise find that the charges and specifications allege offenses under Chapter 47 
of Title 10. United States Code: that all charges and specifications are supported by probable 
cause: and that a comt -manial \YOtllcl ha,·e jmisdictiou o\·er the accused and the offenses. 

(Encl. F.) 

d. Also that same day, the Convening Authority re-refeITed all eleven Specifications t this 

same court-martial. (Second Charge Sheet at 2.) 

LAW 

a. The plain language of both Article 32 and R.C.M. 405(a) direct a prelimina1y 
hearing officer to opine on "specifications" and "offenses charged": the R.C.M. 
405(e)(2) exception for ingui1y into uncharged offenses cannot swallow the rule. 

Congress requires specified court-martial charges to be sworn under oath. A11icle 30, 

10 U.S.C. § 830 (2018). In R.C.M. 405(a), the President directs that "no charge or specific t ion 

may be referred to a general comt -martial for trial until completion of a preliminary hearin m 

substantial compliance with this Rule." Preliminary hearings are not fact-finding enterpris s; 

instead, the President limits their scope to the detennination of required matters under Arti le 

32(a) and R.C.M. 405(a), including whether "each specification states an offense" and whe her 

probable cause exists to believe the accused committed the "offense or offenses charged." 

R.C.M. 405(e)(l) (emphasis added). 

When evidence is adduced during an Article 32 hearing that indicates an accused co itted 

an uncharged offense, the hearing officer may expand the scope of the hearing to cover tha 

uncharged offense. R.C.M. 405( e)(2). But no statute or other Manual provision authorizes the 

Government to organize a preliminary hearing on uncharged matters. 
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b. The Article 34, UCMJ, advice a convening authority must receive before referring 
charges to a general court-martial may not be so incorrect as to mislead him. 

"Before referral of charges and specifications to a general court-martial for trial, the 

convening authority shall submit the matter to the staff judge advocate for advice, which th staff 

judge advocate shall provide to the convening authority in writing." Article 34(a)(l), UC , 10 

U.S.C. § 834(a)(l) (2019); see also R.C.M. 406(a) ("Before any charge may be referred for trial 

by a general court-martial, it shall be referred to the staff judge advocate of the convening 

authority for consideration and advice.") Whatever its contents, pretrial advice must be ac ate: 

If the staff judge advocate, intentionally or negligently, misrepresents the contents 
of the investigative record in, or omits material information from, the Article 34 
advice, the principal purpose of the investigation and advice can be defeated. 
Consequently, a well-developed body oflaw exists to provide judicial review of the 
Article 34 advice to ensure that the evidence· developed at the Article 32 
investigation and any other matters, including matters in mitigation, which may 
have some bearing on the type of court-martial to which the charges are referred, if 
presented at all, will be fairly and accurately presented to the convening authority 
by the staff judge advocate. A judicial remedy is provided if they are not. 

United States v. Klawuhn, 33 M.J. 941,943 (N-M.C.M.R. 1991). As the Manual currently 

provides, "Information which is incorrect or so incomplete as to be misleading may result i a 

determination that the advice is defective, necessitating appropriate relief." R.C.M. 406(b) 

Discussion (citing R.C.M. 905(b)(l); 906(b)(3)). 

ARGUMENT 

a. This Court must not permit the Government to skirt the Code's basic Article 30, 
UCMJ, swearing requirements. 

While expansion of preliminary hearings is available where necessary, R.C.M. 405(e)( ) 

does not permit the Government to skirt all preferral and Article 32 convening requirement . If 

it did, Article 32 and the President's Rules as to preliminary hearings would be superfluous an 

Accuser could swear and prefer just a single charge ( or, indeed, no charges at all), and Tria 
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Counsel would be still free to request that the Hearing Officer opine on any "additional ch 

the prosecutor wished, based on whatever evidence they choose to present. 

This cannot be the law. Instead, for the Rule to make any sense in the structure of the 

and Manual, Rule 405(e)(2) must refer only to evidence which neither the Convening Auth rity 

nor any swearing agent could have reviewed before the hearing. 

Here, in March 2021, LCDR  swore to some Charges under Article 30(a), UC J, 

and R.C.M. 307. The Convening Authority directed those "charged offenses" to an Article 32 

hearing-then he mandated that hearing occur over MK3 Grijalva's waiver. Still, by the ti 

the preliminary hearing in May, nobody had preferred any other Charges or Specifications 

against MK3 Grijalva. Instead, despite over two years of opportunity to investigate the ma 

concerning MK3 Grijalva and swear charges against him, Trial Counsel advised the Prelim nary 

Hearing Officer of the Government's explicit request for him to consider, review, and opin on 

uncharged allegations. In short, Triat" Counsel sought to use the Article 32 hearing as a ve 

to investigate known, unswom charges. 

The Defense timely objected at the hearing to this abuse of the Article 32 process and e 

narrow R.C.M. 405(e)(2) permission to expand hearings. The Defense now objects to the 

Government's seemingly interminable end-run around the requirements of Article 32(a) an 

R.C.M. 405(a), which demand that review of whether a "specification" states an offense an 

whether evidence supports a "charged offense." 

b. The latest in a long line of pretrial errors in this case is "supplemental" Article 34 
advice, about already-befouled charges, that contradicts the Preliminary Hearing 
Officer's express findings of "no probable cause." 

Whatever is in the Article 34 advice, it must be accurate. But here, where the propriety of 

the charging scheme and the referral of charges is in doubt but the Preliminary Hearing Of cer's 

Article 32 findings are not, the staff judge advocate's advice fails its sole obligation. 
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advising the Convening Authority of the Article 32 findings that not all charges were supp rted 

by probable cause, the advice mangles them, claiming instead that the Hearing Officer did d 

probable cause for all offenses. Particularly where the re-referral ( and joinder) of erroneou ly-

referred charges is already in doubt, this Article 34 error was so incorrect as to mislead the 

Convening Authority. It demands this Court's relief. 

RELIEF REQUESTED 

Unless it has already granted the Defense Motion for Appropriate Relief regarding imp 

joinder, this Court should rule that the Additional Charges have not been properly referred o this 

court-martial due to the above Article 32 and Article 34 defects. 

EVIDENCE & ORAL ARGUMENT 

The Defense offers the following enclosures as evidence in support of this motion: 

A. Preliminary Hearing Order 

B. MIO Grijalva Article 32 Waiver 

C. Defense R.C.M. 405(k) Objection to Consideration of "Additional Charges" 

D. Article 32 Report 

E. Trial Counsel email of July 16, 2021 

F. Supplemental Article 34 Advice 

Unless the Government concedes the motion or this Court grants the relief on the basis f 

pleadings alone, the Defense requests oral argument on this matter . 

. C. ENDERSON 
CDR, JAGC, us~ 
Asst. Detailed Defense Counsel 
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GENERAL COURT-MARTIAL 
UNITED STATES COAST GUARD 

UN !TED ST A TES 

V. 

MARK J. GRIJALVA 
Machinery Technician Third Class 
U.S. Coast Guard 

GOVERNMENT RESPONSE TO 
DEFENSE MOTION FOR 
APPROPRIATE RELIEF 

(Referral Upon Defective Article 32 and 
Erroneous Article 34 Advice): 

24 August 202 1 

RELIEF SOUGHT 

The Government moves for this Court to DENY the Defense's Motion for Appropri te 

Relief (Referra l Upon Defective Article 32 and Erroneous Article 34 Advice). 

HEARING 

The Government respectfully requests oral argument. 

BURDEN OF PROOF 

As the moving party, the Defense bears the burden of proof as to any factual issue neces ary 

to resolve thi s motion, by a preponderance of the ev idence. R.C.M. 905(c)( I). 

SUMMARY 

Two issues are discussed in thi s motion: 

( I) A preliminary hearing pursuant to Article 32 was held on May 5, 202 1. The 

Government requested the Preliminary Hearing Officer (PHO) consider four additional unch rged 

offenses based on the same facts and ev idence being presented for the charged offenses. Th 

Defense argues that the PHO must turn a blind eye to uncharged offenses and disregard the 

permissible scope of their inquiry. The PHO properly considered additional charges based o 

evidence brought forth during the hearing. 
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(2) The Staff Judge Advocate (SJA) for the Convening Authority prov ided supplement I 

Article 34 adv ice for withdrawa l and re-referral of charges on July 16, 202 1. The SJA ·s a vice 

contained all required information per Article 34(a)( I). However, a one sentence scrivener' 

error in the SJ A's summarization of the PHO's find ings was contained in the supplemental 

advice. The defense argues that this error misled the Convening Authority and seeks appro 

relief from the Court. However, the Convening Authority had already reviewed the PHO port 

and referred the exact same charges one month prior to receivi ng the supplemental advice. 

Accordingly, the SJA's scri vener' s error was minor, had no material effect on the Conveni 

Authority' s dec ision to refer these charges, and should be considered a de minim is error. 

STATEMENT OF FACTS 

Issue I: 

I. Trial counsel notified the PHO and Defense counse l of our intent to ask the PHO to cons der 

four uncharged offenses at the Artic le 32 preliminary hearing during a conference call on 0 1 

about April 28, 202 1. 

2. The Accused was present at the Article 32 Preliminary Hearing, was info rmed of the natt re of 

each uncharged offense considered by the PHO, and was afforded the same opportunities fi r 

representation, cross-examination, and presentation consistent with Article 32(d). 

3. The PHO considered the uncharged offenses pursuant to RCM 405(e) and sought comm 

from Trial and Defense Counsel be fore issuing hi s report. 

4. Trial and Defense Counsel provided comments to the PHO. The PHO concurred with T ·ial 

Counse l that consideration of uncharged offenses was permitted by R.C.M. 405(e). 

5. The PHO included his findings on the uncharged offenses in his report. 

Issue 2: 
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5. On June 14, 202 1, the SJA prov ided Artic le 34 advice to the Convening Authority. Th 

SJA's adv ice contained whether each speci fication a lleged an offense under the Code. whe her 

there was probable cause to believe the accused committed the offense charged, and wheth r a 

court-martial would have jurisdiction over the accused and the offense. This advice comp ied 

with the requirements in Article 34(a)( I), UCMJ. Wh ile not required, the SJA 's advice al o 

contained an accurate summarization of the PHO findings on each offense, and speci fi cally 

articul ated conclusions to certain charges and specifications in which the SJA disagreed wi 1 

PHO recommendations and instead recommend they be referred to Court-Martial. . 

6. The SJA Article 34 adv ice and the PHO report were provided to the Convening Authori t 

The Convening Authority concurred with the SJA ' s adv ice and referred charges to this cou -

martial on June 17, 202 1. 

5. On July 16, 202 1, fo llowing the Defense Motion fo r Defective Referra l due to unsworn 

charges, the Convening Authority withdrew all charges and specifications. 

6. A second Article 32 hearing was not held because the Convening Authori ty found all cha ·ges 

and specificati ons were adequately considered at the Preliminary Hearing on May 5, 202 1 i1 

accordance with R.C.M. 603. 

7. The SJA provided supplemental Article 34 adv ice to the Convening Authority before reD ral , 

again containing all required information per Article 34(a)(1 ), that all charges and specificat ons 

are supported by probable cause, and that a court-martial would have juri sdiction over the 

offenses and the accused. The primary purpose of this adv ice was to re-refer the same charg s 

and spec ifications that the Convening Authority had already referred on June 17, 2021. ther by 

curing a potential error in the previous preferral. 

8. While not required by Article 34(a)( I), the SJA supplemental Article 34 adv ice also cont 
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a summarization of the PHO report from May 5, 202 1 and a reference to her original Artie! 34 

advice of June 14, 202 1, which also contained a full summarization of the PHO findings. 

However, the supplemental SJA Article 34 adv ice contained a one sentence scri vener's erro · 

which incorrectly stated the PHO fo und probable cause fo r all charges and spec ifications. 

Exhibit 1. 

9. The original PHO report and original Article 34 advice of June 14, 202 1 were included a d 

attached to the supplemental Article 34 adv ice and provided to the Convening Authority at he 

same time. The Convening Authority re-referred the same charges and specifications to th s 

court-martial that he already referred on June 17, 202 1, where there was no error regarding he 

PHO findings in the original SJA Article 34 adv ice. 

EVIDENCE 

The Government offers the fo llowing exhibit as ev idence in support of this motion: 

Exhibit 1: SJA Statement on de minim is Scrivener's error. 

LEGAL AUTHORITY 

a. The plain language of both Article 32 and R.C.M. 405 direct a preliminary hearing 

officer to opine on offenses charged AND uncharged. 

The function of a pre liminary hearing is to ascertain and impartially weigh the facts 

needed for the limited scope and purpose of the hearing. R.C.M. 405(a). The plain languag of 

R.C.M. 405(e) defines the limited scope of the hearing and permits the PHO to consider 

uncharged offenses. The permissible scope of an Article 32 hearing includes uncharged 

offenses •'if ev idence adduced during the preliminary hearing indicates that the accused 

committed any uncharged offense."' R.C.M. 405(e)(2). Black"s law dictionary defines addu to 

mean, "to offer or put forward for consideration (something) as ev idence or authori ty." Blac 
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Law Dictionary ( I I th ed.20 19). 

If ev idence at the preliminary hearing indicates that the accused committed an unch rged 

offense, the hearing officer may consider that offense without the accused having first been 

charged with it if the accused: "( I) is present at the preliminary hearing; (2) is informed of e 

nature of each uncharged offense considered; and (3) is afforded the opportun ities fo r 

representation, cross examination, and presentation consistent with [Arti cle 32(d)]." Article 32(t) 

and R.C.M. 405(e). 

b. The Staff Judge Advocate' s Advice that specifications are supported bv sufficient 

ev ide.nce to refer a matter to genera l court-martial is not a de minimis error occurs. 

Article 34 of the UCMJ states in pertinent part that, " the Conven ing Authority may, ot 

refer a specification under a charge to a general court-marital for trial unless the staff j udge 

advocate advises the Convening Authority in writing that: 

I. the specifi cation alleges an offense under this chapter; 

2. there is probable cause to believe that the accused committed the offense charge 

and 

3. a court-martial would have jurisd iction over the accused and the offense." 

The SJA must also provide a recommendation as to the di sposition of each specifi cation. hile 

recommendations of the Article 32 preliminary hearing officer may be included," ... there is no 

lega l requirement to include such in formation, and fa ilure to do so is not error. See R.C.M. 

406(b), Discussion. 

Additionally, a PHO's recommendation is not di spositive. There is no reason to beli ve a 

PHO"s determination that probable cause does not exist as to a spec ifi cation precludes the S A 

from making a different determination from the PHO in order for a Convening Authority to efer 
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a charge to trial after the requirements of Articles 32 and 34 have been met. United States v 

Meador, 75 M.J. 682, 683-84 (C.G. Ct. Crim. App.20 16). 

The SJA's advice cannot be intentionally or negligently misleading. " Information vhich 

is incorrect or so incomplete as to be misleading may result in a determination that the advi e 1s 

defective. R.C.M. 406(b), Discussion. Courts have found that SJA ·s faili ng to make a 

conclusion as to the legal sufficiency of each charge ( United States v. Harrison, 23 M .J. 90 , 9 1 0 

(N-M. Ct. Crim App. 1987)), lack of ev idence presented at an Article 32 (United States v. 

Mercier, 75 M.J. 643, 646 (C.G. Ct. Crim. App.20 16)), or failing to distinguish between P 0 

findings and SJA recommendations regarding probable cause (Meador, 75 M.J. at 684), ma 

make Article 34 adv ice incorrect or incomplete. In the case cited in the Defense ' s motion, he 

cou11 acknowledges that ·' ... there must undoubtedly be errors so insignificant as to be 

classifiab le as de minimis .. ."' that are within the unfettered discretion of the Convening 

Authority and there must·' ... be limits on the degree to which a mili tary judge ... may subs itute 

his, her or its j udgment for that of the Convening Authority." Uni led States v. Klawuhn, 33 .J. 

94 1, 945 (N-M.C.M.R. 199 1 ). There, the Cou11 fo und that because the incorrect advice resu ted 

in a disparity in consequences between a specia l and general court martial, then the appellan was 

entitled to re lief. 

Even if an error occurs in the Article 34 advice that is so mis leading as to alter the 

Convening Authority's deci sion, the remedy is ordinarily a continuance so the Government ay 

correct the defect. Mercier, 75 M.J. at 646-47. See also R.C.M. 906(b)(3). 

ARGUMENT 

a. Unchar ed offenses were ro erl considered b the Preliminary Hearin Officer du ·ino 
the Article 32 hearing. 
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The PHO is explicitly charged by R.C.M. 405(e) to exercise impartiality and exami e 

ev idence which may indicate the Accused committed an uncharged offense. The Rule ca not be 

read to permit the PHO to on ly look at new ev idence which neither the Convening Authori y or 

the swearing agent could have reviewed before the hearing. This would require the PHO t turn 

a bl ind eye to clear misconduct. 

The Government provided adequate notice to Defense Counsel and the PHO of the xact 

uncharged offenses that Trial Counsel requested to be considered on April 28, 2021. All 

ev idence considered by the PHO was properly disclosed to Defense Counsel in accordance ith 

R.C.M. 404A. No new or additional evidence was introduced specific to the uncharged offe 

In sum, the evidence adduced, or brought forward during the Article 32 hearing for the char 

offenses indicated the Accused committed uncharged offenses. 

The rule itself provides for the rights of the Accused when uncharged offenses are 

considered by the PHO. The Accused must be present at the hearing. Here, the Accused w s 

present. The accused must be informed of the nature of each uncharged offense considered. 

Here, the Accused was provided notice seven days prior to the hearing of each uncharged o ense 

being considered. Further, the uncharged offenses were presented and read at the heari ng. 

Finally, the Accused must be afforded the same opportunities for representation, cross 

examination, and presentation. Here, all of those requirements were met. 

The Rule itself does not put a limitation on when ev idence must be discovered or kn wn 

to the Conven ing Authority, but it does explicitly provide for uncharged offe.nses to be 

considered and the procedural rights fo r the Accused when they are. The PHO properly 

considered uncharged offenses when the evidence brought fo rward as part of the Article 32 

indicated the Accused committed the uncharged offenses and the Accused was afforded all 
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required procedural rights. 

b. The SJA Article 34 Advice met all re uirements re nee 
scrivener· s error in summarizin° the PHO's findin°s was de minim is and did not a ect 
the Convening Authority' s dec ision to refer this case to Genera l Cou11-Martial. 

The SJA advice to the Convening Authority on June 14, 202 1 contained all the reqt ired 

in formation per Article 34(a)(l) and a correct summarization of the PHO findings regard in 7 

probable cause for each offense. The SJA then clearly articu lated the specific offenses in hich 

she disagreed with the PHO findings and made conclusions of law and recommendations t the 

Convening Authority. In Meador, the SJA adv ice did not specify evidence contained in ti 

PHO report, but it did discuss the evidence, contained SJA conclusions that each specificat on 

was warranted by the ev idence, and clearl y stated the PHO recommendation to dismiss a c arge 

and that the SJA instead recommended referring to a General Cou11-Ma11ial. The Court fo nd 

this advice to not be misleading or defective. Similarl y, the SJA Article 34 advice of June 14, 

202 1 clearly articulated where the SJA made conclusions different from the PHO 

recommendation. In accordance with Meador, the PHO recommendation is not dispos itive nd 

these conclusions by the SJ A were permissible. The Convening Authority referred charge and 

specifications to court-martial consistent with the SJA advice on June 17, 202 1. 

On July 16, 202 1, to correct a procedura l error in the previous preferral, the SJA pr vided 

supplemental Article 34 advice to re-refer the same charges and specifications the Convenit g 

Authority ori gina lly referred on June 17, 202 1. This advice incorporated by reference and 

enc losure the June 14, 202 1 Article 34 advice, which accurate ly and in great detail. stated P -10 

findings and clearly a11iculated where the SJA d isagreed and recommended alternati ve acti n. 

The supplemental Article 34 advice also included the fu ll PHO report. The SJA met all 

requirements for Article 34 advice in her supplement, and while not required, included a on 
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sentence summarization of the PHO find ings that conta ined an error. This scrivener's err r 

stated the PHO found probable cause for all charges and spec ifications. That one sentenc 

statement was incorrect. However, the package presented to the Convening Authority on ti at 

day, contained the full PHO report and the original Article 34 advice of June 14, 202 1 whi h 

correctly stated the PHO findings. Furthermore, the SJA was not recommending any cha ges to 

the charges or forum. The primary purpose of the re-referral was to correct a procedural e ror. 

Un like Harrison, where conclusions of lega l sufficiency were at issue, or Mercier, where a lack 

of sufficient evidence was at issue, the SJ A's scri vener' s error was a de minimis statement hat 

did not materially alter the Conven ing Authority's decision. The Convening Authority ha 

already we ighed the ev idence, PHO findings, and SJA recommendations in the prior referr I on 

June 17, 202 1. A once sentence error, where a determination of probable cause was not at i sue 

to the Convening Authori ty, was not so incorrect or incomplete as to be misleading and affi cting 

the Convening Authorities actions. 

However, should this court find that this statement was so incorrect as to be mislea ing, 

out of an abundance of caution, the Government respectfully requests a continuance so that the 

SJA may correct the de minimis scri vener's error and provide a second supplemental Artie! 34 

Advice to the Convening Authori ty. This would be consistent with the appropriate relief fi und 

in Mercier. 

CONCLUSION 

The Government respectfu ll y requests the Court DENY the Defense Motion fo r 

Appropriate Relief and find that all Charges and Specifications have been properly referred to 

this court-martial. 

Alternatively, if this Court finds the Article 34 advice contained an error that misled the 
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Convening Authority, the Government respectfu lly requests a continuance pursuant to R.C M. 

906(b)(3) to correct the defect. 

Isl Matthew D. Pekoske 
MATTHEW D. PEKOSKE 
LCDR, USCG 
Asst. Trial Counsel 
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*********************************************************************** ** 

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

I hereby certify that a true and accurate copy of the above was served on the De fens 

Counsel via e lectronic mail on 24 August 202 1. 

CAPT Diane M. Croff, USCG 
Military Judge 

LCDR Benjamin Adams, USN, JAGC 
Detailed Defense Counsel 

CDR Justin Henderson, USN, JAGC 
Detai led Defense Counsel 

LCDR Terrence Thornburgh, USCG 
Special Victims Counsel 

LT Adam Jaffe, USCG 
Special Victims Counsel 

Isl Matthew D. Pekoske 
MATTHEW D. PEKOSKE 
LCDR, USCG 
Asst. Trial Counsel 
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GENERAL COURT-MARTIAL 
UNITED STATES COAST GUARD 

UNITED STATES 

v. 

MARK J. GRIJALVA 
Machinery Technician Second Class 
U.S. Coast Guard 

GOVERNMENT MOTION FOR 
PRELIMINARY RULING ON THE 

ADMISSION OF EVIDENCE: 

PA YPAL RECORDS 

08 November 2021 

RELIEF SOUGHT 

Under R.C.M. 906(b)(l 3) and M.R.E. 803(6), the Government moves Prosecution 

Exhibit 7 for identification into evidence. Prosecution Exhibit 7 for identification consists of 

records produced by PayPal in response to a search warrant issued by the Superior Comt of 

California as part of Anaheim Police Detective investigation of the accused, 

MK3 Grijalva. 

HEARING 

The government respectfully requests oral argument if this motion is opposed. 

BURDEN OF PERSUASION AND PROOF 

As the moving party, the government bears the burden to prove that the evidence is 

admissible by a preponderance of the evidence. R.C.M. 905(c). 

SUMMARY OF FACTS 

On the night of 1 February, 2019, MK3 Mark Grijalva of the Marine Force Protection 

Unit in Bangor, Washington, hacked into the Snapchat social media account of his civilian 

friend, looking for nude or explicit images took ofherselffor her boyfriend,  

 (also MK3 Grijalva's friend). MK3 Grijalva did so while at his residence located 
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on board Naval Base Kitsap located at Silverdale, Washington, and 

unbeknownst to MK3 Grijalva gained access to  Snapchat 

Account by successfully guessing her password after at least 50 attempts. MK3 Grijalva did not 

have permission to access  Snapchat account when he guessed her password. 

After gaining access to  Snapchat account on 1 February, MK3 Grijalva continued 

to access account without her consent throughout February 2019. During this time he 

downloaded at least 10 images had taken of herself, including five explicit images

took of herself posing nude or in various state of undress. had taken these pictures to send 

only to her boyfriend, , and she saved these images on her Snapchat account. She 

did not send the images to anyone else. MK3 Grijalva did not have permission to download 

 images when he saved them to his iPhone and Apple Watch. 

On 26 February, 2019, MK3 Grijalva created a Yahoo! email address in name. 

From 26 February to 5 March, MK3 Grijalva used the Yahoo! email address, along with 

name and images he downloaded from her Snapchat account, to create dating profiles on 

several social media dating applications. The accused later admitted to Coast Guard Investigative 

Service (CGIS) Special Agents that he created the fraudulent dating profiles pretending to be 

 and sent illicit photos to several individuals in March 2019 by using the email account he 

created on the Yahoo! 

On 27 February 2019, MK3 Grijalva also created an account on the electronic payment 

system, PayPal. The accused created a PayPal account to receive money from men he contacted 

via these social media dating applications by either selling nude images of or posing as 

and promising the young men sexual favors in exchange for money. The accused used his phone 
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number and the Yahoo! email address he created in name to create the 

PayPal account. 

On 5 July 2019, Anaheim Police Detective  applied for a search warrant to 

Pay Pal Holdings, Inc., seeking records associated with the Pay Pal account the accused created 

using the email address he created in name. That same day, Judge Jeffrey 

Ferguson of the Superior Court of California, County of Orange, issued a search warrant. See 

Exhibit 1. The search warrant identified the following evidence to be seized: Registration and 

use information; transaction and experience information; participant information; send or request 

money; pay or request someone else to pay a ball; add value to subscriber accounts; information 

about subscriber friends and contacts; information that subscriber chose to provide to obtain 

additional Services or specific online Services; information about subscriber if they transact as a 

guest; information about subscriber from third-party sources; and other information collected 

related to subscriber use of Pay Pal or Services. 

On 18 July 2019, Detective  received a response from PayPal with the records 

requested. See Exhibit 2. The records requested did not include a Certificate of Authenticity. 

The Government reengaged with PayPal through PayPal employee  of the  

Global Law Enforcement Fulfillment department to request the records but with a Certificate of 

Authenticity. On I November 2021, Mr.  sent a signed Affidavit for Business Records 

Certification via email correspondence certifying the records originally provided by Pay Pal on 

18 July 20 I 9 in response to the search warrant served by Detective  See Exhibit 3. 

The Government now seeks to admit the contents of Exhibit 2 and 3 and attached to this 

motion as Prosecution Exhibit 7. 
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EVIDENCE 

1. Exhibit 1: 5 July 2019 search warrant to PayPal Holdings, Inc. 

2. Exhibit 2: PayPal's response to the 5 July 2019 search warrant. 

3. Exhibit 3: 1 November 2021 Affidavit for Business Records Certification signed by Mr. 

LEGAL AUTHORITY AND ARGUMENT 

Prosecution Exhibit 7 is admissible because it is relevant and not excluded by the hearsay 

rule. M.R.E. 402, 803(6), and 902(11). Relevant evidence is generally admissible. M.R.E. 402. 

Relevant evidence is any evidence which tends to make the existence of any fact that is of 

consequence to the determination of the action more or less probable than it would be without 

the evidence. M.R.E. 401. The records contained in Prosecution Exhibit 7 are relevant to Charge 

III, all specifications, because the records link the dating profile accounts, the Yahoo! email 

account, and the PayPal electronic payment account to MK3 Grijalva's phone number. In 

addition, the PayPal records corroborate MK3 Grijalva's admission that he used photos, 

to create fraudulent dating profiles to communicate with others and offered to have sex and 

exchange explicit photos with individuals for money without the knowledge or consent of

thereby making it more probable the accused committed the charged crimes. 

Moreover, the probative value of this evidence is not substantially outweighed by the 

danger of unfair prejudice, and therefore is not barred by M.R.E. 403. M.R.E. 403 is a rule of 

inclusion, not exclusion. United States v. Teeter, 12 M.J. 716 (A.C.M.R. 1981) (stating that 

striking a balance between probative value and prejudicial effect is left to the trial judge and that 

the balance "should be struck in favor of admission." The passive voice suggests that it is the 
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opponent who must persuade that the prejudicial dangers overcome the probative value. United 

States v. Leiker, 37 M.J. 418 (C.M.A. 1993). 

Records of a Regularly Conducted Activity are admissible because they are excluded from 

the rule against hearsay. M.R.E. 803(6). Under M.R.E. 803(6), records of a regularly conducted 

activity, if a record of an act, event, condition, opinion, or diagnosis if: 

"(A) the record was made at or near the time by or from information 
transmitted by someone with knowledge; (B) the record was kept in 
the course of a regularly conducted activity of a uniformed service, 
business, institution, association, profession, organization, 
occupation, or calling of any kind, whether or not conducted for 
profit; (C) making the record was a regular practice of that activity; 
(D) all these conditions are shown by the testimony of the custodian 
or another qualified witness, or by a certification that complies with 
Mil. R. Evid. 902(11) or with a statute permitting certification in a 
criminal proceeding in a court of the United States; and (E) neither 
the source of information nor the method or circumstances of 
preparation indicate a lack of trustworthiness. Records of regularly 
conducted activities include, but are not limited to, enlistment 
papers, physical examination papers, fingerprint cards, forensic 
laboratory reports, chain of custody documents, morning reports and 
other personnel accountability documents, service records, officer 
and enlisted qualification records, logs, unit personnel diaries, 
individual equipment records, daily strength records of prisoners, 
and rosters of prisoners. 

The records contained in Prosecution Exhibit 7 qualify as records of a regularly 

conducted activity. The PayPal account Registration Information, Contact Information, and 

linked Bank Account Information were created and preserved by PayPal at the same time the 

accused created the account in name and used the account to receive money from the 

individuals he met on the social media dating applications. Generating these records is a regular 

practice of PayPal's business activity. All of these conditions are attested to by a sworn 

certification provided by PayPal. There is no indicia of a lack of trustworthiness regarding these 
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records. M.R.E. 803(6)(A-E). 

Finally, the exhibits are self-authenticating. M.R.E. 90l(a)'s authentication threshold is 

met by "evidence sufficient to support a finding that the item is what the proponent claims it is." 

Under M.R.E. 901, evidence authenticity serves a condition to admission. M.R.E. 90I(a). The 

records in Prosecution Exhibit 7 is admissible pursuant to M.R.E. 902(11) as certified records of 

regularly conducted activity under the definition provided by M.R.E. 803(6). 

CONCLUSION 

The Government respectfully requests the Court determine that Prosecution Exhibit 7 is 

relevant to all charges, meets the hearsay exception for Records of a Regularly Conducted 

Activity, and that this foundation is properly demonstrated by the Certificate of Authenticity, 

which is a self-authenticating document. The Government further requests that Prosecution 

Exhibit 7 be admitted into evidence. 

Isl Case A. Colaw 
CASE A. COLAW 
Lieutenant, USCG 
Trial Counsel 
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GENERAL COURT-MARTIAL 
UNITED STATES COAST GUARD 

UNITED STATES 

V. 

MARKI. GRJJALVA 
Machinery Technician Second Class 
U.S. Coast Guard 

GOVERNMENT MOTION FOR 
PRELIMINARY RULING ON THE 

ADMISSION OF EVIDENCE: 

OKCUPID AND TINDER RECORDS 

08 November 2021 

RELIEF SOUGHT 

Under R.C.M. 906(b)(l3) and M.R.E. 803(6), the Government moves Prosecution 

Exhibits 5 and 6 for identification into evidence. Prosecution Exhibits 5 and 6 for identification 

consists of records produced by Match Group LLC ("OkCupid") and ("Tinder") in response to 

search warrants issued by the United States Coast Guard. 

HEARING 

The government respectfully requests oral argument if this motion is opposed. 

BURDEN OF PERSUASION AND PROOF 

As the moving party, the government bears the burden to prove that the evidence is 

admissible by a preponderance of the evidence. R.C.M. 905(c). 

SUMMARY OF FACTS 

On the night of 1 February, 2019, MK3 Mark Grijalva of the Marine Force Protection 

Unit in Bangor, Washington, hacked into the Snapchat social media account of his civilian 

friend, looking for nude or explicit images took of herself for her boyfriend,  

 (also MK3 Grijalva's friend). MK3 Grijalva did so while at his residence located 

onboard Naval Base Kitsap located at Silverdale, Washington, and 
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unbeknownst to  MK3 Grijalva gained access to Snapchat 

Account by successfully guessing her password after at least 50 attempts. MK3 Grijalva did not 

have permission to access Snapchat account when he guessed her password. 

After gaining access to Snapchat account on I February, MK3 Grijalva continued 

to access account without her consent throughout February 2019. During this time he 

downloaded at least IO images  had taken of herself, including five explicit images

took of herself posing nude or in various state of undress. had taken these pictures to send 

only to her boyfriend, , and she saved these images on her Snapchat account. She 

did not send the images to anyone else. MK3 Grijalva did not have permission to download 

 images when he saved them to his iPhone and Apple Watch. 

On 26 February, 2019, MK3 Grijalva created a Yahoo! email address in name: 

 According to records received from Yahoo!, MK3 Grijalva listed his 

personal cell phone and his birthday on the Yahoo! profile for

From 26 February to 5 March, MK3 Grijalva used along with 

name and images he downloaded from her Snapchat account, to create dating profiles on 

several social media dating applications, including Tinder and OkCupid. The accused later 

admitted to Coast Guard Investigative Service (CGIS) Special Agents that he created a 

fraudulent account on the dating site, Tinder, pretending to be and sent illicit photos to 

several individuals in March 2019 by using the email account he created on the Yahoo!. MK3 

Grijalva also created an account on OkCupid under the na  with the same 

Yahoo! email account. MK3 Grijalva would inform the individuals he met on Tinder and 

OkCupid that he would have sex with them in exchange for money sent via electronic payment 
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system, PayPal. The accused created a PayPal account to receive money from men he contacted 

via these social media dating applications by either selling nude images of or posing as 

and promising the young men sexual favors in exchange for money. 

On 10 July 2019, CGIS interviewed an individual named stated 

that he received illicit photos of after speaking with "her" on Tinder. After conversing via 

text message, Mr. agreed to send $100.00 via in 

exchange for sex. The payment was sent on 02 March 2019. Mr.  took a screenshot of the 

Tinder page and PayPal transaction. The Tinder page used the name  and 

featured a picture of in underwear. MK3 Grijalva registered the account to the 

Yahoo! email account he created in name: 

CGIS Special Agent applied for search warrants to Match Group LLC 

("Tinder"), Inc., seeking records associated with MK3 Grijalva's phone number; and Match 

Group LLC, ("OkCupid"), seeking records associated with MK3 Grijalva's phone number or the 

email address  On 04 December 2019, Commander

of the U.S. Coast Guard issued search warrants to Match Group LLC, ("OkCupid"). See Exhibit 

1. On 18 July 2019, Commander of the U.S. Coast Guard issued search 

warrants to Match Group LLC, ("Tinder"). See Exhibit 3. Both warrants were directed to Match 

Group LLC, a company headquartered at 

and identified the evidence to be seized as: 

OkCupid. 

"All records or other information regarding the identification 
of the account, to include full name, physical address, 
telephone numbers and other identifiers, records of session 
times and durations, the date on which the account was 
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Tinder. 

created, the length of service, the IP address used to register 
the account, log-in IP addresses associated with the session 
times and dates, account status, alternative email addresses 
provided during registration, methods of connecting, log 
files, and means and source of payment (including any credit 
or bank account number); [t]he types of service utilized; [a]ll 
records or other information stored at any time by an 
individual using the account including address books, 
contact and buddy lists, calendar data, pictures, and files; 
[a]ll records pertaining to communications between Provider 
and any person regarding the account, including contacts 
with support services and records of actions taken." 

"The contents of all calls, text messages, and data messages 
associated with the phone number belonging to MK3 
Grijalva, including stored or preserved 
copies of messages sent to and from the account, draft 
messages, the source and destination addresses associated 
with each message, the date and time at which each message 
was sent, and the size and length of each message; [a]ll 
records or other information regarding the identification of 
the account, to include full name, physical address, 
telephone numbers and other identifiers, records of session 
times and durations, the date on which the account was 
created, the length of service, the IP address used to register 
the account, log-in IP addresses associated with the session 
times and dates, account status, alternative email addresses 
provided during registration, methods of connecting, log 
files, and means and source of payment (including any credit 
or bank account number); [t]he types of service utilized; [a]ll 
records or other information stored at any time by an 
individual using the account including address books, 
contact and buddy lists, calendar data, pictures, and files; 
[a]ll records pertaining to communications between Provider 
and any person regarding the account, including contacts 
with support services and records of actions taken." 

On 25 July 2019, CGIS received a response from 'Tinder" with the records requested; 

and on 11 December 2019 received a response from "OkCupid" with the records requested, 

however, neither included a Certificate of Authenticity. The Government reengaged with Match 
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Group, LLC to again request the records but with a Certificate of Authenticity. On 13 August 

2021, Senior Director, Legal Affairs at Match group, LLC complied with both search warrants 

and provided a Ce1tificate of Authenticity as part of the most recent response. See Exhibit 2 and 

Exhibit 4. 

The Government now seeks to admit the contents of Exhibit 2 and attached to this 

motion as Prosecution Exhibit 5: (I) the Certificate of Authenticity and (2) the responsive file 

(containing account details; photos; dates; times; messages; and contacts). 

The Government now seeks to admit the contents of Exhibit 4 attached to this motion as 

Prosecution Exhibit 6 : (I) the Certificate of Authenticity and (2) the responsive file ( containing 

account details; photos; dates; times; messages, and Internet protocol addresses for logins and 

authentications events; login history; search filters; and contacts). 

EVIDENCE 

1. Exhibit 1: 18 December 2019 search warrant to Match Group, LLC ("OkCupid"). 

2. Exhibit 2: Response to search warrant by Match Group, LLC. Senior Director, Legal 

Affairs. 

3. Exhibit 3: 01 August 2019 search warrant to Match Group, LLC ("Tinder"). 

4. Exhibit 4: Response to search warrant by Match Group, LLC. Senior Director, Legal 

Affairs. 

LEGAL AUTHORITY AND ARGUMENT 

Prosecution exhibits 5 and 6 are admissible because they are relevant and not excluded by 

the hearsay rule. M.R.E. 402, 803(6), and 902(11). Relevant evidence is generally admissible. 

M.R.E. 402. Relevant evidence is any evidence which tends to make the existence of any fact 
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that is of consequence to the determination of the action more or less probable than it would be 

without the evidence. M.R.E. 401. The files contained in Prosecution Exhibits 5 and 6 are 

relevant to Charge III, all specifications, because records link the dating profile accounts with the 

Yahoo! email account that MK3 Grijalva created, using  photos, and using the fraudulent 

dating profiles to communicate with others and offered to have sex and exchange explicit photos 

with individuals for money without the knowledge or consent of  thereby making it more 

probable the accused committed the charged crimes. 

Moreover, the probative value of this evidence is not substantially outweighed by the 

danger of unfair prejudice, and therefore is not barred by M.R.E. 403. M.R.E. 403 is a rule of 

inclusion, not exclusion. United States v. Teeter, 12 M.J. 716 (A.C.M.R. 1981) (stating that 

striking a balance between probative value and prejudicial effect is left to the trial judge and that 

the balance "should be struck in favor of admission"). The passive voice suggests that it is the 

opponent who must persuade that the prejudicial dangers overcome the probative value. United 

Statesv. Leiker, 37 M.J. 418 (C.M.A. 1993). 

Records of a Regularly Conducted Activity are admissible because they are excluded from 

the rule against hearsay. M.R.E. 803(6). Under M.R.E. 803(6), records of a regularly conducted 

activity, if a record of an act, event, condition, opinion, or diagnosis if: 

"(A) the record was made at or near the time by or from information 
transmitted by someone with knowledge; (B) the record was kept in 
the course of a regularly conducted activity of a uniformed service, 
business, institution, assoc1at1on, profession, organization, 
occupation, or calling of any kind, whether or not conducted for 
profit; (C) making the record was a regular practice of that activity; 
(D) all these conditions are shown by the testimony of the custodian 
or another qualified witness, or by a certification that complies with 
Mil. R. Evid. 902(11) or with a statute permitting certification in a 
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criminal proceeding in a com1 of the United States; and (E) neither 
the source of information nor the method or circumstances of 
preparation indicate a lack of trustworthiness. Records of regularly 
conducted activities include, but are not limited to, enlistment 
papers, physical examination papers, fingerprint cards, forensic 
laboratory reports, chain of custody documents, morning reports and 
other personnel accountability documents, service records, officer 
and enlisted qualification records, logs, unit personnel diaries, 
individual equipment records, daily strength records of prisoners, 
and rosters of prisoners. 

The records contained in Prosecution Exhibits 5 and 6 qualify as records of a regularly 

conducted activity. The records of communication within the OkCupid and Tinder accounts, 

Exhibit 5 and 6 respectively, were created and preserved by OkCupid and Tinder at the same 

time the messages were sent and received. OkCupid and Tinder preserve their members' direct 

messages and other communications, including images sent back and forth for a period of time. 

Generating records of communications is a regular practice ofOkCupid and Tinder's business 

activity. All of these conditions are attested by a sworn certification provided by Match Group, 

LLC, the parent company of OkCupid and Tinder. There is no indicia of a lack of trustworthiness 

regarding these records. M.R.E. 803(6)(A-E). 

Finally, the exhibits are self-authenticating. M.R.E. 90l(a)'s authentication threshold is 

met by "evidence sufficient to support a finding that the item is what the proponent claims it is." 

Under M.R.E. 901, evidence authenticity serves a condition to admission. M.R.E. 90l(a). The 

records in Prosecution Exhibits 5 and 6 are admissible pursuant to M.R.E. 902(11) as certified 

records of regularly conducted activity under the definition provided by M.R.E. 803(6). 

CONCLUSION 

The Government respectfully requests the Court determine that Prosecution Exhibits 5 

and 6 are relevant to all charges, meets the hearsay exception for Records of a Regularly 
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Conducted Activity, and that this foundation is properly demonstrated by the Certificate of 

Authenticity, which is a self-authenticating document. The Government further requests that 

Prosecution Exhibits 5 and 6 be admitted into evidence. 

Isl Case A. Colaw 
CASE A. COLAW 
Lieutenant, USCG 
Trial Counsel 
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GENERAL COURT-MARTIAL 
UNITED STATES COAST GUARD 

UNITED ST A TES 

V. 
GOVERNMENT RESPONSE TO 

REQUEST FOR BILL OF 
PARTICULARS 

MARKJ. GRIJALVA 
Machinery Technician Third Class 
U.S. Coast Guard · 

30 August 2021 

1. Pursuant to the Rules for Courts-Martial 906(b)(6) the Government hereby responds 

to the Defense Request for a Bill of Particulars dated 28 June 2021. 

2. Specifically, the Defense requests that the government identify "with sufficient 

precision the statements alleged in Specifications I and 2 of Charge I and the 

person(s) to whom the statements were directed in Specification 2" of the 4 March 

2021 Charge Sheet. 

3. These Charges and Specifications are renumbered in the operative charge sheet, 

preferred and referred on 16 July 2021. They are now Specifications 1 and 2 of 

Charge II. 

4. CHARGE II: Specification I. 

a. On or about March 6, 2019, at or near Naval Base Kitsap Bangor, 

Washington, MK3 Grijalva made a phone call to Anaheim (California) Police 

Department Detective During the phone call, MK3 Grijalva 

stated to Detective "Also, I just want to inform you, also on my behalf, 

this isn't the first time I've had stuff going on with my accounts," or words to 
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effect. After making this statement, MK3 Grijalva then provided examples of 

how his account information had allegedly been compromised. 

b. Then when directly asked by Detective  if he ever had pictures of

MK3 Grijalva stated, "No, I did not," or words to that effect. 

c. Then when directly asked by Detective  ifhe ever had access to

photos, or ifhe ever accessed  photos anywhere, MK3 Grijalva stated, 

"Nope, that's correct, never." 

d. These statement were totally false and were then known by MK3 Grijalva to 

be so false in that MK3 Grijalva had not been hacked; MK3 Grjialva had 

pictures of on his cell phone and/or Apple Watch; and that he had 

accessed  photos via Snapchat account. These statements were 

made with the intent to influence the due administration of justice in the case 

of himself, where he had reasons to believe that there were or would be 

criminal proceedings pending. 

5. CHARGE II: Specification 2. 

a. On or about July 12, 2019, at or near Naval Base Kitsap Bangor, Washington, 

MK3 Grijalva waived his Article 31 (b) rights and agreed to be interviewed by 

Coast Guard Investigative Service Special Agents  and 

 

b. During the interview, MK3 Grijalva told Special Agents that his Apple Watch 

was in his locker in Port Angeles, MK3 Grijalva. 

c. After Special Agent asked MK3 Grijalva if his locker had a lock on 

2 
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it, MK3 Grijalva told Special Agents that it actually was not in his locker but 

was in a bag he owned somewhere. Then MK3 Grijalva told Special Agents 

that he did not know where his Watch was. Then MK3 Grijalva told Special 

Agents that he sold the watch as a "trade-in" to the Gamestop in Silverdale, 

Washington. 

d. The statements described in the above paragraph ( c) were made with the intent 

to influence the due administration of justice in the case of himself, where he 

had reasons to believe that there were or would be criminal proceedings 

pending. 

3 

Isl Case A. Colaw 

CASE A. COLAW 
Lieutenant, USCG 
Trial Counsel 
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GENERAL COURT-MARTIAL 
UNITED STATES COAST GUARD 

UNITED STATES 

v. 
GOVERNMENT RESPONSE TO 

REQUEST FOR BILL OF 
PARTICULARS 

MARKJ. GRIJALVA 
Machinery Technician Third Class 
U.S. Coast Guard 

30 August 2021 

1. Pursuant to the Rules for Courts-Martial 906(b)(6) the Government hereby responds 

to the Defense Request for a Bill of Particulars dated 06 July 2021. 

2. The Defense requests, concerning Specification 8 of Charge III in the operative 

Charge Sheet dated 16 July 2021 (referred to as Specification 3 of Additional Charge 

II in Defense's Motion), the government identify "with sufficient precision the 

material statements allegedly made by MK3 Grijalva, and the person wo [sic] whom 

those statements were made." 

3. Specification 8 of Charge III states: In that MK3 Mark Grijalva, U.S. Coast Guard, on 

active duty, did, at or near Naval Base Kitsap Bangor, Washington, between on or 

about 3 February 2019 and on or about and on or about 6 March 2019, knowingly 

devise a scheme or plan for obtaining money or property by means of false or 

fraudulent pretenses, representations, or promises; to wit: created a dating profile on 

the Tinder and OKCupid application using name and image and offered to 

have sex with individuals for money; that MK3 Grijalva made material statements 

that had a natural tendency to influence, or were capable of influencing, a person to 
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part with money or property; that MK3 Grijalva did so with intent to defraud; and that 

MK3 Grijalva used an interstate wire communication to carry out or attempt to carry 

out an essential part of the scheme in violation of 18 U.S. Code Section 1343, a crime 

or offense not capital. 

4. The Government alleges that MK3 Grijalva pretended to be and offered to send 

intimate images to, and/or meet up for sex with, the following people in 

exchange for money: 

a. on or about 26 February 2019 (Bates Nos. 184-185, 

and 823); 

b. on or about 2 March 2019 (Bates Nos. 177,811) 

c. on or about 2 March 2019 (Bates Nos. 178, 824) 

d. Multiple dating application profiles on Tinder from on or about 26 February to 

6 March 2019 (Bates Nos. 315 -329); 

e. Multiple dating application profiles on OKCupid on or about 3 March to 6 

March 2019 (Bates Nos. 429- 557, 751 - 805); 

f. Cell user at phone number on or about 5 March 2019 (Bates 

No. 172); 

g. Cell user at phone number on or about 5 March 2019 (Bates 

No. 172); 

h. Cell user at phone number on or about 5 March 20 I 9 (Bates 

No. 172). 

2 
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Isl Case A. Colaw 

CASE A. COLAW 
Lieutenant, USCG 
Trial Counsel 
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GENERAL COURT-MARTIAL 
UNITED STATES COAST GUARD 

UNITED STATES 

v. 
GOVERNMENT AMENDED RESPONSE 

TO REQUEST FOR BILL OF 
PARTICULARS 

MARK J. GRIJALVA 
Machinery Technician Third Class 
U.S. Coast Guard 

08 September 2021 

1. Pursuant to the Rules for Courts-Martial 906(b)(6) the Government hereby responds 

to the Defense Request for a Bill of Particulars dated 06 July 2021. 

2. The Defense requests, concerning Specification 8 of Charge III in the operative 

Charge Sheet dated 16 July 2021 (referred to as Specification 3 of Additional Charge 

II in Defense's Motion), the government identify "with sufficient precision the 

material statements allegedly made by MK3 Grijalva, and the person wo [sic] whom 

those statements were made." 

3. Specification 8 of Charge III states: In that MK3 Mark Grijalva, U.S. Coast Guard, on 

active duty, did, at or near Naval Base Kitsap Bangor, Washington, between on or 

about 3 February 2019 and on or about and on or about 6 March 2019, knowingly 

devise a scheme or plan for obtaining money or property by means of false or 

fraudulent pretenses, representations, or promises; to wit: created a dating profile on 

the Tinder and OKCupid application using name and image and offered to 

have sex with individuals for money; that MK3 Grijalva made material statements 

that had a natural tendency to influence, or were capable of influencing, a person to 
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part with money or property; that MK3 Grijalva did so with intent to defraud; and that 

MK3 Grijalva used an interstate wire communication to carry out or attempt to carry 

out an essential part of the scheme in violation of 18 U.S. Code Section 1343, a crime 

or offense not capital. 

4. The Government alleges that MK3 Grijalva pretended to be and offered to meet 

up for sex with, the following people in exchange for money: 

a. on or about 26 February 20 I 9 (Bates Nos. 184-185, 

and 823); 

b. on or about 2 March 2019 (Bates Nos. 177, 8 I 1) 

c. on or about 2 March 2019 (Bates Nos. 178,824) 

d. Multiple dating application profiles on Tinder from on or about 26 February to 

6 March 2019 (Bates Nos. 315 -329); 

e. Multiple dating application profiles on OKCupid on or about 3 March to 6 

March 2019 (Bates Nos. 429 - 557, 751 - 805); 

f. Cell user at phone number on or about 5 March 2019 (Bates 

No. 172); 

g. Cell user at phone number on or about 5 March 2019 (Bates 

No. 172); 

h. Cell user at phone number on or about 5 March 2019 (Bates 

No. 172). 

2 
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Isl Case A. Colaw 

CASE A. COLAW 
Lieutenant, USCG 
Trial Counsel 
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THERE ARE NO REQUESTS



NOTICES



GENERAL COURT-MARTIAL 
UNITED STATES COAST GUARD 

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA 

v. 

MK3 MARKJ. GRIJALVA 
U.S. COAST GUARD 

NOTICE OF APPEARANCE 
SPECIAL VICTIMS' COUNSEL 

14 July 2021 

NOW COMES LCDR Terrence Thornburgh, Special Victims' Counsel for a victim 

specified in the charges, and respectfully submits the following notice of appearance. 

I. I am a Special Victims' Counsel for with whom I have entered into an attorney-client 

relationship. I am admitted to practice in the State of Hawaii. 

2. I am certified under 27(b) of the Uniform Code of Military Justice (UCMJ) and sworn 

under42(a) of the UCMJ. I have also been certified by The Judge Advocate General of the United 

States Coast Guard to serve as a Special Victims' Counsel, and· I have not acted in any manner that 

would tend to disqualify me from representing in the instant case. 

3.  is a victim in this case as defined under Art. 6b, UCMJ. I respectfully request the 

parties provide me with informational copies of any motions or accompanying notices filed or 

submitted by either the government or the defense pertaining to evidentiary matters surrounding 

the rights, interests, or privileges o  including but not limited to those arising under M.R.E. 

412, 513, 514, and 615. 

4. My client, through counsel, reserves all of her rights provided under Art. 6b, UCMJ, 

particularly her right to be present throughout the military justice proceedings, with the exception 

of closed proceedings that do not involve her, and to exercise her limited standing in any hearing 
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related to this court-martial in order to make factual statements and legal arguments, including 

argument through her counsel. 

5. I respectfully request timely notice of the pertinent dates related to the scheduling of all 

hearings pending before this court and to attend any Art. 39(a) sessions to represent 

interests regarding admission of evidence pursuant to M.R.E. 412, 513, and 514. 

6. My contact information is as follows:

Respectfully submitted, 

Terrence M. Thornburgh 
LCDR, USCG 
Special Victims' Counsel 
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****************************************************************************** 

Certificate of Service 

I hereby attest that a copy of the foregoing was served on the Court and counsel for the 

government and for defense via email on 14 July 2021. 

Te  Thornburgh 
LCDR, USCG 
Special Victims' Counsel 
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GENERAL COURT-MARTIAL 
UNITED STATES COAST GUARD 

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA 

v. 

MK3 MARK J. GRIJALVA 
U.S. COAST GUARD 

NOTICE OF APPEARANCE 
SPECIAL VICTIMS' COUNSEL 

14 July 2021 

NOW COMES LT Adam Jaffe, Special Victims' Counsel for a victim specified in 

the charges, and respectfully submits the following notice of appearance. 

1. I am a Special Victims' Counsel for with whom I have entered into an attorney-client 

relationship. I am admitted to practice in the State of California. 

2. I am certified under 27(b) of the Uniform Code of Military Justice (UCMJ) and sworn 

under 42(a) of the UCMJ. I have also been certified by The Judge Advocate General of the United 

States Coast Guard to serve as a Special Victims' Counsel, and I have not acted in any manner that 

would tend to disqualify me from representing in the instant case. 

3. is a victim in this case as defined under Art. 6b, UCMJ. I respectfully request the 

parties provide me with informational copies of any motions or accompanying notices filed or 

submitted by either the government or the defense pertaining to evidentiary matters surrounding 

the rights, interests, or privileges of including but not limited to those arising under M.R.E. 

412,513,514, and 615. 

4. My client, through counsel, reserves all of her rights provided under Art. 6b, UCMJ, 

particularly her right to be present throughout the military justice proceedings, with the exception 

of closed proceedings that do not involve her, and to exercise her limited standing in any hearing 
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related to this court-martial in order to make factual statements and legal arguments, including 

argument through her counsel. 

5. I respectfully request timely notice of the pertinent dates related to the scheduling of all 

hearings pending before this court and to attend any Art. 39(a) sessions to represent 

interests regarding admission of evidence pursuant to M.R.E. 412, 513, and 514. 

6. My contact information is as follows: Coast Guard Island, 

Respectfully submitted, 

Adam J. Jaffe 
LT, USCG 
Special Victims' Counsel 

****************************************************************************** 

Certificate of Service 

I hereby attest that a copy of the foregoing was served on the Court and counsel for the 

government and for defense via email on 14 July 2021. 

Adam J. Jaffe 
LT, USCG 
Special Victims' Counsel 
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UNITED STATES COAST GUARD TRIAL JUDICIARY 
GENERAL COURT-MARTIAL 

UNITED STATES 

v. 

MARKJ. GRIJALVA 
MK3/E-4 
U.S.NAVY 

MOTION 

DEFENSE NOTICE AND 
MOTION IN LIMINE 

(Marital Privilege) 

5AUG21 

Pursuant to Mil. R. Evid. 504(b ), the Defense provides this Notice of MK3 Grijalva' s claim 

of privilege as to any confidential communications he made to his spouse, Mrs.

 The Defense accordingly requests, pursuant to R.C.M. 906(b)(l3), that 

this Court rule in limine that the Government may not inquire, and should be 

prevented from disclosing, any such communications at trial. 

SUMMARY 

The Government has indicated an intent to call as a trial witness  who has 

given Coast Guard investigators information about statements MK3 Grijalva made to her during 

These statements are privileged under Mil. R. Evid. 504(b) and not subject to any 

exception. Consequently, this Court should rule that the Government may not ask

at trial about any statements MK3 Grijalva made to her during the course of

BURDEN 

As the moving party, the Defense bears the burden of proof by a preponderance of the 

evidence with regard to each factual issue necessary for resolution of this matter. R.C.M. 905(c). 

FACTS 

I. MK3 Grijalv (Encl. A.) 
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2. Coast Guard Investigative Service agents interviewed  .on July 12, 2019. (Encl. 

B.) 

3. In that interview, provided an account of statements allegedly made by MK.3 

Grijalva to her when she "confronted" him about images she found on his smart watch. (Id.) 

4. On August 4, 2021, the Government provided notice of its intent to call as a 

witness a trial. (Encl. C.) 

LAW 

"A person has a privilege during and after the marital relationship to ... prevent another 

from disclosing, any confidential communication made to the spouse of the person while they 

were married and not separated as provided by law." Mil. R. Evid. 504(b)(l). The only 

exceptions to this Rule apply when both spouses "have been substantial participants in illegal 

activity," when "one spouse is charged with a crime against the person or property of the other 

spouse or a child of either," when the marital relationship was a sham, or when one spouse is 

charged with importing the other as an alien for an improper purpose. Mil. R. Evid. 504( c ). 

ARGUMENT 

With respect to confidential communications made within the confines of

MK.3 Grijalva holds the privilege. No exception negates it: was 

certainly not a participant in any of the activity of which MK3 Grijalva is accused-indeed, she 

was the one who initiated the investigation against him; she is not a named victim of the any of 

the alleged offenses; and there is no evidence that their marriage is a sham or otherwise entered 

into for an improper purpose. Consequently, the privilege applies, and any communications 

between MK3 Grijalva and  that occurred since the date of

should be ruled privileged and inadmissible at trial. 
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RELIEF REQUESTED 

The Defense respectfully requests a ruling in limine that bars the Government from 

inquiring, and prevents from disclosing, the contents of any confidential 

communications made by the Accused to

EVIDENCE & ARGUMENT 

The Defense offers the following enclosures as evidence in support of this motion: 

A. CG-2020 Dependency Worksheet ICO MK3 Grijalva dtd 5 Dec 2016 

B. CGIS Interview Summary of

C. Government Witness Notifications dtd 4 Aug 2021 

Unless the Government concedes the motion or this Court grants the relief on the basis of 

pleadings alone, the Defense requests oral argument on this matter . 

. C. NDERSON 
CDR, JAGC, us~ 
Asst. Detailed Defense Counsel 
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GENERAL COURT-MARTIAL 
UNITED STATES COAST GUARD 

UNITED STATES 

V. 

GOVERNMENT NOTICE PURSUANT 
TO M.R.E. 804(b )(3) and 807 

MARK J. GRIJALVA I October 2021 
Machinery Technician Third Class 
U.S. Coast Guard 

1. The Government was notified on September 27, 2021, that  is declini g to 
testify pursuant to the  in Mil. R. Evid. 504 because she does not want to te tify 
against because their interest are aligned. Pursuant to Mil. R. Evid. 807 and ii. R. 
Evid 804(b )(3 ), the Government intends to seek the hearsay evidence at trial: 

1. Statements made b  made to law enforcement and to abo t the 
following testimony: 

a. Her description of finding the watch on 5 March. On the morning ofTuesd , 
March 5, MK.3 Grijalva went to work at the MFPU. He took his personal ce 1 
phone, but left his Apple iWatch at home.  was at home and noti ed 
the iWatch received several incoming messages. She scrolled through the 
messages on the iWatch and saw the nude photos of  in text message thr ads 
with phone numbers she did not recognize.  used her cell phone to take 
pictures and videos of the text message conversations she found on the iWatc 
One of these videos captured a text message MK3 Grijalva had with a phone 
number associated with a Washington man, She observed that MIO 
Grijalva sent  at least one of the explicit photos he took from  Sna chat 
to She also provided a video of MK3 Grijalva's watch while scrolling 
through the messages. 
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b. stated she kept MK3 Grijalva's watch on 5 March. At 2152,
texted "[MK3 Grijalva] is up in the room instead of down here telli g 
me he didn't do it."  responds, "Probably hiding his [shit]." At 2204, 
texted "Can't hide much since I kept his watch." Although these 
statements are not hearsay, the Government provides notice in an abundance f 
caution. 

2 

Jon T. Taylor 
LCDR, JAGC, USN 
Trial Counsel 

APPELLATE EXHIBIT 
PAGE 2... OF _!i_p-A-t----



COURT RULINGS & ORDERS



UNITED STATES COAST GUARD JUDICIARY 
GENERAL COURT MARTIAL 

UNITED ST ATES 

v. 

MARK J. GRIJALVA 
Machinery Technician Third Class 
U.S. Coast Guard 

COURT RULING ON 
DEFENSE MOTION TO DISMISS 

(DUE PROCESS NOTICE DEFECT) 

31 October 2021 

NATURE OF THE MOTION: Defense filed a Motion to Dismiss Specifications 1 through 3 
of Charge III arguing they fail to satisfy due process notice requirements in accordance with 
Amendment V of the U.S. Constitution and RCM § 907(b)(3)(A). 

BURDEN: The Defense bears the burden of demonstrating by a preponderance of the evidence 
that Specifications 1 through 3 of Charge III fail to state an offense. RCM §905(c). 

In reaching my findings and conclusions, I considered all legal and competent evidence 
presented by the government and defense during a motions hearing held O 1 September 2021. In 
doing so, I make the following findings and conclusions: 

FINDINGS OF FACT: 

1. The accused admitted to Coast Guard Investigative Service (CGIS) agents that he unlawfully 
gained access to  Snapchat account by guessing her password after trying unsuccessfully 
more than 50 times. He admitted to downloading from her account approximately 5 sexually 
explicit images of  Thereafter, the accused created accounts/profiles on "Tinder" and 
"OKCupid" using  names and images without her permission. Using those accounts and 
posing as the accused communicated with several individuals offering photos and 
sex in exchange for money. The accused estimated he sent photos of to approximately 8 
individuals and in exchange, received approximately $200 through use of a PayPal account. 

2. is the girlfriend of the accused's friend at the time of the offenses. Both the former friend 
and are civilians. 

3. The accused texted the images to at least three individuals, all civilians, from his residence 
located onboard Naval Base Kitsap Bangor, Washington. 

4. Of significance to this motion, the accused was charged with 3 specifications of service 
discrediting conduct under Article 134- one for accessing Snapchat account and 
obtaining her images; one for using her name and photo to create a Tinder profile; and 1 for 
using her name and photos to create an OKCupid dating profile; the conduct in all 3 
specifications was done without the authority or permission of
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PRINCIPLES OF LAW AND ANALYSIS: 

"The military is a notice pleading jurisdiction." United States v. Fosler, 10 M.J. 225, 229 
(C.A.A.F. 201 l)(citing United States v. Sell, 3 C.M.A. 202,206, 11 C.M.R. 202,206 (1953). 

A specification shall be a plain, concise, and definite statement of the essential facts constituting 
the offense charged. RCM § 307(c)(3). The specification is sufficient when it alleges "every 
element" of the charged offense "either expressly or by necessary implication, so as to give the 
accused notice and protect him against double jeopardy." United States v. Dear, 40 M.J. 196, 
197 (C.M.A. 1994); RCM 307(c)(3); See also Hamling v. United States, 418 U.S. 87 
(1974). Dear established a three-prong test requiring: (1) the essential elements of the offense, 
(2) notice of the charge, and (3) protection against double jeopardy. 

The Fifth Amendment's Due Process Clause requires "fair notice that an act is forbidden and 
subject to criminal sanction." United States v. Bivens, 49 M.J. 328, 330 (C.A.A.F. 1998). It also 
requires "fair notice as to the standard applicable to the forbidden conduct." United States v. 
Vaughn, 58 M.J. 29, 31 (C.A.A.F. 2003)(quoting Parker v. Levy, 417 U.S. 733, 755 (1974). 
"Citing Parker v. Levy, this Court has held that as a matter of due process, a service member 
must have 'fair notice' that his conduct [is] punishable' before he can be charged under Article 
134 with a service discrediting office." Vaughn, 58 M.J. 32 (quoting Bivens, 49 M.J. at 330). 
Sources of notice for 134 offenses include federal law, state law, military case law, military 
custom and usage and military regulations. "An Article 134 offense that is not specifically listed 
in the MCM must have words of criminality and provide an accused with notice as to the 
elements against which he or she must defend." Vaughn, 58 M.J. at 35 (quoting United States v. 
Davis, 26 M.J. 445, 447-48 (C.M.A. 1988). 

The Defense challenges Specification 1 through 3 of Charge III on due process grounds, 
claiming all three specifications charged under Article 134 fail to provide him with fair notice 
that the conduct is forbidden as well as the standard applicable to that forbidden conduct. 

Turning first to Specification 1 of Charge III, the accused is charged there with violation of 
Article 134 of the UCMJ, the elements of which are: 

1) that at or near Naval Base Kitsap Bangor, Washington, between on or about 1 February 
2019 and on or about 26 February 2019, the accused unlawfully and without authority or 
permission o accessed the Snapchat account of and obtained digital images of 

and 
2) that under the circumstances, the accused's conduct was of a nature to bring discredit 

upon the armed forces. 

The Defense claims he had no notice his conduct of accessing  Snapchat account and 
obtaining her digital images unlawful and without her authority or permission was forbidden. He 
likewise claims he had no notice as to the standard that would be used to evaluate his conduct. 
This Court disagrees and finds his arguments without merit. 

2 
APPELLATE EXHIBIT X,X 
PAGE~ OF ::t__ PAGE (S) 



The federal government and all fifty states have enacted criminal laws that prohibit computer 
related crimes. Laws which prohibit computer trespass closely resemble property trespass 
crimes. At its core, a password protected computer, email, or account is no different than a 
locked door of a property. Of course, one key difference is the need to regularly change one's 
password to thwart the efforts of computer hackers who may successfully guess or otherwise 
obtain a password and access computers or accounts online without the owner's knowledge. 
Like property owners, computer users also have Fourth Amendment protections that require the 
government to obtain a lawful warrant in order to access the contents of computers or any online 
accounts, further reinforcing the privacy expectations held by computer users. 

One such state law is Washington's Cybercrime Act is Revised Code of Washington (R.C.M.) 
9A.90.050 Computer Trespass, which prohibits a person, without authorization, from 
intentionally gaining access to a computer system or electronic database of another. The statute 
also supplies the following definitions: 

"Access" means to gain entry to, instruct, communicate with, store data in, retrieve data 
from, or otherwise make use of any resources of electronic data, data network, or data system, 
including via electronic means. 

"Without authorization" means to knowingly circumvent technological access barriers to 
a data system, in order to obtain information without the express or implied permission of the 
owner, where such technological access measures are specifically designed to exclude or prevent 
unauthorized individual from obtaining such information[]. RCW 9A.90.030. 

Additionally, aside from the Coast Guard's Cyber Command, whose primary mission involves 
cyber security, all Coast Guard members are required to undergo numerous annual mandated 
training programs geared toward cyber security, the protection of computers, accounts and the 
importance of password protection/security. This is the "less formalized custom and image" 
within the military community which the Supreme Court addressed in Parker that provides 
further notice to the accused of the conduct proscribed by Article 134. 

In Vaughan, the Court explained, "[w]e need not decide whether custom and regulation, state 
law, or military case law alone would meet the requirements for due process notice enunciated in 
Parker. We conclude when addressed together, appellant should reasonably have understood that 
her[] conduct was subject to criminal sanction." Vaughan 58 M.J. at 33. This Court reaches the 
same conclusion - that the accused should have reasonably understood his conduct was criminal. 
Analysis and application of the facts to Specification 1 of Charge III lead this Court to conclude 
that the charge states an offense that is sufficiently pied under the RCMs and cognizable under 
the UCMJ. Specification 1 of Charge III states the essential elements of a computer trespass that 
is service discrediting as proscribed by Article 134. Specification 1 also provides notice to the 
accused of the nature of the offense which he is charged as well as the time, date, and location of 
the alleged offense, which provides him with protection against double jeopardy. The Defense's 
due process claim with regard to specification 1 of Charge III is without merit and his motion to 
dismiss is denied. 

Turning next to the conduct alleged in Specifications 2 and 3 of Charge III, the Defense raises 
the same due process claims. The elements of Specification 2 of Charge III charging violation of 
Article 134 of the UCMJ are: 
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1) that at or near Naval Base Kitsap Bangor, Washington, between on or about 3 February 
2019 and on or about 6 March 2019, the accused unlawfully and without authority or 
permission of created a Tinder profile using the name and image of and 

2) that under the circumstances, the accused's conduct was of a nature to bring discredit 
upon the armed forces. 

The elements of Specification 3 of Charge III are identical to Specification 2 except to substitute 
"OKCupid dating profile" in place of "Tinder profile. 

Unlike Specification 1, the Court is unaware of any federal or state crime that prohibits the 
conduct in Specification 2 and 3, as alleged. At first glance, the Identity Theft Statute at RCW 
9.35.020 appears it could apply to the defendant's conduct. The statute makes it a crime to 
"knowingly obtain, possess, use, or transfer a means of identification [] with the intent to 
commit, or to aid or abet, any crime. RCW 9.35.020. "Means of identification" includes the 
name of a person, as well as "other information that could be used to identify the person." A 
photo of the person whose name is being used would certainly seem to identify that person. 
However, what is missing in the Government's allegations is language of any intent to commit a 
crime when  name and photo were used by the accused to open Tinder and OKCupid 
profiles. The accused's admissions and the facts make clear his intentions were to commit 
crimes by opening these accounts; crimes which he in fact did do. But the language in the 
specifications make no mention of that criminal intention, thus Washington's identity theft 
statute cannot apply. 

The Government points the Court to RCW 9A.86.0 IO which prohibits disclosure of intimate 
images, however they fail to allege in either specification 2 or 3 that the image(s) of  used to 
create the profiles were intimate images. They also point to conduct found to be criminal under 
Article 134 when an accused's conduct placed a woman in reasonable fear of injury or emotional 
distress. While this Court can speculate that the accused's conduct in creating these two profiles 
using name and photo placed in reasonable fear of injury or emotional distress, there 
is no mention of that in specifications 2 or 3. The Government's remaining arguments of 
generality offer no specificity or authority for the Court to find that due process requirements 
have been met with the conduct they have alleged in Specifications 2 and 3. 

Because Specifications 2 and 3 under Charge III do not provide the accused "fair notice that an 
act is forbidden and subject to criminal sanction," nor "fair notice as to the standard applicable to 
the forbidden conduct," both specifications must be dismissed. 

RULING: 
The Defense's Motion to Dismiss Specification I of Charge III for Due Process Notice Defects 
is DENIED. 
The Defense's Motion to Dismiss Specifications 2 and 3 of Charge III for Due Process Notice 
Defects is GRANTED. 

So ordered this 31st day of October 2021 

D. M. Croff 
CAPTAIN, USCGR 
Military Judge 
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UNITED STATES COAST GUARD JUDICIARY 
GENERAL COURT MARTIAL 

UNITED STATES 

v. 

MARKJ. GRIJALVA 
Machinery Technician Third Class 
U.S. Coast Guard 

COURT RULING ON 
DEFENSE MOTION TO DISMISS 

MULTIPLICIOUS SPECIFICATIONS 
OR MERGE FOR UNREASONABLE 
MULTIPLICATION OF CHARGES 

31 October 2021 

NATURE OF THE MOTION: Defense filed a motion to dismiss 23 June 2021. Following 
that filing, the charges and specifications were withdrawn. On 16 July 2021, charges were 
preferred and referred resulting in the reordering of offenses. For clarity, the Court will list the 
offenses the Defense refers to in their 23 June pleading according to how they are now listed in 
the current charge sheet. 

The Defense seeks to dismiss Specification 2 of Charge II as multiplicious and an unreasonable 
multiplication of the sole Specification of Charge I. 

Additionally, the Defense seeks to dismiss the following charges as unreasonably multiplied: 

Specification 1 of Charge III as unreasonably multiplied with Specification 6 of Charge III; 

Specifications 2 and 3 of Charge III as unreasonably multiplied with Specification 7 of Charge 
III;and 

Specification 5 of Charge III as unreasonably multiplied with Specification 4 of Charge III. 

The Defense requests that if the charges are found to be unreasonably multiplied, that they either 
be dismissed, merged for findings, or merged for sentencing. 

BURDEN: The Defense bears the burden of demonstrating by a preponderance of the evidence 
that the charged offenses are multiplicious or constitute an unreasonable multiplication of 
charges. RCM §905(c). 

In reaching my findings and conclusions, I considered all legal and competent evidence 
presented by the government and defense during a motions hearing held O 1 September 2021. In 
doing so, I make the following findings and conclusions: 

FINDINGS OF FACT: 

1. The accused admitted to Coast Guard Investigative Service (CGIS) agents that he unlawfully 
gained access to  Snapchat account by guessing her password after trying unsuccessfully 
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more than 50 times. He admitted to downloading from her account approximately 5 sexually 
explicit images of Thereafter, the accused created accounts/profiles on "Tinder" and 
"OKCupid" using names and images without her permission. Using those accounts and 
posing as the accused communicated with several individuals offering  photos and 
sex in exchange for money. The accused estimated he sent photos of  to approximately 8 
individuals and in exchange, received approximately $200 through use of a PayPal account. 

2. is the girlfriend of the accused's friend at the time of the offenses. Both the former friend 
and are civilians. 

3. The accused was first interviewed by the Anaheim California Police Department on 06 March 
2019 and later by CGIS agents 12 July 2019. During both interviews, the accused made 
numerous false statements which included denying any involvement in accessing 
Snapchat account or obtaining her photographs. Instead, the accused claimed the accounts of 
both he and must have been hacked to explain how  photographs wound up on his 
Apple Watch. Approximately 1 hour and 5 minutes into his 2 hour and 10 minute interview with 
CGIS on 12 July, the accused made admissions. Toward the end of the interview, the accused 
made some statements which were untrue. 

4. Under Charge I, the accused is charged with a sole specification of false official statement, in 
violation of Article I 07 of the Uniform Code of Military Justice (UCMJ) in that he did: 

... on board Naval Base Kitsap Bangor, Washington, on or about 12 July 2019, make to a 
Coast Guard Investigative Service Special Agent an official statement, to wit: that his 
Apple Watch was located in his duty locker in Port Angles, Washington, which statement 
was totally false, and was then known by the [sic] MK.3 Grijalva to be so false. 

5. Specification 2 of Charge II charges the accused with obstruction of justice, in violation of 
Article 131 b of the UCMJ in that he did: 

... at or near Naval Base Kitsap Bangor, Washington, on or about 12 July 2019, 
wrongfully do a certain act, to wit: wrongfully give multiple locations of his Apple 
Watch which contained images of  with intent to impede and obstruct the due 
administration of justice in the case of himself, against whom the accused had reason to 
believe that there were or would be criminal proceedings pending. 

6. In response to Defense's Motion for Bill of Particulars (unopposed by the Government) for 
Specification 2 of Charge II, the Government specified the "multiple locations of his Apple 
Watch" made by the accused with the intent to obstruct justice. Upon being asked by CGIS 
Agents "if his locker had a lock on it, MK3 Grijalva told Special Agents that it actually was not 
in his locker but was in a bag he owned somewhere. Then MK3 Grijalva told Special Agents that 
he did not know where his Watch was. Then MK.3 Grijalva told Special Agents that he sold the 
watch as a "trade-in" to the "Gamestop" in Silverdale, Washington" (Government's Response to 
Request for Bill of Particulars, filed 30 August 2021 ). 

2 
APPELLATE EXHIBIT ;?3 
PAGE~ OF L PAGE (S) 



7. The accused's statements which the Government alleges were false under the sole 
Specification of Charge I, and were made with the intent to obstruct justice under Specification 2 
of Charge II, stem from the interview conducted by CGIS on 12 July 2019. The accused's 
statements about the watch being located in his locker occurred around the 2-hour mark, 
approximately 3 minutes before his statements about the watch being in a bag, not knowing 
where the watch was located and trading it in to "Gamestop." 

8. Specification 1 of Charge III charges the accused with conduct of a nature to bring discredit to 
the service, in violation of Article 134 of the UCMJ in that he did: 

... at or near Naval Base Kitsap Bangor, Washington, between on or about 1 February 
2019 and on or about 26 February 2019, unlawfully and without authority or permission 
of access the Snapchat account of and obtain digital images of

9. Specification 2 of Charge III charges the accused with conduct of a nature to bring discredit to 
the service, in violation of Article 134 of the UCMJ in that he did: 

... at or near Naval Base Kitsap Bangor, Washington, between on or about 3 February 
2019 and on or about 6 March 2019, unlawfully and without authority or permission of 

create a Tinder profile using the name and image of

10. Specification 3 of Charge III charges the accused with conduct of a nature to bring discredit 
to the service, in violation of Article 134 of the UCMJ in that he did: 

... at or near Naval Base Kitsap Bangor, Washington, between on or about 3 February 
2019 and on or about 6 March 2019, unlawfully and without authority or permission of 

create a OKCupid dating profile using the name and image of

11. Specification 4 of Charge III charges the accused with conduct of a nature to bring discredit 
to the service, in violation of Article 134 of the UCMJ in that he did: 

... at Naval Base Kitsap Bangor, Washington, on divers occasions between on or about 1 
February 2019 to on or about 31 March 2019, knowingly, wrongfully, and without the 
explicit consent of  broadcast an intimate visual image of who is identifiable 
from the visual image or from information displayed in connection with the visual image, 
when he knew or reasonably should have known that the visual image was made under 
circumstance in which retained a reasonable expectation of privacy regarding any 
broadcast and he knew or reasonably should have known that the broadcast of the visual 
image was likely to cause harm, harassment, or emotional distress for or to harm 
substantially with respect to her safety, business, calling, career, reputation, or 
personal relationships. 

12. Specification 5 of Charge III charges the accused with violation of Washington State law 
under the Assimilated Crimes Act, in violation of Article 134 of the UCMJ in that he did: 

... at or near Naval Base Kitsap Bangor, Washington, on divers occasions between on or 
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about 1 February 2019 to on or about 31 March 2019, violate Title 9A Washington 
Criminal Code, Chapter 9A.86, Disclosing Intimate Images, by knowingly disclosing an 
intimate image of who is identifiable from the visual image, which was obtained 
under circumstance in which a reasonable person would know or understand that the 
image was to remain private, which MK.3 Grijalva knew or should have known that the 
depicted person, had not consented to the disclosure, and MK.3 Grijalva knew or 
reasonable should have known that the disclosure would cause harm to the Depicted 
person,

13. Specification 6 of Charge III charges the accused with computer fraud under 18 U.S.C 
1030(a)(4), in violation of Article 134 of the UCMJ in that he did: 

... at or near Naval Base Kitsap Bangor, Washington, between on or about 3 February 
2019 and on or about 6 March 2019, knowingly access without authorization a computer 
used in or affecting interstate or foreign commerce or communication, to wit: accessing 
without authorization the Snapchat application; that MK3 Grijalva did so with the intent 
to defraud; that access without authorization furthered the intended fraud; and that MK3 
Grijalva obtained anything of value, to wit: images of  from her Snapchat profile. 

14. Specification 7 of Charge III charges the accused with identity theft under 18 U.S.C 1028A, 
in violation of Article 134 of the UCMJ in that he did: 

... at or near Naval Base Kitsap Bangor, Washington, between on or about 3 February 
2019 and on or about 6 March 2019, knowingly transfer, possess, or use without legal 
authority a means of identification of another person, to wit: name and image to 
create a social media dating application profile; that MK3 Grijalva knew that the means 
of identification belonged to a real person; and that MK.3 Grijalva did so during and in 
relation to violation of 18 U.S. Code Section 1343, in violation of 18 U.S. Code 1028A. 

PRINCIPLES OF LAW AND ANALYSIS: 

Multiplicity 

The prohibition against an accused being found guilty of multiplicous offenses is grounded in the 
concept of double jeopardy. The Fifth Amendment's Double Jeopardy Clause "precludes a court 
from imposing multiple convictions and punishments under different statutes for the same act or 
course of conduct." United States v. Teeters, 37 M.J. 370, 373 (C.M.A. 1993). The Teters Court 
applies the test established by the Supreme Court in Blockburger v. United States, 284 U.S. 299 
( 1932). That rule is as follows: 

Where the same act or transaction constitutes a violation of two distinct statutory 
provisions, the test to be applied to determine whether there are two offenses or only one 
is whether each provision requires proof of an additional fact which the other does not. 

Id. At 304. The Court in United States v. Colemen, articulated a three-step inquiry to determine 
if two charges were multiplicious. 79 M.J. 100, 103 (C.A.A.F. 2019). "First, we determine 
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whether the charges are based on separate acts. If so, the charges are not multiplicious because 
separate acts may be charged and punished separately." Id. See United States v. Neblock, 45 M.J. 
191, 197 (C.A.A.F. 1996). "Second, because the charges are based upon a single act, we next 
must determine whether Congress made an overt expression of legislative intent regarding 
whether the charges should be viewed as multiplicious." Id. (citing Teters, 37 M.J. at 376.) 
"Third and finally, because there is no overt expression of congressional intent, we must seek to 
infer Congress's intent based on the elements of the violated statutes and their relationship to 
each other." Id. (citing Teters at 376-77.) Specifically, if each statute requires proof of an 
element not contained in the other, it may be inferred that Congress intended for an accused to be 
charged and punished separately under each statute. Id. (internal citations omitted.) 

R.C.M. 907(b)(3)(B) Discussion cautions against dismissing a specification for multiplicity prior 
to trial "unless it clearly alleges the same offense, or one necessarily included therein, as is 
alleged in another specification." 

Unreasonable Multiplication of Charges 

R.C.M. § 307(c)(4) directs that "[w]hat is substantially one transaction should not be made the 
basis for an unreasonable multiplication of charges against one person." 

Unreasonable multiplication of charges (UCMJ) is a policy pronouncement by the courts to 
address the abuse of prosecutorial discretion in instances where multiplicity does not exist. 
United States v. Quiroz, 57 M.J. 583,596 at 587 (N-M Ct. Crim. App. 2002). The longstanding 
principle prohibiting unreasonable multiplication of charges promotes fairness and addresses 
those unique features of the military justice system that increase the potential for prosecutorial 
overreaching. Id. 

By its very nature, the proper exercise of prosecutorial discretion cannot be reduced to a 
formula. 1 Absent direct evidence of abuse, however, a number of non-exclusive factors may 
circumstantially show that the Government abused its discretion and is "piling on." See Quiroz, 
57 M.J. at 585. Is each charge and specification aimed at a distinctly separate act? Id. Do the 
charges misrepresent or exaggerate the accused's misconduct? Id. Do the charges unfairly 
increase the punitive exposure? Id. Do the charges involve a unique feature of military law that 
increases the potential for abuse? Id. Did the Government face some unreasonable contingencies 
of proof or law that justifies the multiple charges? See id. at 586. Did the Government charging 
strategy, although aggressive, reflect a reasoned approach? See United States v. Campbell, 66 
M.J. 578 at 583 (N-M Ct. Crim. App. 2008). 

Any abuse of prosecutorial discretion, like multiplicity itself, may be remedied by dismissal of 
the appropriate charges or consolidation with others. United States v. Roderick, 62 M.J. 425, 434 
at 433 (C.A.A.F. 2006). Another possible remedy is to limit the punitive exposure of the 
accused. RCM §JOOJ(c)(l)(C) Discussion, United States v. Balcarczyk, 52 M.J. 809,813 (N-M. 
Ct. Crim. App. 2000). 

I ABA, STANDARDS FOR CRIMINAL JUSTICE: PROSECUTION AND DEFENSE FUNCTION, CRIMINAL JUSTICE SECTION ST ANDA RDS commentary to 
standard 3-3.9 ( 1992), available at http://www.abanet.org/crimjust/standards/pfunc _toc.hbnl (discretion in the charging decision). 
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Defendant's claim that Specification 2 of Charge II is multiplicious and an unreasonable 
multiplication of the Specification of Charge I. 

A review of the facts in this case, and statements made by MK.3 Grijalva to CGIS during the 12 
July 2019 interview link each charged crime to a separate and distinct act/statement. MK3 
Grijalva first told CGIS agents the watch w~s located in his locker. Approximately 3 minutes 
later, when asked if his locker was locked, MK3 Grijalva's story changed; he stated he believed 
the watch was located in one of his bags, which evolved into not knowing where the watch was 
located, and eventually ended with him stating he no longer had the watch because he sold it to 
Gamestop after deleting everything on it. The first statement forms the basis for the false official 
statement. The second series of statements, as specified in the Bill of Particulars, form the basis 
for the obstruction of justice. Additionally, each statute requires proof of an element not 
contained in the other. The elements for False Official Statement charged under the 
Specification of Charge I are: 

1) that on or about 12 July 2019, on board Naval Base Kitsap Bangor, Washington, the 
accused made to a Coast Guard Investigative Service Agent a certain official statement, 
that is: that his Apple Watch was located in his duty locker in Port Angeles, Washington; 

2) that the statement was totally false; 
3) that the accused knew it to be false at the time he made it; and 
4) that the false statement was made with the intent to deceive. 

The elements for Obstruction of Justice charged under Specification 2 of Charge II are: 
1) that on or about 12 July 2019 at or near Naval Base Kitsap Bangor, Washington, the 

accused wrongfully did a certain act, that is, wrongfully give multiple locations of his 
Apple Watch which contained images of

2) that the accused did so in the case of himself against whom the accused has reason to 
believe there were or would be criminal or disciplinary proceedings pending; and 

3) that the acts were done with the intent to influence, impede, or otherwise obstruct the due 
administration of justice. 

Accordingly, the separate statements made by the accused may be charged separately, and the 
charges are not multiplicious. The next question concerns whether the charges are unreasonably 
multiplied and for the reasons explained below, this Court finds they are not. 

Analysis of the facts and events as alleged in this case lead this Court to conclude that the 
charges do not misrepresent or exaggerate the accused's criminality. MK3 Grijalva made a 
number of false official statements to CGIS agents during the interview. The first hour consisted 
of mostly false statements by the accused, denying any involvement and instead claiming he had 
been hacked. Only one of the false statements - that his Apple Watch was located in his duty 
locker - was charged by the Government as a false official statement. The second series of 
statements, offering multiple locations of his watch, which CGIS Agents investigated but were 
unable to validate, were charged as obstruction of justice. Although the two charges increase the 
punitive exposure, there is no evidence it was done so unfairly. The charge of false official 
statement and obstruction of justice, supported by the evidence, reflect a reasoned approach to 
the government's charging strategy. Moreover, there is no evidence ofprosecutorial 
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overreaching or abuse. 

Defendant's Claims of Unreasonable Multiplication of Specification 1 of Charge III and 
Specification 6 of Charge III 

The conduct charged under Specifications 1 and 6 of Charge III address similar conduct by the 
accused in accessing Snapchat account and obtaining her images without authority. 

The elements of Specification 1 of Charge III charging the accused with violation of Article 134 
of the UCMJ are: 

1) that at or near Naval Base Kitsap Bangor, Washington, between on or about 1 February 
2019 and on or about 26 February 2019, the accused unlawfully and without authority or 
permission of accessed the Snapchat account of  and obtained digital images of 

and 
2) that under the circumstances, the accused's conduct was of a nature to bring discredit 

upon the armed forces. 

The elements of Specification 6 of Charge III charging the accused with computer fraud under 
18 U.S. Code 1030(a)(4), in violation of Article 134 of the UCMJ are: 

1) that at or near Naval Base Kitsap Bangor, Washington, between on or about 3 February 
2019 and on or about 6 March 2019, the accused knowingly accessed without 
authorization a computer used in or affecting interstate or foreign commerce or 
communication, to wit: accessing without authorization the Snapchat application; that 
MK3 Grijalva did so with the intent to defraud; that access without authorization 
furthered the intended fraud; and that MK3 Grijalva obtained anything of value, to wit: 
images of  from her Snapchat profile, in violation of 18 U.S. Code Section 1030 
(a)(4); and 

2) that the defendant knowingly accessed without authorization a computer used in or 
affecting interstate commerce or communication; 

3) that the defendant did so with the intent to defraud; 
4) that by accessing the computer without authorization the defendant furthered the intended 

fraud; 
5) that the defendant by accessing the computer without authorization obtained anything of 

value; and 
6) that the offense charged was an offense not capital. 

A comparison between the specifications shows the timeframes charged under each are slightly 
different. Specification 1 includes the terminal element of service discrediting conduct. 
Specification 6 has heightened proof requirements, adding elements involving computer access, 
interstate commerce, an intent to fraud, and obtaining items of value. 

Analyzing the Quiroz factors, and starting with the question of whether each specification is 
aimed at distinctly separate acts, the answer appears to be no. Instead, both specifications 
address the act of the accused accessing  Snapchat account and accessing her photos. 
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While the Government claims in their 25 August response that these two specifications are aimed 
at separate criminal acts, they argued during the O 1 September motions hearing that the two were 
pied to cover contingencies of proof. Not knowing whether they will be able to elicit the proof 
required to meet the additional elements of Specification 6 at trial, Specification 1 is the 
alternative charging theory. Thus, there may be slight variances between the specifications, but 
they are not distinctly separate acts. 

Turning to whether the charges misrepresent or exaggerate the accused's criminality or unfairly 
increase the accused's punitive exposure, they do not; nor is there evidence of prosecutorial 
overreaching or abuse. The government is not prevented from charging in the alternative to meet 
contingencies of proof. Alternative theories of liability for the same act may be charged because 
of the uncertainties with the proof that may be adduced at trial, as well as which elements of 
which charges the members believe have been proven at trial. Here the Government 
acknowledges it may not be able to meet the higher burden it has placed on itself by charging 
specification 6, and if unable to do so, specification 6 will be dismissed. Under no circumstances 
will the accused be sentenced on both specifications 1 and 6. 

In arguing the two offenses are unreasonably multiplied, the Defense requests relief in the form 
of dismissing Speciation 1, presumably because they recognize the added burdens of proof 
required in Specification 6. Their request is denied at this stage of the proceeding. However, the 
concept of unreasonable multiplication of these two specifications will be re-addressed at two 
later stages of the trial: 1) After the evidence is in and before deliberation on findings (the 
instructions phase); and 2) After findings are announced but prior to sentencing. 

Defendant's Claims of Unreasonable Multiplication of Specifications 2 and 3 of Charge III and 
Specification 7 of Charge III 

The conduct charged under Specifications 2, 3 of Charge III address conduct by the accused in 
using  identify and images without authority to create online dating profiles at two 
different sites - Tinder and OKCupid. Specification 7 of Charge III charges identity theft in 
creating the two online dating profiles with an intent to commit wire fraud. In arguing the 
offenses are unreasonably multiplied, the Defense requests relief in the form of dismissing 
Specifications 2 and 3. 

In a separate pleading filed 07 July 2021, the Defense moved to dismiss Specification 2 and 3 of 
Charge III for failure to comply with due process. In its ruling addressing that motion, this Court 
agreed with Defense that Specifications 2 and 3 of Charge III fail to satisfy due process notice 
requirements and both specifications were dismissed. Accordingly, there is not need to address 
the merits of the Defense's argument with respect to their claim her that Specifications 2 and 3 of 
Charge III are multiplicious with Specification 7 of Charge III. 

Defendant's Claims of Unreasonable Multiplication of Specification 4 of Charge III and 
Specification 5 of Charge III 

The conduct charged under Specifications 4 and 5 of Charge III is aimed at the wrongful 
broadcast/sharing of intimate images of without her consent. The Government argues the 
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two specifications are pled for contingencies and law, and concedes that if this Court were to 
find Specification 4 is not preempted by Article 117a, UCMJ, Specification 5 should be 
dismissed because it is multiplicious with Specification 4. In a separate pleading filed IO August 
2021, the Defense moved to dismiss Specifications 4 and 5 for Failure to State an Offense. In its 
ruling addressing that motion, this Court denied the Motion to Dismiss Specification 4, and for 
purposes relevant to the instant motion, concluded that Specification 4 is not preempted by 
Article 117a, UCMJ. In accordance with that ruling, and the Government's concession, this 
Court finds that Specification 5 of Charge III must be dismissed. 

RULING: 
The Defense's Motion to Dismiss Specification 2 of Charge II as multiplicious and unreasonably 
multiplied with the Specification of Charge I is DENIED. 

The Defense's Motion to Dismiss Specification 1 of Charge III as an unreasonable multiplication 
of Specification 6 of Charge III is DENIED. 

The defense may revisit these issues at two later stages of the trial: 1) After the evidence is in 
and before deliberation on findings (the instructions phase); and 2) After findings are announced 
but prior to sentencing. 

The Defense's Motion to Dismiss Specifications 2 and 3 of Charge III as an unreasonable 
multiplication of Specification 7 of Charge III is MOOT, as Specifications 2 and 3 of Charge III 
were dismissed on other grounds. 

The Defense's Motion to Dismiss Specification 5 of Charge III as an unreasonable multiplication 
of Specification 4 of Charge III is GRANTED. Specification 5 of Charge III is DISMISSED. 

So ordered this 31 st day of October 2021 

D. M. Croff 
CAPTAIN, USCGR 
Military Judge 
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UNITED STATES COAST GUARD JUDICIARY 
GENERAL COURT MARTIAL 

UNITED STATES 

v. 

MARK J. GRIJALVA 
Machinery Technician Third Class 
U.S. Coast Guard 

COURT RULING ON 
DEFENSE MOTION TO DISMISS 

(SPEEDY TRIAL) 

14 November 2021 

NATURE OF THE MOTION: Defense filed a Motion to Dismiss on 11 August 2021 pursuant 
to 907(b)(2)(A) arguing the Government violated the accused's right to a speedy trial under 
Amendment VI of the U.S. Constitution and R.C.M. 707. 

BURDEN: Pursuant to R.C.M. 905(c)(2)(8), the Government bears the burden of persuasion for 
a speedy trial motion filed under R.C.M. 707. 

In reaching my findings and conclusions, I considered all legal and competent evidence 
presented by the government and defense during a motions hearing held O 1 September 2021. 
also considered the Government's Response filed 24 August 2021, as well as Supplements filed 
by the Defense and Government on 8 September 2021 coupled with the corresponding exhibits. 
In doing so, I make the following findings and conclusions: 

FINDINGS OF FACT: 

1. The underlying crimes alleged to have been committed by the accused - generally 
involving hacking into a victim's social media account, creating 2 dating profiles using the 
victim's identify and selling the victim's intimate photographs to men in exchange for money 
funneled through a Paypal account- occurred between February and March 2019. 

2. The accused was first interviewed by the Anaheim California Police Department on 06 
March 2019 and later by Coast Guard Investigative Service Agents on 12 July 2019. Additional 
charges of obstruction of justice and false official statements resulted from those two interviews. 

3. On 04 March 2021, a total of3 charges and IO specifications were sworn and 
preferred against the accused. On 17 March 2021, the Convening Authority ordered a 
preliminary hearing into those charges and specifications be conducted on 15 April 2021 

4. During a 19 March 2021 phone call, the Defense indicated they would request a 
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continuance of the preliminary hearing. On 29 March 2021, the Defense requested the 
preliminary hearing be continued from 15 April until 5 May 2021. The Defense's request to 
continue was granted by the preliminary hearing officer (PHO) who attributed 20 days of 
excludable delay to the defense. 

5. On 28 April 2021, the Government disclosed to the Defense 4 additional specifications 
that were included on a continuation page attached to the already sworn and preferred charges. 
The additional 4 specifications were not sworn to or preferred. On the same date, the Defense 
filed a waiver of the Article 32 hearing into the charges and specifications preferred on 04 March 
2021. On 29 April 2021, the Convening Authority ordered the preliminary hearing be conducted 
despite the accused's waiver. 

6. On 05 May 2021, an Article 32 preliminary hearing was conducted to consider all 
charges and specifications, including the additional 4 unsworn specifications pursuant to R.C.M. 
405(e)(2), despite the Defense's objection to the PH O's consideration of those 4 additional 
specifications. Those 4 additional specifications were based upon the same facts and evidence 
being presented for the 10 original preferred specifications. 

7. On 19 May 2021, after requesting a week's extension, the PHO issued his report. He 
found probable cause existed and recommended charging 6 of the 10 original specifications. He 
also found probable cause existed for 3 of the 4 additional specifications. 

8. On 14 June 2021, the SJA provided pretrial advice pursuant to Article 34, UCMJ to the 
Convening Authority agreeing in part with the PHO's report. The SJA recommended referring 7 
of the 10 original specifications and all 4 additional specifications to a general court-martial. 

9. The Convening Authority concurred with the SJA 's pretrial advice, and on 17 June 2021 
referred all charges and specifications which appear in the current charge sheet to this General 
Court-Martial, including those 4 unswom specifications objected to by the Defense. 

10. On 23 June 2021, the Defense filed a speedy trial demand requesting trial to commence 
on 6, 12 or 19 July 2021 prior to the expiration of R.C.M 707's 120-day speedy trial clock on 23 
July 2021, taking into account 20 days of excludable delay attributed to the Defense. 

11. Although a military judge (CDR Paul Casey) was made available for trial to commence 
19 July, the Government and key witnesses were unavailable. 

12. CDR Casey conducted a telephonic 802 conference with all parties on 25 June 2021 
during which it was confirmed that trial counsel and key witnesses, to include Detective

were unavailable for trial during the month of July 2021. During 
that call, the arraignment was scheduled for 7 July 2021 and CDR Casey directed the parties to 
work together on a draft Trial Management Order (TMO) with the understanding that a July trial 
date was not possible. 

13. Between 29 June and 6 July 2021, the Government and Defense exchanged a series of 
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emails and schedules in an attempt to select dates for a motion hearing and trial. The 
Government initially proposed a motions hearing date of 11 August with trial commencing 13 
September 2021. Both dates were rejected by the Defense due to their unavailability. A second 
trial date proposed by the Government of 27 September was also rejected by the Defense due to 
their unavailability. The Defense again requested the same July trial dates that had already been 
established during the 802 conference held 25 June 2021 as dates where the Government and 
some of their key witnesses were unavailable. 

14. On 06 July 2021, after several days spent conferring and reviewing the schedules of 
witnesses, defense counsel, special victims counsel and the military judge's docket, the 
Government proposed a draft TMO. The trial date proposed within the draft TMO of 15 
November 2021 was objected to by the Defense. Ultimately, the TMO was signed and issued by 
the military judge, CDR Casey, on 6 July 2021, setting a motions hearing date on O 1 September 
with trial commencing 15 November 2021. 

15. The accused was arraigned on the charges and specifications on 07 July 2021. CDR 
Casey also summarized the 802 conference on the record. 

16. On the morning of arraignment, the Defense filed a Motion to Dismiss for Defective 
Referral of "Additional" Charges, 1 formalizing his prior objections that the 4 additional 
specifications were unsworn and never properly preferred. 

17. Upon consideration of the Defense's Motion, the Government agreed that the 4 
additional specifications were not properly sworn. On 16 July 2021, the Convening Authority 
withdrew all charges and specifications but did not dismiss them. On the same day, all charges 
and specifications were preferred and re-referred to this General Court-Martial, including the 4 
specifications previously unsworn. The Convening Authority also authorized excludable delay 
for the period of 7 to 16 July 2021. 

18. The Government and military judge were available to conduct a second arraignment on 
19 July. However, the Defense stated they were unwilling the waive the 5-day statutory waiting 
period and unavailable until 22 July 2021. 

19. A second TMO was signed by the military judge on 21 July 2021, adhering to the same 
dates set forth in the 6 July 2021 TMO, with trial commencing 15 November 2021. 

20. On 22 July 2021, the accused was arraigned for a second time on all charges referred 16 
July 2021. This second arraignment occurred within 120 days of when the initial charges were 
preferred (04 March 2021) accounting for the 20 days of excludable delay attributed to the 
Defense's request to continue to the preliminary hearing. 

21. The accused has not been subjected to any form of pretrial restraint. His security 

1 Although the Motion is dated 23 June 2021, it was filed by the Defense on 07 July 2021, the morning of the 151 

arraignment. 
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clearance was pulled in July 2019 and he was assigned to work in a support billet aboard Naval 
Base Kitsap-Bangor from July 2019 - August 2020. On 21 August 2020, the accused was 
transferred to Coast Guard Base, Seattle and assigned to work in a support billet. He requested a 
transfer back to Naval Base Kitsap-Bangor in July 202 l and that request was denied. 

PRINCIPLES OF LAW AND ANALYSIS: 

R.C.M. 707(a) demands the accused be brought to trial within 120 days after either preferral of 
charges, imposition of pretrial restraint, or entry onto active duty. Under the facts of this case, 
preferral of charges is the operative date for purposes of 707 calculations. When multiple 
charges are preferred at different times, as they were in this case, "accountability for each charge 
shall be determined from the appropriate date under subsection (a) of this rule for that charge." 
R.C.M. 707(b )(2). The date when charges are preferred does not count in the calculations, but 
the date the accused is brought to trial does count. "The accused is brought to trial within the 
meaning of this rule at the time of arraignment under R.C.M. 904." R.C.M. 707(b)(l). 

The original charges were preferred on 4 March 2021. An additional 4 specifications were 
referred (though not properly preferred) along with the original charges to this General Court­
Marital on 17 June 2021. The accused was first arraigned on all charges and specifications on 7 
July 2021. On 16 July 2021 all charges and specifications were withdrawn by the Convening 
Authority to correct an error brought to the Government's attention by the Defense regarding the 
4 additional specifications which were never properly sworn or preferred against the accused.2 

All charges were preferred and re-referred to this General Court-Martial on 16 July 2021. The 
R.C.M. 707 clock began on 04 March 202 l when the original charges were preferred. However, 
for the 4 additional charges, R.C.M. 707(b )(2) tells us the clock began ticking when those 
charges were properly preferred on 16 July 2021. A second arraignment occurred on 22 July 
2021. The arraignment on 22 July 2021 was conducted prior to the expiration of the 120-day 
clock (23 July 2021) for the original charges, accounting for the 20-day continuance requested 
by the defense for the preliminary hearing which was granted as excludable delay by the PHO. 
Factoring in an additional 10 days (7-16 July 2021) for which the Convening Authority granted 
excludable delay would extend the expiration of speedy trial until 2 August 2021. Factoring in 
an additional 3 days (19-22 July) requested by the defense before the second arraignment would 
extend the expiration of speedy trial date until 5 August 2021. However, there is no need to 
address how those additional calculations toll speedy trial since based upon the 20 days of 
excludable delay alone, the accused was brought to trial within the meaning of R.C.M. 707 when 
he was arraigned on 22 July 2021 (for a second time). For the additional 4 specifications, the 
accused was brought to trial when he was arraigned a mere 6 days after the speedy trial clock 
began ticking for those specifications. Thus, the accused's speedy trial rights under R.C.M. 707 
were not violated. Furthermore, the Court finds no merit- legally or factually- in the Defense's 
claims of a "sham" arraignment. 

2 That issue was addressed separately in the Court's O 1 November 2021 Ruling on Defense's 
Motion Objecting to Joinder as well as the Court's 8 November 2021 Ruling on Defense's 
Motion for Defective Article 32 Advice and Erroneous Article 34 Advice and won't be rehashed 
again here. 
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The right to a speedy trial under the Sixth Amendment is not a bright-line rule quantified by a set 
period of time, but instead requires application of a 4-factor balancing test. Barker v. Wingo, 407 
U.S. 514 ( 1972). The four factors to be considered in determining whether a particular defendant 
has been deprived ofhis right to a speedy trial are: 1) the length of the delay; 2) the reason for 
the delay; 3) the assertion of the speedy trial demand; and 4) prejudice to the accused. 

Looking at the first factor, the Defense complains of the length of time between when the 
accused's conduct was first brought to the Government's attention in 2019 until the time of trial. 
However, the appropriate focus of the inquiry for purposes of the instant motion begins no earlier 
than when the original charges were preferred against the accused. Any complaints about delay 
between the time an offense is committed and the preferral of charges is irrelevant for MK3 
Grijalva's speedy trial purposes. Having defined the length of delay for this analysis as 
beginning 04 March 2021 until trial on 15 November 2021 (8 months and 11 days), it is not 
simply the length of the delay, but the circumstances of a particular case that must be considered. 
As the Barker Court observed, " ... the delay that can be tolerated for an ordinary street crime is 
considerably less than for a serious, complex conspiracy charge." Id. at 531. The Defense 
argues these charges involve a "relatively simple set of offenses" and because ofMK3 Grijalva's 
admissions, there is "minimal dispute as to the facts." Given the extensive motion practice in the 
case to date, which includes l 0 motions filed by the Defense alone, not including their 
supplements, this Court would not describe this case as being simple or minimal. The charges 
against MK3 Grijalva more closely resemble a serious, complex conspiracy charge than they do 
an ordinary street crime. The crimes alleged against MK3 Grijalva did not occur on the street, or 
anywhere in plain sight for an eyewitness to observe on one particular occasion. Instead, MK3 
Grijalva is charged with committing crimes made complex through his use of the internet­
hacking and creating online accounts, impersonating a female victim, committing wire fraud and 
identify theft - al I from the privacy of a computer or phone over a period of months. Moreover, 
the accused's "admissions" to investigators generated the need to conduct additional 
investigation and as a result, additional charges were filed based upon the accused's false 
statements and his obstruction of the government's investigation. Even the preliminary hearing 
officer required additional time to complete his report given the charges at issue. In 
consideration of the facts and circumstances of this complex case, the length of the delay 
between preferral of charges and trial is not unreasonable. 

We next consider the second factor under Barker - the reason for the delay. Despite the 
Defense's claims that the Government was acting in a manner that was "dilatory" and "slothful," 
the Court finds no support for these claims. The Government's actions after preferral of the 
charges, however the Defense chooses to characterize or criticize them, played no role in the 
case being scheduled for trial on 15 November 2021. Trial could not have occurred any sooner, 
and the dismissal and re-referral of charges had nothing to do with the selection of the November 
trial date set prior to the first arraignment. Instead, the 15 November 2021 trial date was selected 
after consideration of all parties' schedules and availability, to include the Government's 
witnesses, trial and defense counsel, special victim's counsel, as well as the military judge. The 
Government was prepared to proceed to trial as early as 13 September 2021, yet neither that date 
nor the next proposed trial date of27 September worked for the Defense. The Government's 
written response to this motion, as well as its supplemental response, and corresponding exhibits 
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detail the challenges associated with identifying dates that allowed for trial to be scheduled. 15 
November 2021 was the earliest date trial could be conducted based upon the collective 
availability of the parties and witnesses. This second factor weighs in the Government's favor. 

The third factor weighs in the accused's favor since he has demanded speedy trial. 

The fourth factor to be considered is the prejudice to the accused as a result of the delay. The 
Defense asserts that "it is not yet apparent whether the unreasonable delay has imperiled MK3 
Grijalva's ability to any defense." However, the Defense does claim MK3 Grijalava has suffered 
in the form of a lengthy commute he makes each day from Naval Base Kitsap-Bangor to Coast 
Guard Base Seattle. While a lengthy driving commute to work may be inconvenient, it does not 
amount to prejudice, and this Court finds no prejudice has been suffered by the accused as a 
result of the delay. 

Three of the four factors considered under Barker weigh in favor of the Government. There has 
been no violation of MK.3 Grijalva's Sixth Amendment right to a speedy trial, nor a violation 
under R.C.M. 707. 

RULING: 
The Defense's Motion to Dismiss on speedy trial grounds is DENIED. 

So ordered this 14th day of November 2021. 

D. M. Croff 
CAPTAIN, USCGR 
Military Judge 
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UNITED STATES COAST GUARD JUDICIARY 
GENERAL COURT MARTIAL 

UNITED STATES 

v. 

MARKJ. GRIJALVA 
Machinery Technician Third Class 
U.S. Coast Guard 

COURT RULING ON 
DEFENSE MOTION FOR 
APPROPRIATE RELIEF 

(OBJECTION TO JOINDER) 

01 November 2021 

NATURE OF THE MOTION: Defense filed a Motion objecting to what they describe as the 
joinder of what were previously titled as additional offenses in an earlier charge sheet, but now 
appear in the current charge sheet as the sole Specification under Charge I, and Specifications 6 
through 8 of Charge III RCM § 907(b)(3)(A). 

BURDEN: The Defense bears the burden of demonstrating by a preponderance of the evidence 
that the sole Specification of Charge I and Specification 6 through 8 of Charge III are improperly 
joined with all other charges and specifications. RCM §905(c). 

In reaching my findings and conclusions, I considered all legal and competent evidence 
presented by the government and defense during a motions hearing held O 1 September 2021. In 
doing so, I make the following findings and conclusions: 

FINDINGS OF FACT: 

1. On 04 March 2021, charges were properly sworn and preferred against the accused and a 
Preliminary Hearing under Article 32 was ordered. 

2. On 28 April 2021, the Government disclosed to the Defense 4 additional specifications 
that were included on a continuation page attached to the already sworn and preferred charges. 
The additional 4 specifications were not sworn to. 

3. On 05 May 2021, an Article 32 preliminary hearing was conducted to consider all 
charges and specifications, including the additional 4 unsworn specifications, despite the 
Defense's objection to the preliminary hearing officer's consideration of those 4 additional 
specifications. 

4. On 17 June 2021, the Convening Authority referred all charges and specifications which 
appear in the current charge sheet, to this General Court-Martial including those 4 unsworn 
specifications objected to by the Defense. 

5. The accused was first arraigned on 07 July 2021. 

6. On the morning of arraignment, the Defense filed a Motion to Dismiss for Defective 
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Referral of"Additional" Charges, 1 formalizing his prior objections that the 4 additional 
specifications were unswom and never properly preferred. 

7. Upon consideration of the Defense's Motion, the Government agreed that the 4 
additional specifications were not properly sworn. On 16 July 2021, the Convening Authority 
withdrew all charges and specifications but did not dismiss them. On the same day, all charges 
and specifications were sworn to, preferred and re-referred to this General Court-Martial, 
including the 4 specifications previously unsworn. 

8. On 22 July 2021, the accused was arraigned for a second time on all charges referred 16 
July 2021. This second arraignment occurred within 120 days of when the initial charges were 
preferred (04 March 2021) accounting for excludable delay. 

9. The 4 specifications at issue for purposes of this motion are now included on the charge 
sheet as the sole Specification under Charge I, and Specifications 6 through 8 of Charge III. 

PRINCIPLES OF LAW AND ANALYSIS: 

The Defense argues these 4 specifications are "new" and may not be joined with the original 
properly sworn specifications upon which the accused was already arraigned on 07 July 2021. 
The Defense cites to R.C.M. 601(e)(2) and argues these 4 specifications were improperly joined 
because the accused never consented to be tried on these new charges after he was already 
arraigned. Relying on United States v. Koke, 32 M.J. 877,881 (N-M.C.M.R. 1991) ajf'd 35 M.J. 
313 (C.M.A. 1992), the Defense argues the Convening Authority's "same-day withdrawal, 
'preferral,' and immediate re-referral of all of the Charges is a transparent attempt to circumvent 
joinder limits" (Defendant's Motion, p. 4). The Defense's reliance on Koke is misplaced. There, 
the convening authority was found to have erred when after arraignment, the two original 
charges were withdrawn and then re-referred along with an additional charge. The additional 
charge was a completely new and different charge, previously unknown to the accused, and was 
added after arraignment. Such is not the case here. 

The Convening Authority has broad authority to withdraw charges from a court-martial under 
R.C.M. 604(a). It may be done at any time before findings are announced. R.C.M. 604(b) 
permits the referral of withdrawn charges to another court-martial as long as the withdrawal was 
not done for an improper reason. The issue here is whether the Convening Authority's 
withdrawal and re-referral of charges, done to cure an error in not properly swearing to 4 of the 
specifications, was a proper purpose, and secondly whether there was unfair prejudice to the 
accused in doing so. 

In Koke, the Navy-Marine Corps Court addressed the operation in tandem ofR.C.M. 601 and 
604, and laid out several factors to consider in determining whether withdrawal and referral after 
arraignment is proper: 

( 1) is undertaken for an articulable reason that genuinely serves a public interest, or the 
interests of justice or is reactive to an operational exigency; 

(2) arises because of, or relates to, some event occurring after arraignment that actually 

1 Although the Motion is dated 23 June 2021, it was filed by the Defense on 07 July 2021, the morning of the P1 

arraignment. 
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raises a substantial question concerning the appropriateness of the original referral 
decision; 

(3) is not based on retribution for the assertion of a right by the accused; 
(4) does not involve harassment of the accused; 
(5) is not arbitrary or unfair to an accused, considering all of the facts and circumstances 

of a case and bearing in mind that the mere exposure to potential additional 
punishment if not controlling; and 

(6) is invoked in response to an operational exigency. 

Koke, 32 M.J. at 881. "If there is bright line rule in this area of military procedure, it is that a 
convening authority may not withdraw charges from one court-martial and refer them to another 
in a way which is unfair or arbitrary to the accused." United States v. Unde,wood, 47 M.J. 805 
(l 997)(citing United States v. Blaylock, 15 M.J. 190(C.M.A 1983)). Improper withdrawal 
includes any interference with the free exercise of a constitutional or codal right or with the 
impartiality of a court-martial. Koke, 32 M.J. at 881 (citing United States v. Williams, 11 
U.S.C.M.A 459, 29 C.M.R. 275 (1960)). 

In consideration of the above factors, this Court finds that the Convening Authority's decision to 
withdraw and re-refer charges after arraignment was not improper. The charges were withdrawn 
to correct the preferral error raised by the Defense. The same charges (as distinguished from the 
additional charge in Koke) were properly sworn, preferred and re-referred, and the accused was 
arraigned on those same charges 6 days later. This was not done in a way that was unfair or 
arbitrary to the accused and it did not interfere with the exercise of his constitutional rights. 
Instead, this Court finds it was done for a proper purpose. 

The Court next finds that the withdrawal and re-referral of properly sworn charges did not 
unfairly prejudice the accused. There were no "new" charges as the Defense claims. The only 
difference was the reordering and numbering of those same charges. Defense counsel made no 
mention of any prejudice to their client in their motion and they were unable to articulate during 
the motion hearing any such prejudice suffered by their client, despite being asked multiple times 
by this Court. Upon being pressed by the Court to articulate prejudice, Defense ultimately 
claimed they were prejudiced by a delay in the trial proceedings. However, the 15 November 
2021 trial date was set by the Court by way of a 06 July 2021 Trial Management Order, before 
the first arraignment, and after taking schedules into account. Trial could not have occurred any 
sooner with or without the 4 specifications on the charge sheet, and no such prejudice in the form 
of delay exists. 

The second ground for prejudice claimed by the defense, again when pressed, was the fact that 
the 4 additional specifications were not properly considered by the preliminary hearing officer. 
Again, the Court sees no prejudice to the accused. The Defense was placed on notice of these 
additional specifications on 28 April, prior to the Article 32 hearing, was provided all evidence 
relevant to those additional specifications, and did not request any additional witnesses or 
evidence concerning those additional specifications. The PHO's report, dated 13 May, indicates 
his proper consideration of those additional specifications pursuant to R.C.M. 405(e). For one of 
the additional specifications, the PHO even found no probable cause existed (the Convening 
Authority chose to refer despite that recommendation). Thus, it is difficult to conceive what 
prejudice the accused suffered from the PHO's consideration of the 4 specifications. This Court 
concludes there was no prejudice suffered by the defendant. 
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RULING: 
The Defense's Motion for Appropriate Relief upon claims of improper joinder is DENIED. 

So ordered this 1st day of November 2021. 

D. M. Croff 
CAPTAIN, USCGR 
Military Judge 
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UNITED STATES COAST GUARD JUDICIARY 
GENERAL COURT MARTIAL 

UNITED ST ATES 

v. 

MARK J. GRIJALVA 
Machinery Technician Third Class 
U.S. Coast Guard 

COURT RULING ON 
DEFENSE MOTION TO DISMISS 

FAILURE TO STATE AN OFFENSE 

31 October 2021 

NATURE OF THE MOTION: Defense filed a Motion to Dismiss Specifications 4 and 5 of 
Charge III arguing they fail to state an offense in accordance with RCM § 307(c)(3) and 
907(b )(2)(E). 

BURDEN: The Defense bears the burden of demonstrating by a preponderance of the evid nee 
that Specifications 4 and 5 of Charge III fails to state an offense. RCM §905(c). 

In reaching my findings and conclusions, I considered all legal and competent evidence 
presented by the government and defense during a motions hearing held O 1 September 202 . In 
doing so, I make the following findings and conclusions: 

FINDINGS OF FACT: 

1. The accused admitted to Coast Guard Investigative Service (CGIS) agents that he unlaw 
gained access to  Snapchat account by guessing her password after trying unsuccess lly 
more than 50 times. He admitted to downloading from her account approximately 5 sexual y 
explicit images of Thereafter, the accused created accounts/profiles on "Tinder" and 
"OKCupid" using names and images without her permission. Using those accounts 
posing as the accused communicated with several individuals offering photos 
sex in exchange for money. The accused estimated he sent photos of  to approximatel 
individuals and in exchange, received approximately $200 through use of a PayPal account. 

2.  is the girlfriend of the accused's friend at the time of the offenses. Both the former riend 
and are civilians. 

3. The accused texted the images to at least three individuals, all civilians, from his residen e 
located onboard Naval Base Kitsap Bangor, Washington. 

4. Specification 4 of Charge III charges the accused with violation of Article 134 of the U 
in that he did: 

... at Naval Base Kitsap Bangor, Washington, on divers occasions between on or ab t 1 
February 2019 to on or about 31 March 2019, knowingly, wrongfully, and without t e 
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explicit consent o  broadcast an intimate visual image of  who is identifia le 
from the visual image or from information displayed in connection with the visual i age, 
when he knew or reasonably should have known that the visual image was made un er 
circumstance in which  retained a reasonable expectation of privacy regarding ny 
broadcast and he knew or reasonably should have known that the broadcast of the v sual 
image was likely to cause harm, harassment, or emotional distress for or to ha 
substantially with respect to her safety, business, calling, career, reputation, or 
personal relationships, an act which is of a nature to bring discredit upon the armed 
forces. 

PRINCIPLES OF LAW AND ANALYSIS: 

The gist of the Defense's argument is that Specifications 4 and 5 of Charge III fail to allege a 
lawful offense is because the preemption doctrine prohibits prosecution of the accused's co duct 
under Article 134, UCMJ, where the conduct - wrongful broadcast of intimate images with ut 
consent - is exclusively punishable under Article 117a. 

Article 134, UCMJ criminalizes offenses not specifically covered under other articles of th 
UCMJ. Clause (2) offenses under Article 134, as Specification 4 of Charge III is, involve 
conduct of a nature to bring discredit upon the armed forces, i.e. conduct which injures the 
reputation of the armed forces and tends to bring the service in disrepute or which tends to l wer 
it in public esteem. MCM, Pt. IV 1 91 ( c )(3 ). The elements of Specification 4 of Charge III 

l) that at Naval Base Kitsap Bangor, Washington, on divers occasions between on r 
about 1 February 2019 to on or about 31 March 2019, the accused knowingly, 
wrongfully, and without the explicit consent of  broadcast an intimate visua 
image of who is identifiable from the visual image or from information 
displayed in connection with the visual image, when he knew or reasonably sho ld 
have known that the visual image was made under circumstance in which
retained a reasonable expectation of privacy regarding any broadcast and he kne 
reasonably should have known that the broadcast of the visual image was likely 
cause harm, harassment, or emotional distress for or to harm substantially
with respect to her safety, business, calling, career, reputation, or personal 
relationships; and 

2) that, under the circumstance, that accused's conduct was of a nature to bring disc edit 
upon the armed forces. 

Article 117a, UCMJ was enacted by the National Defense Authorization Act for Fiscal Ye 
2018 in the wake of the "Marines United" scandal of 2017 which involved service members who 
shared intimate photographs of other service members through social media. The elements f 
Article 117a, wrongful broadcast or distribution of intimate digital images, are: 

1) that the accused knowingly and wrongfully broadcast or distributed an intimate v sual 
image or a visual image of sexually explicit conduct involving an individual; 

2) that the individual was at least 18 years of age when the visual image was created 
3) that the individual is identifiable from the visual image or from information displ yed 

2 

APPELLATE EXHIBI ~ 1 
PAGE l_ OF 5 PAGE (S) 



in connection with the visual image; 
4) that the individual did not explicitly consent to the broadcast or distribution oft e 

visual image; 
5) that the accused knew or reasonably should have known that the visual image w s 

made under circumstances in which the individual retained a reasonable expect 
of privacy regarding any broadcast or distribution of the visual image; 

6) that the accused knew or reasonably should have known that the broadcast or 
distribution of the visual image was likely to cause harm, harassment, intimidati n, 
emotional distress, or financial loss for the individual or to harm substantially 
individual with respect to her health, safety, business, calling, career, financial 
condition, reputation, or personal relationships; and 

7) that the accused's conduct, under the circumstances, had a reasonably direct and 
palpable connection to a military mission or military environment. 

Preemption prohibits charging conduct under Article 134 when the conduct is already cove 
an offense under Articles 80-132. 

"Simply stated, preemption is the legal concept that where Congress has occupied the field 
given type of misconduct by addressing it in one of the specific punitive articles of the code 
another offense may not be created and punished under Article 134, UCMJ, by simply delet ng a 
vital element. See United States v. Wright, 5 M.J. 106, 110-11 (C.M.A.1978). However, si ply 
because the offense charged under Article 134, UCMJ, embraces all but one element of an 
offense under another article does not trigger operation of the preemption doctrine. United tates 
v. Maze, 21 U.S.C.M.A. 260, 262-63, 45 C.M.R. 34, 36-7 (1972). In addition, it must be sh wn 
that Congress intended the other punitive article to cover a class of offenses in a complete 
United States v. Maze, supra; United States v. Taylor, 17 U.S.C.M.A. 595, 38 C.M.R. 393 
(1968). See also United States v. Wright, supra." United States v. Kick, 7 M.J. 82, 85 
(U.S.C.M.A. 1979). In U.S. v. Anderson, C.A.A.F. affirmed that preemption "require[s] 
Congress to indicate through direct legislative language or express legislative history that 
particular actions or facts are limited to the express language of the enumerated article, and ay 
not be charged under Article 134, UCMJ." U.S. v. Anderson, 68 M.J. 378,387 (C.A.A.F. 20 0). 

The Defense encourages a review of the legislative history of Article 117a and points to ear ·er 
drafts of the bill that were not passed, as well as letters sent and arguments made during the 
review process. By relying on such extraneous considerations, the Defense surmises the int nt of 
Congress was to limit all prosecution of wrongful broadcast or distribution or images to Art· le 
117a. The inclusion of the final element which requires the conduct to have "reasonably dir ct 
and palpable connection to the military mission of military environment" (missing from an 
earlier draft but included is the final version) is proof, the Defense argues, that Congress 
intended to "occupy the field" for preemption purposes. 

This Court does not agree with Defense's bare inference that the enactment of Article 117 a 
indicates a clear intent by Congress to cover the entire field of wrongful distribution of inti 
images and eliminate it as an offense chargeable under Article 134, UCMJ, particularly in 
situations where the images depict a civilian and are distributed to civilians. The plain lang age 
of Article 117a's final element - that the conduct have a reasonably direct and palpable 
connection to a military mission or military environment - plainly limits that charge to the t e 
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of conduct committed in the Marines United scandal, where the images depict service me 
and/or are distributed among service members. Moreover, it cannot be disputed that the 
enactment of Article 117 was in direct response to the Marines United scandal and was int nded 
to address that specific conduct with a direct military connection. 

Recently, in United States v. Griffin, the providency inquiry of an accused's guilty plea to icle 
117a was reviewed to determine whether his conduct had a reasonably direct and palpable 
connection to a military mission or military environment. Griffin, 81 M.J. 646 (N-M Ct. C 
App. 2021 ). In an act of revenge following a breakup, the accused posted to a pomograph 
website intimate videos of his former girlfriend, also a servicemember, having sex with hi in 
the barracks. Id. at 648. During providency, the accused testified that his conduct damaged the 
victim's career, reputation and relationships; that his conduct affected the mission enviro 
and that other servicemembers who worked with the victim were aware of the videos whic 
detracted from the victim's military duties. Id. at 650. At issue for the court was whether t e 
plea was provident despite the accused and victim not working in the same workplace. In t e 
end, the court upheld the conviction finding that one fact did not matter in light of the other facts 
showing the conduct had a direct and palpable connection to the military mission or 
environment. Noteworthy about Griffin is how many boxes were required to be checked, 
factually, to satisfy the terminal element which is not easily met, and demonstrates the very 
narrow scope of conduct envisioned under Article 117a. 

In the absence of clear intent which the Defense has failed to demonstrate, this Court is una le to 
infer that Congress intended to restrict the charging of the "entire field" of this criminal con uct 
when it enacted Article 117a. Without clear intent that Congress "intended to cover a class f 
offenses in a complete way" the preemption doctrine does not apply. See United States v. 
at 263. That a military member could broadcast intimate visual images of a civilian withou 
consent to other civilians, and because the conduct has no connection to a military mission r 
military environment prevents it from being charged under Article 134 as service discrediti g, 
cannot stand to reasonably reflect Congress' intent when it enacted Article 117a. Not being 
permitted to charge such a crime committed by a service member simply because the victi is a 
civilian would be service discrediting and necessarily lower the reputation of the armed fore s in 
public esteem. Thus, it cannot be reasonably inferred that Congress intended Article 117a t 
"occupy the field" of what is a massive field made infinitely larger through the internet' s re ch. 
Just the opposite, it appears that Congress intended Article 117a to occupy only a limited p ion 
of that field when it comes to the prosecution of wrongful broadcasting of visual images 
offenses. In this case, the accused's conduct falls outside of that narrow field covered by A 
117a, which does not preempt his prosecution as service discrediting conduct under Article 

Analysis and application of the facts to Specification 4 of Charge III leads this Court to con lude 
that the charge states an offense that is sufficiently pied under the RCMs and cognizable un er 
the UCMJ and is not preempted by Article 117a. In reaching the conclusion that Specificati n 4 
of Charge III is not preempted, Specification 5 of Charge III is dismissed on other grounds, 
pursuant to a separate Defense Motion to Dismiss for Unreasonable Multiplication of Charg s 
and the Government's concession to the dismissal of Specification 5. Accordingly, there is o 
need to address the merits of the Defense's argument with respect to their claim here that 
Specification 5 fails to state an offense. 
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RULING: 
The Defense's Motion to Dismiss Specification 4 of Charge III for failing to state an off en e is 
DENIED. 
The Defense's Motion to Dismiss Specification 5 of Charge III for failing to state an offen e is 
MOOT, as the Specification was dismissed on other grounds. 

So ordered this 31 st day of October 2021 

D. M. Croff 
CAPTAIN, USCGR 
Military Judge 
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UNITED STATES COAST GUARD JUDICIARY 
GENERAL COURT MARTIAL 

UNITED STATES 

v. 

MARKJ.GRIJALVA 
Machinery Technician Third Class 
U.S. Coast Guard 

COURT RULING ON 
DEFENSE MOTION FOR 
APPROPRIATE RELIEF 

(Defective Article 32 and Erroneous 
Article 34 Advice) 

8 November 2021 

NATURE OF THE MOTION: Defense filed a Motion objecting to what they claim was 
defective preliminary hearing under Article 32, UCMJ and erroneous Article 34 advice whi h 
misled the Convening Authority. 

BURDEN: The Defense bears the burden of demonstrating by a preponderance of the evid nee 
that the preliminary hearing was defective and the Article 34 advice was erroneous and mis ed 
the Convening Authority, and thus the charges were not properly referred to this court-mart al. 
RCM §905(c). 

In reaching my findings and conclusions, I considered all legal and competent evidence 
presented by the government and defense during a motions hearing held O I September 202 . In 
doing so, I make the following findings and conclusions: 

FINDINGS OF FACT: 

I. On 04 March 2021, a total of 3 charges and IO specifications were properly sworn a d 
preferred against the accused. On 17 March 2021, the Convening Authority ordered a 
preliminary hearing into those charges and specifications be conducted under Article 32. 

2. On 28 April 2021, the Government disclosed to the Defense 4 additional specificati ns 
that were included on a continuation page attached to the already sworn and preferred cha es. 
The 4 additional specifications were not sworn to or preferred. On the same day, the Defen e 
filed a waiver of the Article 32 hearing into the charges and specifications preferred on 04 arch 
2021. 

3. On 05 May 2021, an Article 32 preliminary hearing was conducted to consider all 
charges and specifications, including the 4 additional unsworn specifications pursuant to R. .M. 
405(e)(2), despite the Defense's objection to the preliminary hearing officer's (PHO's) 
consideration of those 4 additional specifications. Those 4 additional specifications were b sed 
upon the same facts and evidence being presented for the 10 original preferred specificatio . 

4. On 13 May 2021, the PHO issued his report. He found probable cause existed and 
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recommended charging 6 of the 10 original specifications. As it relates to his consideratio of 
the 4 unsworn specifications titled then as "additional offenses," he found probable cause e isted 
to support 3 of those 4 specifications. Those additional specifications now appear in the cu 
charge sheet as the sole specification under Charge I, and specifications 7 and 8 under Cha e 
III. The one additional specification the PHO found was not supported by probable cause i 
what now appears in the current charge sheet as specification 6 under Charge III. 

5. Additionally, the PHO found the defense was provided notice of the additional 
specifications, all evidence relevant to those additional specifications had been provided to e 
defense, and the defense did not request any additional witnesses or evidence relevant to th 
additional specifications. 

6. On 14 June 2021, the staff judge advocate (SJA) (CDR  provided the 
Convening Authority (RADM A. J. Vogt) pretrial advice under Article 34, UCMJ, and enc 
a copy of the PHO's report. In her advice, the SJA agreed with the PHO in part and 
recommended dismissing 3 of the original specifications. However, contrary to the PHO's 
recommendations, the SJA concluded probable cause did exist and recommended that 
specification 5 under Charge III ( one of the original specifications) be referred to a general ourt­
martial, as well as one additional charge now found under Charge III as specification 6. Fi ally, 
the SJA agreed with the remainder of the PHO's determinations, concluding that probable ause 
existed and recommended referring to general court-martial 6 of the original specifications nd 
the 3 additional specifications. 

7. The SJA's 14 June 2021 pretrial advice complied with all requirements under Articl 34, 
UCMJ and R.C.M. 406. Though not required, the SJA took the additional steps in her advi e to 
summarize the PHO's findings as to each specification, as well as explain in detail why her 
recommendations differed from the PHO with regard to 2 of the specifications. 

8. The Convening Authority concurred with the SJA's advice and on 17 June 2021 re 
all charges and specifications which appear in the current charge sheet to this General Cou -
Martial, including those 4 unswom specifications objected to by the Defense. 

9. The accused was arraigned on those charges and specifications on 07 July 2021. 

10. On the morning of arraignment, the Defense filed a Motion to Dismiss for Defectiv 
Referral of "Additional" Charges 1, formalizing his prior objections that the 4 additional 
specifications were unswom and never properly preferred. 

11. Upon consideration of the Defense's Motion, the Government agreed that the 4 
additional specifications were not properly sworn. On 16 July 2021, the Convening Autho 'ty 
withdrew all charges and specifications but did not dismiss them. On the same day, the sa e 
charges and specifications were sworn to and preferred against the Accused, including the 
specifications previously unswom. 

12. On 16 July 2021, the SJA provided the new Convening Authority (RADM M. W. 

1 Although the Motion is dated 23 June 2021, it was filed by the Defense on 07 July 2021, the morning of the pt 
arraignment. 
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Bouboulis) with supplemental pretrial advice under Article 34, UCMJ, and enclosed a cop of 
the PHO's report as well as her 14 June 2021 pretrial advice. That supplemental advice 
complied with all requirements under Article 34, UCMJ and R.C.M. 406. The SJA stated at 
her pretrial advice of 14 June 2021 had not changed. Though not required, the SJA referen ed 
the PHO's report and erred in her description of his findings with the following sentence:" i]n 
his report, the PHO determined there was probable cause to believe the Accused commi ed 
all the charges and specifications now in the current charged sheet preferred on 16 Ju y 
2021." 

13. The PHO had not made such a determination with regard to all the charges and 
specifications in the 16 July 2021 charge sheet. As detailed in the PHO report and by the S A in 

her earlier Article 34 pretrial advice (both enclosed with her supplemental advice), the PH 
determined there was not probable cause as to Specifications 5 and 6 of Charge III. 

14. On 16 July 2021, the Convening Authority re-referred all charges and specifications 
finding in accordance with R.C.M. 603 that all charges and specifications had been adequat ly 
considered at the 05 May 2021 preliminary hearing. 

15. On 22 July 2021, the Accused was arraigned for a second time on all charges and 
specifications referred 16 July 2021. This second arraignment occurred within 120 days of hen 

the initial charges were preferred (04 March 2021) accounting for excludable delay. 

16. On 10 August 2021, the Defense filed the instant motion and a hearing was conduct don 
01 September 2021. In their written response, the Government acknowledged the error ma e by 
the SJA in her 16 July 2021 supplemental pretrial advice, but argued that error did not misl ad or 
affect the Convening Authority's referral decision. However, if the Court were to reach su a 
conclusion, the Government requested an opportunity to correct the error and provide corr ted 
advice to the Convening Authority. Without reaching any findings as to whether the Conv ing 
Authority was misled or his actions were affected, the Court felt it appropriate for the Conv ning 
Authority to be informed of the SJA's error. The Government agreed and requested until 0 

September 2021 to do so. 

17. On 07 September 2021, the SJA provided the Convening Authority (RADM M. W. 
Bouboulis) a correction to her 16 July 2021 pretrial advice and enclosed a copy of the PHO s 

report, along with her 14 June 2021 pretrial advice and 16 July 2021 pretrial advice. 

18. Upon being informed of the error made by the SJA in her 16 July 2021 advice, and fter 
reviewing all enclosures, the Convening Authority made no change to his 16 July 2021 refe al 

of all charges and specifications to this General Court-Martial. 

PRINCIPLES OF LAW AND ANALYSIS: 

The Defense advances two separate arguments in their motion. The first takes issue with th 
PH O's consideration of 4 "additional" charges (sole specification of Charge I and specificat ons 
6 through 8 of Charge III) at the Article 32 hearing because they were unswom and not pro erly 
preferred against the accused. The second argument takes issue with the error made by the J A 
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in her Article 34 pretrial advice to the Convening Authority, which concerns specifications 52 

and 6 of Charge III. 

Article 32 Issue 
A preliminary hearing is required to be held under Article 32, UCMJ before referral of cha es 
and specifications to a general court-martial. R.C.M. 405(e)(2) permits the PHO to consid 
uncharged offenses "if evidence adduced during the primary hearing indicates the accused 
committed any uncharged offense." The accused's rights and the procedure for production of 
witnesses and evidence as set forth in R.C.M. 405 are the same for charged and uncharged 
offenses. The PHO may consider uncharged offenses if the accused: (1) is present at the 
preliminary hearing; (2) is informed of the nature of each uncharged offense considered; an (3) 
is afforded the opportunities for representation, cross-examination, and presentation consist nt 
with Article 32(d). See Article 32(f). 

The plain language ofR.C.M.405(e) permits the PHO to consider evidence of uncharged 
offenses at a preliminary hearing conducted under Article 32, UCMJ. In this case, the PHO 
properly considered evidence of the 4 uncharged offenses in compliance with the rules. Th 
Defense was provided notice of the 4 uncharged offenses one week prior to the primary he · g 
scheduled to be conducted on the 10 specifications preferred against him. Those 4 uncharg d 
offenses were based upon the same facts and evidence as the 10 specifications. The PHO fi und 
the Defense was provided notice of the additional specifications, all evidence relevant to th se 
additional specifications had been provided to the defense, and the defense did not request ny 
additional witnesses or evidence relevant to those additional specifications. 

The Court is unpersuaded by the Defense's argument that because they were uncharged of£ nses, 
the PHO could not consider the additional 4 specifications. R.C.M. 405 and Article 32 diet te 
otherwise. The Court finds the PHO's consideration of these charges was proper and done 
compliance with R.C.M. 405 and Article 32, UCMJ. 

Article 34 Issue 
The SJA's written pretrial advice to the convening authority is required under Article 34, U 
prior to the referral of charges to a general court-martial. R.C.M. 406 sets forth certain 
requirements be contained in the written pretrial advice to include the SJA's: 
(1) conclusion with respect to whether each specification alleges an offense under the UCM ; 
(2) conclusion with respect to whether there is probable cause to believe that the accused 
committed the offense charged in the specification; 
(3) conclusion with respect to whether a court-martial would have jurisdiction over the accu ed 
and the offense; and 
( 4) recommendation as to the disposition that should be made of the charges and specificati ns 
by the convening authority in the interest of justice and discipline. See R.C.M. 406(b ). 
"Information which is incorrect or so incomplete as to be misleading may result in a 
determination that the advice is defective, necessitating appropriate relief." R.C.M. 406 
Discussion. 

2 Specification 5 of Charge III was dismissed on unreasonable multiplication grounds. 
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The focus of the Article 34 process is to ensure the convening authority is properly inform d 
regarding his referral decision. "To the extent that his advice is incomplete, ill-considered, or 
misleading as to any material matter, he has failed to comply with the statutory obligation 
imposed by Article 34, Uniform Code of Military Justice, 10 U.S.C. s 834. United States v. 
Riege, 5 M.J. 938, 943 (N.C.M.R. 1978) (citing United States v. Greenwalt, 6 U.S.C.M.A. 69, 
20 C.M.R. 285 (1955)). "The test for materiality is whether there is a risk the omission of act 
would mislead the convening authority in his prosecutorial decision to determine the appro riate 
level of court-martial or what charges should be referred." United States v. Clements, 12 M J. 
842,845 (A.C.M.R. 1982) (citing United States v. Foti, 12 U.S.C.M.A 303 (1961)). 

In this case, the SJA provided the Convening Authority with her initial pretrial advice on l June 
2021. In that advice, the SJA complied with all requirements under Article 34 and additio lly 
summarized the PHO's findings as to each specification, as well as explained in detail why er 
recommendations differed from the PHO with regard to 2 of the specifications for which th 
PHO found no probable cause. Enclosed with her advice was the PHO's report. The Defe 
does not dispute, nor is there a basis to dispute the sufficiency of the SJA's 17 June 2021 
34 advice. At issue is the 16 July 2021 advice which contains an error. While the advice 
complies with R.C.M. 406 in all other respects, the SJA erred when she stated, "[i]n his rep rt, 
the PHO determined there was probable cause to believe the Accused committed all the 
charges and specifications now in the current charged sheet preferred on 16 July 2021" 

The Defense claims the SJA's Article 34 advice "mangle[d]" the PHO's findings, whereas he 
Government describes it as a "scrivener's error." The Court disagrees with both 
characterizations and sees the error for what it was - an error. The SJA herself concedes in her 
corrected pretrial advice of07 September 2021 that she incorrectly summarized the PHO's 
findings and that her statement was made in error. That Article 34 pretrial advice containin an 
error was accompanied by the earlier Article 34 pretrial advice which was error-free, as we 
the PHO's report. While unlikely the Convening Authority was misled by that error given e 
documentation provided for his review, we need not speculate whether his referral decision was 
impacted by the error. The Convening Authority himself has informed us it had no bearing on 
his decision. Upon being informed of the error made by the SJA in her 16 July 2021 advic , and 
after reviewing all enclosures, the Convening Authority made no change to his 16 July 202 
referral of all charges and specifications to this General Court-Martial. Thus, the Convenin 
Authority was not misled in his decision. 

RULING: 
The Defense's Motion for Appropriate Relief is DENIED. 

So ordered this 8th day of November 2021. 

D. M. Croff 
CAPTAIN, USCGR 
Military Judge 
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UNITED STATES COAST GUARD TRIAL JUDICIARY 
GENERAL COURT-MARTIAL 

UNITED STATES 

v. 

MARKJ. GRIJALVA 
MK3/E-4 
U.S. COAST GUARD 

COURT ORDER ON 
DEFENSE MOTION FOR BILL OF 

PARTICULARS 

17 OCTOBER 2021 

I. The Defense motion, fi led 28 June 202 1, seeks a bill of pa,ticulars as to Specifications I and 2 of 

Charge lI of the cu1Tent charge sheet, preferred and refe1Ted on 16 July 202 1. 

2. The Government did not oppose the Defendant's Motion and responded with a bill of patticulars, 

fi led on 30 August 202 1. 

3. A hearing was conducted 0 I September 2021 and the Defense indicated the Government ' s 

response was sufficient. 

4. The Defense Motion for Bill of Particulars is therefore MOOT. 

So ordered this I 7th day of October, 2021. 

D.M. Croff 
Captain, USCGR 
Military Judge 
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UNITED STATES COAST GUARD TRIAL JUDICIARY 

GENERAL COURT-MARTIAL 

UNITED STATES 

v. 

MARK J. GRIJALVA 

MK3/E-4 

U.S. COAST GUARD 

NATURE OF THE MOTION: 

COURT ORDER ON 

DEFENSE MOTION FOR BILL OF 

PARTICULARS 

18 OCTOBER 2021 

The Defense motion, filed 06 July 2021, seeks a bill of particulars as to Specification 8 of Charge 

III of the current charge sheet, preferred and referred on 16 July 2021. Specifically, the Defense 

requests the Government to identify what material statements were made by MK3 Grijalva and to 

whom they were made. 

BURDEN: 

The Defense bears the burden of proof by a preponderance of the evidence. 

SUMMARY OF LAW: 

Pursuant to R.C.M. 307(c)(3), a specification is sufficient if it alleges every element of the charged 

offense expressly or by necessary implication. Regardless, under R.C.M. 906(b)(6), the defense 

may request a Bill of Particulars "to inform the accused of the nature of the charge with sufficient 

precision to enable to accused to prepare for trial, to avoid or minimize the danger of surprise at 

the time of trial, and to enable to accused to plead the acquittal or conviction in bar of another 

prosecution." Discussion. However, a Bill of Particulars "should not be used to conduct discovery 

of the Government's theory of the case, to force a detailed disclosure of acts underlying a charge, 

or to restrict the Government's proof at trial." Id. The decision to order a Bill of Particulars is 
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within the discretion of the military judge. United States v. Williams, 40 MJ 379, fn 4 (C.A.A.F. 

1994). 

FINDINGS OF FACT: 

1. The Government did not oppose the Defendant's Motion and responded with their first bill 

of particulars, filed on 30 August 2021. 

2. A hearing was conducted 01 September 2021 where the Defense argued the Government's 

30 August 2021 response was insufficient for two reasons. The first was that the Government's 

response expanded the statements alleged in the Specification by including MK.3 Grijalva's offers 

to send images to various individuals. On that point, the Government agreed that MK.3 

Grijalva's offers to send  images are not alleged in the Specification and therefore should 

not have been included in the bill of particulars. The Defense's second objection concerned the 

Government's lack of specificity with regard to which of MK3 Grijalva's statements would be 

used to prove the Specification. 

3. The Government filed a Supplemental Response 08 September 2021 and attached an 

amended bill of particulars which removed reference to MK3 Grijalva's offers to send 

images to various individuals, but remained the same in all other respects. 

4. In Specification 8 of Charge III, MK3 Grijalva is alleged to have violated the UCMJ Article 

134 between 03 February 2019 and 06 March 2019 by "knowingly devis[ing] a scheme or plan for 

obtaining money or property by means of false or fraudulent pretenses, representations, or 

promises; to wit: created a dating profile of the Tinder and OKCupid applications using 

name and image and offered to have sex with individuals for money; that MK3 Grijalva made 

material statements that had a natural tendency to influence, or were capable of influencing, a 

person to part with money or property; that MK3 Grijalva did so with intent to defraud; and that 

2 
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MK.3 Grijalva used an interstate wire communication to carry out or attempt to carry out an 

essential part of the scheme in violation of 18 U.S. Code Section 1343, a crime or offense not 

capital." 

5. In both the original and amended bill of particulars, the Government itemized the 

individuals to whom MK.3 Grijalva, pretending to be made material statements concerning 

offers of sex in exchange for money, the dates on which the statements were made, as well as the 

particular statements identified by the discovery bates numbers where the statements are located. 

6. The Amended Bill of Particulars, in conjunction with the Bates stamped discovery 

provided to the Defense, sufficiently identifies the statements made by MK3 Grijalva, as alleged 

in Specification 8 of Charge III. 

7. The court concludes that Specification 8 of Charge III expressly alleges every element of 

the charged offense as required by R.C.M. 307. Additionally, the bill of particulars adequately 

informs the accused of the nature of the charge with sufficient precision to enable to accused to 

prepare for trial, to avoid surprise at the time of trial, and to enable him to plead the acquittal or 

conviction in bar of jeopardy. Requiring additional notice regarding the materiality of the 

statements would impose the type of inappropriate discovery and proof limitations the Discussion 

to R.C.M. 906(b)(6) warns against. 

3 
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RULING: 

For the reasons stated above, the Defense's Motion for supplemental Bill of Particulars is 

DENIED. 

So ordered this 18th day of October, 2021. 

4 

ISi 
D.M. Croff 
Captain, USCGR 
Military Judge 
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UNITED STATES COAST GUARD TRIAL JUDICIARY 

GENERAL COURT-MARTIAL 

UNITED STATES 

v. 

MARKJ.GRIJALVA 
MK3/E-4 
U.S. COAST GUARD 

COURT ORDER ON 
DEFENSE MOTION TO DISMISS 

(Defective Referral of Additional 
Charges) 

18 OCTOBER 2021 

1. The Defense motion, dated 23 June but filed on 07 July 2021, seeks to dismiss "Additional

Charges I and II, referred for court-martial but never sworn to. 

2. On 16 July 2021, the convening authority withdrew all charges and specifications, including

Additional Charges I and II. New charges sworn to, preferred and referred to this court-martial on 16 

July 2021. 

3 .. The Government filed a response on 24 August 2021. A hearing was conducted 0 1 September 

2021 and the Defense conceded the instant motion was made moot by the convening authority's 

withdrawal of charges. 

4. The Defense Motion to Dismiss is therefore MOOT.

So ordered this 18th day of October, 2021. 

ISi 

D.M. Croff
Captain, USCGR
Military Judge
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UNITED ST ATES COAST GUARD TRIAL JUDICIARY 
GENERAL COURT-MARTIAL 

UNITED STATES 

v. 
COURT ORDER GRANTING 

DEFENSE MOTION IN LIMINE 
(Marital Privilege) 

MARKJ.GRIJALVA 
MK3/E-4 16 OCTOBER 2021 
U.S. COAST GUARD 

1. The Defense motion, filed 5 August 2021, seeks an in limine ruling pursuant to R.C.M. 

906(b )( 13 ), prohibiting the Government from inquiring, and preventing from 

disclosing, the contents of any confidential communications made by the Accused to

2. A hearing was conducted O 1 September 2021 and the government did not oppose the motion. 

a. The Court finds that the Accused and have been married since November 

22, 2016, that the marriage was not entered into for the purpose of using the martial 

relationship as a sham, and that the Accused is not charged with any crimes against the 

person or property of or with any other crime subject to exception under 

Mil. R. Evid. 504( c ). 

b. Therefore, Mil. R. Evid. 504(b) applies, and the Accused may assert a privilege over the 

contents of any confidential communications between himself and during 

the course of their marriage. 

3. The Defense Motion in Limine is GRANTED. 

So ordered this 16th day of October, 2021. 

D.M. Croff 
Captain, USCGR 
Military Judge 
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UNITED STATES COAST GUARD JUDICIARY 
GENERAL COURT-MARTIAL 

UNITED ST ATES 

v. 

MARKJ. GRIJALVA 
Machinery Technician Third Class 
U.S. Coast Guard 

COURT ORDER GRANTING 
GOVERNMENT'S MOTION FOR 

PRELIMINARY RULING ON 
ADMISSIBILITY OF EVIDENCE: 

WAVE BROADBAND RECORDS 

13 October 2021 

1. The government's motion, filed 11 August 2021, seeks a preliminary ruling pursuant to 

R.C.M. 906(b)(l3) and M.R.E. 104 on the admissibility of Prosecution Exhibit 1 for 

identification which consists of "WA VE Broadband" records accompanied by a certificate o .. 

authenticity from the records custodian. 

2. Following a hearing conducted 01 September 2021, and without objection by the 

Defense, the court finds Prosecution Exhibit 1 is relevant to Charges II and III; meets the he~ rsay 

exception for Records of a Regularly Conducted Activity under M.R.E. 803(6); and its 

authenticity has been properly demonstrated according to M.R.E. 902(11 ). 

3. The motion is therefore GRANTED and Prosecution Exhibit 1 for identification is 

preadmitted into evidence. 

So ordered this 13 day of October 2021 

D.M. Croff 
Captain, USCGR 
Military Judge 
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UNITED STATES COAST GUARD JUDICIARY 
GENERAL COURT-MARTIAL 

UNITED STATES 

v. 

MARK J. GRIJALVA 
Machinery Technician Third Class 
U.S. Coast Guard 

COURT ORDER GRANTING 
GOVERNMENT'S MOTION FOR 

PRELIMINARY RULING ON 
ADMISSIBILITY OF EVIDENCE: 

AUDIO RECORDING OF ACCUSED'S 
PHONE CALL TO DETECTIVE 

13 October 2021 

1. The government's motion, filed 11 August 2021, seeks a preliminary ruling pursua t to 

R.C.M. 906(b)(13) and M.R.E. 104 on the admissibility of Prosecution Exhibit 3 for 

identification which consists of a March 6, 2019 audio recording of the Accused's phone c 11 to 

Anaheim Police Detective

2. Following a hearing conducted O I September 2021, and without objection by the 

Defense, the court finds Prosecution Exhibit 3 is relevant to Charges II and III; it is not hea say 

pursuant to M.R.E. 801(d)(2); and its authenticity has been properly demonstrated by the 

Affidavit of Detective and the supporting attachments thereto. 

3. The motion is therefore GRANTED and Prosecution Exhibit 3 for identification is 

preadmitted into evidence. 

So ordered this 13 th day of October 2021 

D.M. Croff 
Captain, USCGR 
Military Judge 
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UNITED STATES COAST GUARD JUDICIARY 
GENERAL COURT-MARTIAL 

UNITED STATES 

v. 

MARKJ.GRIJALVA 
Machinery Technician Third Class 
U.S. Coast Guard 

COURT ORDER GRANTING IN 
PART GOVERNMENT'S MOTION 
FOR PRELIMINARY RULING ON 
ADMISSIBILITY OF EVIDENCE: 

CGIS INTERVIEW OF ACCUSED 

13 October 2021 

1. The government's motion, filed 11 August 2021, seeks a preliminary ruling pursuant to .C.M. 

906(b)(l3) and M.R.E. 104 on the admissibility of Prosecution Exhibit 4 for identification, whi h consists 

of video recording ofMK3 Grijalva's 12 July 2019 interview with Coast Guard Investigative S rvice 

(CGIS) Special Agents. 

2. Following a hearing conducted 01 September 2021, and without objection by the Defen e, except 

for the portion in which the Accused makes reference to a relationship outside his marriage, the court finds 

the Prosecution Exhibit 4 is relevant to all charges; it is not hearsay according to M.R.E. 80 I ( d) 2); and its 

authenticity has been properly demonstrated by the Affidavit of CGIS Special Agent and 

the supporting attachments thereto. 

3. The government's motion is therefore GRANTED IN PART. Prosecution Exhibit 4 for 

identification is preadmitted into evidence, except for the portion of the interview (as cited in D fense's 

Response filed 25 August 2021) in which MK3 Grijalva makes reference to a relationship outsi e his 

marriage, which shall be redacted. 

So ordered this 13 th day of October 2021 

D.M. Croff 
Captain, USCGR 
Military Judge 
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UNITED STATES COAST GUARD JUDICIARY 
GENERAL COURT-MARTIAL 

UNITED ST ATES 

v. 

MARKJ. GRIJALVA 
Machinery Technician Third Class 
U.S. Coast Guard 

COURT ORDER GRANTING 
GOVERNMENT'S MOTION FOR 

PRELIMINARY RULING ON 
ADMISSIBILITY OF EVIDENCE: 

YAHOO! RECORDS 

13 October 2021 

1. The government's motion, filed 11 August 2021, seeks a preliminary ruling pursuan to 

R.C.M. 906(b)(l3) and M.R.E. 104 on the admissibility of Prosecution Exhibit 2 for 

identification which consists of 286 pages of YAHOO! records accompanied by a certificat of 

authenticity from the records custodian. 

2. Following a hearing conducted O l September 2021, and without objection by the 

Defense, the court finds Prosecution Exhibit 2 is relevant to Charges II and III; meets the he rsay 

exception for Records of a Regularly Conducted Activity under M.R.E. 803(6); and its 

authenticity has been properly demonstrated according to M.R.E. 902(11). 

3. The motion is therefore GRANTED and Prosecution Exhibit 2 for identification is 

preadmitted into evidence. 

So ordered this 13 th day of October 2021 

D.M. Croff 
Captain, USCGR 
Military Judge 
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UNITED STATES COAST GUARD JUDICIARY 
GENERAL COURT-MARTIAL 

UNITED ST ATES 

v. 

MARKJ. GRIJALVA 
Machinery Technician Third Class 
U.S. Coast Guard 

COURT ORDER GRANTING IN 
PART SVC'S MOTION IN LIMINE TO 

LIMIT USE OF IMAGES AND FOR 
PROTECTIVE / SEALING ORDER 

15 October 2021 

1. In their 11 August 2021 motion, Special Victim's Counsel for seeks a preliminary ruling to (1) 

limit the use of intimate visual images of and questioning about the surrounding circums nces of the 

images at trial; and (2) place a protective/sealing order on the images to safeguard  priva y and 

dignity. 

2. A hearing was conducted O 1 September 2021. Neither the government nor defense o 

sealing of the images due to their sensitive nature and to protect  privacy rights. 

3. The intimate visual images of  are alleged to have been wrongfully broadcast by M 3 Grijalva 

without the consent of In order for the government to meet the elements of its charged o enses, the 

images must be viewed by the factfinders, without redaction. However, upon their admission i to the 

evidence, the images are to be published ONLY to the members, by handing each image to the 

who will then pass it to the next member. The images are NOT otherwise to be published withi 

courtroom. 

4. SVC counsel next argued that the questioning of regarding the images be limited, 

requested this Court find that M.R.E 412 applies based upon the offenses charged in this case. 

 was provided an additional opportunity following the hearing to supplement his brief with l gal 

authority for the Court to make such a finding. 

1 
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5. In that supplemental filing on 8 September 2021, SVC for argued that the offense charged in 

this case, specifically Specifications 4 and 5 of Charge III, are closely analogous to Article 12 c offenses 

( other sexual misconduct) so as to trigger M.R.E. 412. However, Article 120c nor any other xual 

offense has been charged in this case. The Court has not been provided and is not aware of a y legal 

authority to conclude that M.R.E. 412 applies in this case. Accordingly, that portion of them tion is 

DENIED. 

6. SVC's concerns regarding irrelevant and prejudicial questioning of his client about the ntimate 

images themselves, other instances when such images may have been taken, as well as his clie t's romantic 

relationships, are well taken. Despite the fact that M.R.E. 412 does not apply in this case, ther are other 

rules in place (e.g. M.R.E.'s 303,401,403, 61 l(a)(3)) that serve to appropriately limit the ques ioning of 

and will be enforced. 

7. SVC's motion is therefore GRANTED IN PART with the visual images to be publishe ONLY to 

the members as described herein, and will be SEALED upon the conclusion of the case. 

So ordered this 15th day of October 2021 

2 

D.M. Croff 
Captain, USCGR 
Military Judge 



STATEMENT OF TRIAL RESULTS



STATEMENT OF TRIAL RESULTS 

SECTION A ·ADMINISTRATIVE 

1. NAME OF ACCUSED (last, first, Ml) 2. BRANCH 3. PAYGRADE 4. DoD ID NUMBER 

IGrijalva. Mark J. I lcoast G uard I IE-4 1  
5. CONVENING COMMAND 6. TYPE OF COURT-MARTIAL 7. COMPOSITION 8. DATE SENTENCE ADJUDGED 

l u.s. Coast Guard District Thi rteen I IGeneral 1 1 Enlis1cd Members 
11 

ov 19. 2021 I 
SECTION B • FINDINGS 

SEE FIN DINGS PAGE 

SECTION C - ADJUDGED SENTENCE 

9. DISCHARGE OR DISMISSAL 10. CONFINEMENT 11. FORFEITURES 12. FINES 13. FINE PENALTY 

I sad conduct d ischarge 113 months I IN / A I IN/ A I IN/ A I 
14. REDUCTION 15.DEATH 16. REPRIMAND 17. HARD LABOR 18. RESTRICTION 19. HARD LABOR PERIOD 

IE-3 I Yes (' No (e Yes (' No (e Yes (' No (e Yes (' No (e IN/ A I 
20. PERIOD AND LIMITS OF RESTRICTION 

IN / A I 
SECTION D - CONFINEMENT CREDIT 

21. DAYS OF PRETRIAL CONFINEMENT CREDIT 22. DAYS OF JUDICIALLY ORDERED CREDIT 23. TOTAL DAYS OF CREDIT 

0 
1 1 

0 
I I 

0 days I 
SECTION E • PLEA AGREEMENT OR PRE-TRIAL AGREEMENT 

24. LIMITATIONS ON PUNISHMENT CONTAINED IN THE PLEA AGREEMENT OR PRE-TRIAL AGREEMENT 

IThm was oo pl,a ag,eem, .,t. 

I 

SECTION F • SUSPENSION OR CLEMENCY RECOMMENDATION 

25. DID THE MILITARY JUDGE 26. PORTION TO WHICH IT APPLIES 27. RECOMMENDED DURATION 
RECOMMEND SUSPENSION OF THE Yes (' No r. I 

1 1 I SENTENCE OR CLEMENCY? 

28. FACTS SUPPORTING THE SUSPENSION OR CLEMENCY RECOMMENDATION 

I I 
SECTION G - NOTIFICATIONS 

29. Is sex offender registration required in accordance with appendix 4 to enclosure 2 of DoDI 1325.07? Yes (' No (e 

30. Is DNA collection and submission required in accordance with 10 U.S.C. § 1565 and DoDI 5505.14? Yes (e No (' 

31 . Did this case involve a crime of domestic violence as defined in enclosure 2 of DoDI 6400.06? Yes (' No (e 

32. Does this case trigger a firearm possession prohibition in accordance with 18 U.S.C. § 922? Yes (e No (' 

SECTION H • NOTES AND SIGNATURE 

33. NAME OF JUDGE (last, first. Ml) 34. BRANCH 35. PAYGRADE 36. DATE SIGNED 38. JUDGE'S SIGNATURE 

lcasey, Paul R. I I coast Guard I lo -s I INov 19, 202 1 I 

37. NOTES I 

January 2020 PREVIOUS EDITION IS OBSOLETE Page 1 of 2. Pages 
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STATEMENT OF TRIAL RESULTS - FINDINGS 

SECTION 1- LIST OF FINDINGS 

ORDER OR 
CHARGE ARTICLE SPECIFICATION PLEA FINDING REGULATION 

VIOLATED 

107 Specification: I Not Guilty I !Guilty I 
Charge I: OfTense description I False official statement 

131b Specification: 
I 

ot Guilty I !Guilty I 
Charge II : OfTense description I obstructing justice 

134 Specification I : I Not Guilty I I Not Guilty I 
Charge Ill : Offense description I General anicle: clause I or 2 offense 

Specification 2: I Not Guilty I !Guilty I 
OfTensc description IGcncral anicle: clause I or 2 offense 

Specification 3: INot Guilty I !Guilty I 
OfTcnse description General article: violation of federal law 

Specification 4: INor Guilty I !Guilty I 
OfTense description General article: violation of federal law 

Specification 5: I Not Guilty I !Guilty I 
OfTcnsc description General article: violation of federal law 

January 2020 PREVIOUS EDITION IS OBSOLETE 

LIO OR INCHOATE 
OFFENSE ARTICLE 

DIBRS 

I 107-B- I 
- _____ j 

I 134-U2 I 
I 

I Empty 

I Empty 

I I 34-J9 

I I 34-J9 I 

I 134-J9 I 
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CONVENING AUTHORITY'S ACTIONS



POST-TRIAL ACTION 
SECTION A- STAFF JUDGE ADVOCATE REVIEW 

I. NAME OF ACCUSED (LAST. FIRST, MI) 2. PAYGRADE/RANK 3. DoD ID NUMBER 

jaRJJALVA, MARK J. I IE4 I I 
4. UNIT OR ORGANIZATION 5. CURRENT ENLISTMENT 6. TERM 

lsase Seattle Temporary Duty Division I 109/26/2016 116 (4 years + 24m extension) I 
7. CONVENING AUTHORITY 8. COURT-

9. COMPOSITION 
I 0 . DA TE SENTENCE 

(UNIT/ORGANIZATION) MARTIAL TYPE ADJUDGED 

I USCG District Thirteen I I General I I Enlisted Members : 119-Nov-2021 I 
Post-Trial Matters to Consider 

I I. Has the accused made a request for deferment of reduction in grade? C. Yes tNo 

12. Has the accused made a request for deferment of confinement? r Yes C.No 

13. Has the accused made a request for deferment of adj udged forfe itures? r Yes (e No 

14. Has the accused made a request for deferment of automatic forfeitures? C. Yes (' No 

15. Has the accused made a request for wa iver of automatic forfeitures? C. Yes rNo 
16. Has the accused submitted necessary information for transferring forfe itures for r Yes C.No 

benefit of dependents? 

17. Has the accused submitted matters for convening authority's rev iew? r. Yes (' No 

18. Has the victim(s) submitted matters for convening authority's review? C. Yes t No 

19. Has the accused submitted any rebuttal matters? (' Yes C.No 

20. Has the mi litary judge made a suspension or clemency recommendation? r Yes C.No 

21 . Has the trial counse l made a recommendation to suspend any part of the sentence? r Yes C.No 
22. Did the court-martia l sentence the accused to a reprimand issued by the convening (' Yes C.No 

~uthority? 
23. Summary of Clemency/Deferment Requested by Accused and/or Crime Victim, if applicable. 
RCM 1106A: Victim requested you take no action on the sentence in her written submission of RCM 1106A matters dtd 29NOV21. 

RCM 11 06: Accused (GRIJALVA) requested in his RCM 1106 matters submitted 19DEC21 *: 
1- Suspension of the remaining confinement and the reduction to E-3. 
2- Alternately, deferment of automatic forfeitures unti l the entry of judgment and waiver of remaining automatic forfeitures if GRIJAVLA 
remains in confinement. 
* GRIJALVA was granted a 20-day extension al lowing GRIJALVA to view RCM 11 06A prior to his written submission of RCM 1106 matters. 

GRIJALVA requested deferral of automatic forfeitures and adjudged reduction in grade prior to RCM 1106 and it was denied. 

24. Convening Authority Name/Title 25. SJA Name 

Melvin W. Bouboulis 
Rear Admiral, U.S. Coast Guard Commander, U.S. Coast Guard 
Commander, Thirteenth Coast Guard District Staff Judge Advocate, Thirteenth Coast Guard District 

26. SJA signature 27. Date 

I Dec 21, 2021 
I 

Convening Authority's Action and Entry of Judgment - GRIJALVA, MARK J. 
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SECTION B - CONVENING AUTHORITY ACTION 

28. Having reviewed all matters submitted by the accused and the victim(s) pursuant to R.C.M. 11 06/ 1 I 06A, and 
after being advised by the staff judge advocate or legal officer, I take the fo llowing action in this case: [If deferring 
or waiving any punishment, indicate the date the deferment/waiver will end. Attach signed reprimand if applicable. 
Indicate what action, if any, taken on suspension recommendation(s) or clemency recommendations from the judge.] 

No Action. 

29. Convening authority' s written explanation of the reasons for taking action on offenses with mandatory minimum 
punishments or offenses for which the maximum sentence to confinement that may be adjudged exceeds two years, 
or offenses where the adjudged sentence includes a punitive discharge (Dismissal, DD, BCD) or confinement for 
more than s ix months, or a violation of Art. l20(a) or l20(b) or 120b: 

30. Convening Authoritv's signature 31. Date 

I Dec 21, 2021 

32. Date convening authority action was forwarded to PTPD or Review Shop. I 

Convening Authority's Action and Entry of Judgment - GRIJALVA, MARK J. 
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---------------~--------------~-------------...,~CTION C - ENTR.Y OF JIIDGMEN'.1 -
••MIJ~t :b~ signed by tJ!t-Military J1ulge (or Cit~Ult Mi!imni: {fy:dg,) witbU. 2Q. d!iys: ~f,re4=eip_t** 

33. Findings of each charge and specification referred to trial. [Summary of each charge and specification 
(include at a minimum the gravamen of the offense), the plea of the accused, the findings or other disposition 
accounting for any exceptions and substitutions, any modifications made by the convening authority or any post­
trial ruling, order, or other determination by the military judge. R.C.M. 111 l(b)(l)] 

Charge I: Violation of the UCMJ, Article 107 
Offense Description: False Official Statement 
Sole Specification Plea: Not Guilty 
Sole Specification Finding: Guilty 

Charge II: Violation of the UCMJ, Article 131 b 
Offense Description: Obstructing Justi~e 
Sole Specification Plea: Not Guilty 
Sole Specification Finding: Guilty 

Charge Ill: Violation of the UCMJ, Article 134 
Offense Description: General Article: Clause 1 or 2 Offense (Specification 1 & 2) 
Offense Description: General Article: Violation of Federal Law (Specification 3, 4, & 5) 
Pleas: 
Specification 1 Plea: Not Guilty 
Specification 2 Plea: Not Guilty 
Specification 3 Plea: Not Guilty 
Specification 4 Plea: Not Guilty 
Specification 5 Plea: Not Guilty 
Findings: 
Specification 1 Finding: Not Guilty 
Specification 2 Finding: Guilty 
Specification 3 Finding: Guilty 
Specification 4 Finding: Guilty 
Specification 5 Finding: Guilty 

Convening Authority's Action and Entry of Judgment - GRIJALVA, MARK J. 
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-------------~--------------~------------~ 34. Sentence to be Entered. AcCO\JuL for any modifications made by reason 01 any post-trial action by the 
convening authority (including any action taken based on a suspension recommendation), confinement credit, or any 
post-trial rule, order, or other determination by the military judge. R.C.M. 11 l l(b)(2). If the sentence was 
determined by a military judge, ensure confinement and fines are segmented as well as if a sentence shall run 
concurrently or consecutively. 

Confinement for 3 months; 

Reduction to pay grade E-3; 

Bad Conduct Discharge 

35. Deferment and Waiver. Include the nature of the request, the CA's Action, the effective date of the deferment, 
and date the deferment ended. For waivers, include the effective date and the length of the waiver. RCM l l 1 l(b)(3) 
On 21 November 2021, GRIJALVA requested deferral of automatic forfeitures and adjudged reduction in grade. 
On 29 November 2021, the CA denied the request for deferral. 

36. Action convening authority took on any suspension recommendation from the military judge: 

N/A 
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ENTRY OF JUDGMENT



---------------~--------------~-------------...,~CTION C - ENTR.Y OF JIIDGMEN'.1 -
••MIJ~t :b~ signed by tJ!t-Military J1ulge (or Cit~Ult Mi!imni: {fy:dg,) witbU. 2Q. d!iys: ~f,re4=eip_t** 

33. Findings of each charge and specification referred to trial. [Summary of each charge and specification 
(include at a minimum the gravamen of the offense), the plea of the accused, the findings or other disposition 
accounting for any exceptions and substitutions, any modifications made by the convening authority or any post­
trial ruling, order, or other determination by the military judge. R.C.M. 111 l(b)(l)] 

Charge I: Violation of the UCMJ, Article 107 
Offense Description: False Official Statement 
Sole Specification Plea: Not Guilty 
Sole Specification Finding: Guilty 

Charge II: Violation of the UCMJ, Article 131 b 
Offense Description: Obstructing Justi~e 
Sole Specification Plea: Not Guilty 
Sole Specification Finding: Guilty 

Charge Ill: Violation of the UCMJ, Article 134 
Offense Description: General Article: Clause 1 or 2 Offense (Specification 1 & 2) 
Offense Description: General Article: Violation of Federal Law (Specification 3, 4, & 5) 
Pleas: 
Specification 1 Plea: Not Guilty 
Specification 2 Plea: Not Guilty 
Specification 3 Plea: Not Guilty 
Specification 4 Plea: Not Guilty 
Specification 5 Plea: Not Guilty 
Findings: 
Specification 1 Finding: Not Guilty 
Specification 2 Finding: Guilty 
Specification 3 Finding: Guilty 
Specification 4 Finding: Guilty 
Specification 5 Finding: Guilty 
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-------------~--------------~------------~ 34. Sentence to be Entered. AcCO\JuL for any modifications made by reason 01 any post-trial action by the 
convening authority (including any action taken based on a suspension recommendation), confinement credit, or any 
post-trial rule, order, or other determination by the military judge. R.C.M. 11 l l(b)(2). If the sentence was 
determined by a military judge, ensure confinement and fines are segmented as well as if a sentence shall run 
concurrently or consecutively. 

Confinement for 3 months; 

Reduction to pay grade E-3; 

Bad Conduct Discharge 

35. Deferment and Waiver. Include the nature of the request, the CA's Action, the effective date of the deferment, 
and date the deferment ended. For waivers, include the effective date and the length of the waiver. RCM l l 1 l(b)(3) 
On 21 November 2021, GRIJALVA requested deferral of automatic forfeitures and adjudged reduction in grade. 
On 29 November 2021, the CA denied the request for deferral. 

36. Action convening authority took on any suspension recommendation from the military judge: 

N/A 
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~ .~ ------------- -------....... ------ ------------· 
3 7. Judge's signature: 

CASEY.PAUL.R. Digitally signed by 
CASEY.PAUL.R.
Date: 2021.12.28 09:57:32 -05'00' 

38. Date judgmem ~ntered: 

I 28-Dec-2021 

39. In accordance with RCM 111 l(c)(l), the military judge who entered a judgment may modify the judgment to 
correct computational or clerical errors within 14 days after the judgment was initially entered. Include any 
modifications here and resign the Entry of Judgment. 

1

40. Judge's signature: 

11

41. Date judgment entered: I 

42. Return completed copy of the judgment to the Post-Trial Department/Review Shop for distribution to the defense 
counsel and/or accused as well as the victim and/or victims' legal counsel. 
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34. Sentenced (Continued) 
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33. Findings (Continued) 
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APPELLATE INFORMATION 



THERE IS NO APPELLATE 
INFORMATION AT THIS TIME



REMAND 



THERE WERE NO REMANDS 



NOTICE OF COMPLETION OF APPELLATE REVIEW (NOCAR)
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